AGENDA
FINANCIAL SERVICES COMMISSION
Office of Insurance Regulation
Materials Available on the Web at:
www. floir.com/fsc.aspx

August 10, 2010

MEMBERS
Governor Charlie Crist
Attorney General Bill McCollum
Chief Financial Officer Alex Sink
Commissioner Charles Bronson

Contact: Monte Stevens
(850-413-2571) 9:00 A. M.
LL-03, The Capitol
Tallahassee, Florida
ITEM SUBJECT RECOMMENDATION

1. Minutes of the Financial Services Commission for April 13, 2010, May 11, 2010 and June 8,
2010.

(ATTACHMENT 1) FOR APPROVAL

2. Request for Approval for Adoption of Amendments to Proposed Rule 690-137.002, Model
Audit Rule

Section 624.424(8)(e), F.S., provides that the Financial Services Commission must adopt
rules in substantial conformity with the 1998 National Association of Insurance
Commissioners (NAIC) Model Audit Rule or subsequent amendments. The NAIC has
adopted subsequent amendments to the 1998 Model Audit Rule.

The proposed rule amends the existing rule to conform with the subsequent amendments
adopted by NAIC. Interstate uniformity reduces the frictional cost of doing business in
Florida. Substantial conformity to the model audit rule is also required for NAIC

accreditation.

(ATTACHMENT 2) APPROVAL FOR FINAL ADOPTION
3. Request for Approval for Adoption of Amendments to Proposed Rule 690-167.024

The Legislature changed the numbering within Section 627.021, F.S. Consequently, this rule
needs to be changed to reflect the renumbering. There is no substantive change in the
proposed rule.

(ATTACHMENT 3) APPROVAL FOR FINAL ADOPTION



http://www.floir.com/fsc.aspx�

4. Request for Approval for Publication of Amendments to Proposed Rule 690-162.203,
Adoption of 2001 Commissioners Standard Ordinary (CSO) Ultimate Mortality Tables for
Determining Reserve Liabilities for Credit Life Insurance

This rule is being amended due to changes made to the NAIC Model Regulation. The
amendment explains the conditions for use of the preferred class structure mortality tables,
and permits use of the mortality tables for policies issued prior to the adoption date of the

original rule.

(ATTACHMENT 4) APPROVAL FOR PUBLICATION

5. Request for Approval for Publication of Amendments to Proposed Rule 690-164.020,
Valuation of Life Insurance Policies

This rule is being amended to adopt changes made to the NAIC Model Regulations. The
amendment reduces the minimum premium deficiency reserve requirement, subject to
certain conditions, to ensure adequacy of reserves.

(ATTACHMENT 5) APPROVAL FOR PUBLICATION

6. Request for Approval for Publication of Amendments to Proposed Rule 690-138.047,
Description of Actuarial Memorandum

This rule is being amended due to changes made to the NAIC Model Regulations. The
amendment adds an additional requirement to the Regulatory Asset Adequacy Issues
Summary as a result of changes to Rules 690-162.203 and 690-164.020, F.A.C.

The new requirement relates to actuarial principles for the calculation of statutory assets.

(ATTACHMENT 6) APPROVAL FOR PUBLICATION




Minutes of the Financial Services Commission

April 13,2010
Members Presented by: Kevin McCarty
Charlie Crist, Governor Cabinet Meeting Room, Lower Level, The

Alex Sink, Chief Financial Officer Capitol

Bill McCollum, Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida 32399
Charles Bronson, Agriculture
Commissioner

Item 1: Presentation on Citizens Property Insurance Corporation by Sharon Binnun,
Chief Financial Officer and John Forney, Financial Advisor



Minutes of the Financial Services Commission

May 11,2010
Members Presented by: Kevin McCarty
Charlie Crist, Governor Cabinet Meeting Room, Lower Level, The

Alex Sink, Chief Financial Officer Capitol

Bill McCollum, Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida 32399
Charles Bronson, Agriculture
Commissioner

Item 1: Property Insurance Update by Commissioner Kevin McCarty



Minutes of the Financial Services Commission

| Alex Sink, Chief Financial Officer Capitol

| Bill McCollum, Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida 32399
| Charles Bronson, Agriculture
| Commissioner

June 8, 2010
Members Presented by: Kevin McCarty
Charlie Crist, Governor Cabinet Meeting Room, Lower Level, The

Item 1: Minutes of the Financial Services Commission for March 9, 2010 and March 23,
2010

Upon motion by Agriculture Commissioner Charles Bronson and seconded by Attorney General

Bill McCollum, the item was approved.

Item 2: Request for Approval for Adoption of Amendments to Proposed Rule 690-157,
302, .303, .304; Long Term Care, New Business Rates

Upon motion by Chief Financial Officer Alex Sink and seconded by Agriculture Commissioner
Charles Bronson, the item was approved.

Item 3: Request for Approval for Publication of Amendments to Proposed Rule 690-
137.001; Annual and Quarterly Financial Reporting Requirements

Upon motion by Agriculture Commissioner Charles Bronson and seconded by Attorney General
Bill McCollum, the item was approved.

Item 4: Request for Approval for Publication of Amendments to Proposed Rule 690-
138.001; NAIC Financial Condition Examiners Handbook

Upon motion by Attorney General Bill McCollum and seconded by Agriculture Commissioner
Charles Bronson, the item was approved.

Item 5: Request for Approval for Publication of Amendments to Proposed Rule 690-
200.004, .005, .006, .009, .014, .015, .016; Motor Vehicles Manufacturers

Upon motion by Agriculture Commissioner Charles Bronson and seconded by Attorney General
Bill McCollum, the item was approved. '

Item 6: Request for Approval for Publication of Amendments to Proposed Rule 690-
167.024; Rate Filings for Inland Marine Insurance

Upon motion by Attorney General Bill McCollum and seconded by Agriculture Commissioner
Charles Bronson, the item was approved.



MEMORANDUM

DATE: July 8, 2010

TO: Kevin M. McCarty, Commissioner, Office of Insurance Regulation
THROUGH: Steven H. Parton, General Counsel

FROM: Dennis Threadgill ST

Bob Prentiss %Q

SUBJECT: Cabinet Agenda for August 10, 2010
Request for Final Approval to Adopt Amendments to
Rule 690-137.002
Assmt. 44303

The Office of Insurance Regulation requests that these proposed rule amendments be
presented to the Cabinet aides on or before August 4, 2010 and to the Financial Services
Commission on August 10, 2010, with a request for Final Approval to Adopt the proposed rules.
A notice of the Commission Final Rule Hearing was published in the Florida Administrative
Weekly May 7, 2010.

The notice of proposed rules was published March 26, 2010 in Volume 36, No. 12, of the
Weekly. The hearing was not requested, therefore, the hearing was not held.

Section 624.424(8)(e) provides that the Financial Services Commission must adopt rules in
substantial conformity with the 1998 NAIC Model Audit Rule or subsequent amendments. The
NAIC has adopted subsequent amendments to the 1998 Model Audit Rule. The rule being
proposed amends the existing rule to conform with the subsequent amendments adopted by
NAIC.

Sections 624.308(1), 624.424(8)(e), 624.307(1), 624.324, 624.424(8), F.S., provide rulemaking
authority and laws implemented for this rule.

The Legal Services Office has communicated with the Joint Administrative Procedures
Committee, and ascertained that their review of the rules has been completed.

Marc Ito is the attorney handling this rule. Attached are: 1) the proposed rule(s); 2) any
incorporated materials, such as forms; 3) copies of the rulemaking statutory authority and law
implemented.

.l
wE



Approved for signature:

Approved for submission to Financial Services
Commission:

Kevin M. McCarty, Commissioner
Office of Insurance Regulation




690-137.002 Annual Audited Financial Reports.

(1) The purpose of this rule is to improve the Office’s surveillance of the financial

condition of insurers by requiring an annual audit examination-by-independent-Certified
Publie-Accountants of the financial statements reporting the financial position and the

results of operations of insurers by: (a) independent certified public accountants (b)

Communication of Internal Control Related Matters Noted in an_audit, and (c)

Management’s Report of Internal Control over Financial Reporting.

(2)(a) Every authorized insurer, as defined in subsection (3), below, shall be subject
to this rule. Insurers having direct premiums written in this state of less than $1,000,000
in any calendar year and fewer than 1,000 policyholders or certificateholders of directly
Written policies nationwide at the end of the calendar year shall be exempt from this rule
for the that—year (unless the Office makes a specific finding that compliance is
necessary for the Office to carry out statutory responsibilities), except that insurers
having assumed premiums pursuant to contracts and/or treaties of reinsurance of
$1,000,000 or more will not be so exempt. Any insurer subject to an exemption must
submit by March 1 following the year to which the exemption applies an affidavit sworn
to by a responsible officer of the insurer specifying the amount of direct premiums

written in this state and number of policyholders or certificateholders. Form OIR-DO-

1431, (Rev. 7/01), "Audited Financial Statements Exemption Affidavit’, is hereby

incorporated by reference to be the form specified in Section 624.424(8)(b), Florida

Statutes, for exemptions from compliance with the filing of an annual audited financial

statement. This form is available from Life & Health Financial Oversight or Property &




Casualty Financial Oversight at 200 East Gaines Street, Tallahassee, Fiorida 32399.

The form is also available from the Office of Insurance Requlation’s website located at

the following address: www.floir.com.

(b) Foreign or alien insurers filing Audited Financial Reports in another state,
pursuant to that the-other-state’s requirement for filing of Aaudited Ffinancial Rreports
which has been found by the Office to be substantially similar to the requirements
herein, may, in lieu of the other requirements herein, be exempt from Sections (4)
through (13) of this rule if: requirements-of-thisrulefile-the following-with-the Office-in

1. A copy of the Audited Financial Report, Communications of Internal Control

Related Matters Noted in_an Audit, Repert—on—SignificantDeficiencies—in—tnternal
Gontrols; and the Accountant's Letter of Qualifications which are filed with the other

~ state are made available to the Office upon request in accordance with the filing dates

specified in_Sections (4), (11) and (12), respectively (Canadian insurers may submit

accountants’ reports as filed with the Office of the Superintendent of Financial

Institutions, Canada); and the-Canadian-Dominion-Office-

2. A copy of any Notification of Adverse Financial Condition Report filed with the

other state are made available to the Office upon request within the time specified in

Section (10).

(c) This rule shall not prohibit, preclude, or in any way limit the Office from ordering

and/or conducting and/or performing examinations of insurers under its rules.

(3) Definitions.




(a)b)} “Accountant” and “Independent Certified Public Accountant” means an
independent Certified Public Accountant or accounting firm in good standing with the
American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA) licensing—authority—or
acerediting-authority-for-Certified-Public-Accountants and in all states in which he or she

is licensed to the-aceountant practices. For Canadian and British companies, it means a

Canadian-chartered or British-chartered accountant.

(b) “Affiliate” of, or person “affiliated” with, a specific person, is a person that directly

or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, controls, or is controlled by, or is under

common control with, the person specified.

(c)_“Audit committee” means a committee (or equivalent body) established by the

board of directors of an entity for the purpose of overseeing the accounting and financial

reporting processes of an _insurer or Group of insurers, and audits of financial

statements of the insurer or Group of insurers. The Audit committee of any entity that

controls a Group of insurers may be deemed to be the Audit committee for one or more

of these controlled insurers solely for the purposes of this regulation at the election of

the controlling person. Refer to Section (14)(e) for exercising this election. If an Audit

committee is not designated by the insurer, the insurer's entire board of directors shall

constitute the Audit committee. “Office”means-the-Office-of Insurance-Regulation-

(d) “Audited Financial Report” means and includes those items specified in Section

(5), below.
Statutes-




(e) “Indemnification” means an agreement of indemnity or a release from liability

where the intent or effect is to shift or limit in any manner the potential liability of the

person or firm for failure to adhere to applicable auditing or professional standards,

whether or not resulting in part from knowing of other misrepresentations made by the

insurer or its representatives.

(9 “Indebendent board member” has the same meaning as described in Section

(14)(c).

(9) ‘“Insurer” means an authorized insurer as defined in Section 624.09, Florida

Statutes.

(h) “Group of insurers” means those licensed insurers included in the reporting

requirements of Chapter 628, Part IV, Florida Statutes or a set of insurers as identified

by management, for the purpose of assessing the effectiveness of Internal control over

financial reporting.

(i) “Internal control over financial reporting” means a process effected by an entity’'s

board of directors, management and other personnel designed to provide reasonable

assurance regarding the reliability of the financial statements, i.e., those items specified

in_Section (5)(b) 2. through 7. of this requlation, and includes those policies and

procedures that:

1. Pertain _to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and

fairly reflects the transactions and dispositions of assets:

2. Provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to

permit preparation of the financial statements, i.e., those items specified in Section




(5)(b) 2. through 7. of this regulation, and that receipts and expenditures are being

made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors: and

3. Provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of

" unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of assets that could have a material effect

on the financial statements, i.e., those items specified in Section (5)(b) 2. through 7. of

this requlation.

(1) “Office” means the Office of Insurance Regulation.

(k) “SEC” means the United States Securities and Exchange Commission.

() “Section 404" means Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and the

SEC's rules and regulations promulgated thereunder.

(m)_“Section 404 Report” means management’s report on “internal control over

financial reporting” as defined by the SEC and the related attestation report of the

independent certified public accountant as described in Section (3)(a).

(n) “SOX Compliant Entity” means an entity that either is required to be compliant

with, or voluntarily is compliant with, all of the following provisions of the Sarbanes-

Oxley Act of 2002: (i) the preapproval requirements of Section 201 (Section 10A(i) of

the Securities Exchange Act of 1934): (i) the Audit committee independence

‘requirements of Section 301 (Section 10A(m)(3) of the Securities Exchange Act of

1934); and (iii) the Internal control over financial reporting requirements of Section 404

(Item 308 of SEC Regulation S-K).

(o) “Section 16 Report” means a Management's Report of Internal Control over

Financial Reporting provided in Section (16) of this rule.

(4) General Requirements Related to Filing and Extensions for Filing of Annual




Audited Financial Reports- and _ Audit

Committee Appointment.

(a) All insurers shall have an annual audit by an independent Certified Public
Accountant and shall file an Audited Financial Report with the Office on or before June
1 for the year ended December 31 immediately preceding. The Office may require an
insurer to file an Audited Financial Report earlier than June 1 with ninety (90) days
advance notice to the insurer.

(b) Every insurer required to file an annual Audited Financial Report pursuant to this

requlation shall designate a group of individuals as constituting its Audit committee, as

defined in Section (3). The Audit committee of an entity that controls an insurer may be

deemed to be the insurer's Audit committee for purposes of this requlation at the

election of the controlling person.

(5) Contents of Aannual Audited Financial Report.

(@) The Aannual Audited Financial Report shall report the financial position of the
insurer as of the end of the most recent calendar year and the results of its operations,
cash flows, and changes in capital and surplus for the year then ended in conformity
with statutory accounting practices prescribed, or otherwise permitted, by the Office-of
the state of domicile.

(b) The Aannual Audited Financial Report shall include the following:

1. Report of independent Certified Public Accountant.

2. Balance sheet reporting admitted assets, liabilities, capital and surplus.

3. Statement of operations.

4. Statement of cash flows.



5. Statement of changes in capital and surplus.
6. Notes to financial statements. These notes shall be those required by the

appropriate NAIC Annual Statement Instructions (incorporated by reference in Rule

690-137.001(4), F.A.C.) and the NAIC Accounting Practices and Procedures Manual

(incorporated by reference in Rule 690-137.001(4), F.A.C.) and any other notes

required by generally accepted accounting principles and shall also include—a-a—A
rReconciliation of differences, if any, between the audited statutory financial statements

and the Annual Statement filed pursuant to Section 624.424(1), Florida Statutes, with a

written description of the nature of these differences.

7. The financial statements included in the Audited Financial Report shall be
prepared in a form and using language and groupings substantially the same as the
relevant sections of the Annual Statement of the insurer filed with the Office, and the
financial statement shall be comparative, presenting the amounts as of December 31 of
the current year and the amounts as of the immediately preceding December 31.
However, in the first year in which an insurer is required to filé an Audited Financial
Report, the comparative data may be omitted.

(6) Designation of Independent Certified Public Accountant.

(a) Each insurer required by this rule to file an annual Audited Financial Report must,
by December 31 of the year subject to audit, register with the Office in writing the name

and address of the independent Certified Public Accountant or accounting firm

{generallyreferred-to-in-this—rule-as-the—acecountanty) retained to conduct the annual



audit set forth in this rule.

(b) The insurer shall obtain a letter from the accountant, and file a copy with the
Office, stating that the accountant is aware of the provisions of the Insurance Code and
the Rules and Regulations of the Insurance-Office-of-the state of domicile that relate to

accounting and financial matters, and affirming that the accountant he will express his

or_her opinion on the financial statements in terms of their conformity to the statutory

‘accounting practices prescribed or otherwise permitted by that Insurance Department

Office, specifying the exceptions as he or she may believe appropriate.

(c) If an accountant who was the accountant for the immediately preceding filed
Audited Financial Report is dismissed or resigns, the insurer shall within five (5)
business days notify the Office of this even-t. The insurer shall also furnish the Office
with a separate letter within ten (10) business days of the above notification stating
whether in the twenty-four (24) months preceding that event there were any
disagreements with the former accountant on any matter of accounting principles or
practices, financial statement disclosure, or auditing scope or procedure; which
disagreements, if not resolved to the satisfaction of the former accountant, would have
caused him or_her to make reference to the subject matter of the disagreement in
connection with his or her opinion. The disagreements required to be reported in
response to this paragraph include both those resolved to the former accountant’s
satisfaction and those not resolved to the former accountant's satisfaction. {d)
Disagreements contemplated by this subsection are those that occur at the decision-
making level, i.e., between personnel of the insurer responsible for presentation of its

financial statements and personnel of the accounting firm responsible for rendering its



report. The insurer shall also in writing request the former accountant to furnish a letter
addressed to the insurer stating whether the accountant agrees with the statements
contained in the insurer’s letter, and if not, stating the reasons for which he or she does
not agree; and the insurer shall furnish the responsive letter from the former accountant
to the Office together with its own.

(7) Qualifications of Independent Certified Public Accountant.

(a) The Office shall not recognize any person or firm as a qualified independent

Certified Public Accountant if the person or firm:that-is

1. Is not in good standing with the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants

(AICPA) H

in all states in which the accountant is licensed to practices, or for a Canadian or British

company, that is not a chartered accountant:;_or

2. Has either directly or indirectly entered into an agreement of indemnity or release

from liability (collectively referred to as indemnification) with respect to the audit of the

insurer.

(b) Except as otherwise provided in this rule herein, the Office shall recognize an

independent Certified Public Accountant shall-be-recegnized as qualified as long as he
or she prepares repbrts, filings, and statements as required by the Florida Insurance
Code, and conforms to the standards of his or her profession as contained in the Rules
and Regulations and Code of Ethics and Rules of Professional Conduct of the Florida
Board of Public Accountancy, or similar code.

(c) 1. A-The lead (or coordinating ) audit partner (having primary responsibility for

the audit) er—ethereren—Fesperble—fer—Fendeﬂng—a—FepeFt may not act in that capacity




for more than five (5) seven(7) consecutive years. Folloewing-any-period-of-service-that

The person shall be disqualified from acting in that or a similar capacity for the same

company or its insurance subsidiaries or affiliates for a period of five (5) consecutive twe

{2) years. An insurer may make application to the Office for relief from the above
rotation requirement based on an unusual hardship to the insurer and a determination
by the Office that the accountant is exercising independent judgement that is not unduly

influenced by the insurer. This application should be made at least thirty (30) days

before the end of the calendar year. The Office shall consider eensidering the following

factors in determining if the relief should be granted:

a.—4. Number of partners, expertise of the partners, or the number of insurance
cﬁents in the currently registered firm;

b.-2. Premium volume of the insurer; and

c.-3. Number of jurisdictions in which the insurer transacts business.

2. The insurer shall file, with its annual statement filing, the approval for relief from

Subsection (7) (c) with the states that it is licensed in or doing business in and with the

NAIC. If the nondomestic state accepts electronic filing with the NAIC, the insurer shall

file the approval in an electronic form acceptable to the NAIC.

(d) The Office shall neither ret recognize as a qualified independent Certified Public
Accountant, nor accept any annual Audited Financial Report prepared in whole or in
part by any natural person who: |

1. Has been found guilty of, or has pleaded guilty or nolo contendere to, any felony
or crime punishable by imprisonment of one year or more under the law of the United

States or any state thereof or under the law of any other country, Which involves moral

10



turpitude, without regard to whether a judgément of conviction has been entered by thé
court having jurisdiction in such case;

2. Has been found to have violated the insurance laws of this state with respect to
any previous reports submitted under this rule; or

3. Has failed to detect or disclose material information in previous reports filed under
the provisions of this rule.

(e) In accordance with the provisions of Sections 624.307 and 624.324, Florida
Statutes, and in its own rules of departmental practice, the Office shall conduct a

hearing to determine whether an independent a-Certified Public Accountant is qualified

if Office records do not contain sufficient information to demonstrate that the Certified
Public Accountant is qualified. Considering the evidence presented, the Office shall
conclude that the accountant is not qualified for purposes of expressing his or her
opinion on the financial statements in the annual Audited Financial Report made
pursuant to this rule, if the accountant fails to meet the qualifications and other
requirements of this rule. If the accountant is found to be not qualified, the Office shall
require the insurer to replace the accountant with another whose relationship with the
insurer is qualified within the meaning of this rule. Upon determination by the Office that
the accountant is not qualified to expréss an opinion on the financial statements in the
annual Aaudited Ffinancial Rreport made pursuant to this rule the insurer may request a
hearing pursuant to Section 120.57, Florida Statutes.

(f) A qualified independent certified accountant may enter into an agreement with an

insurer_to _have disputes relating to_an audit resolved by mediation or arbitration.

However, in the event of a delinquency proceeding commendenced against the insurer

11



under Chapter 631, Florida Statutes, the mediation or arbitration provisions shall

operate at the option of the statutory successor.

(q) 1. The Office shall not recognize as a qualified independent certified public

accountant, nor accept an annual Audited Financial Report, prepared in whole or in part

by an accountant who provides to an insurer, contemporaneously with the audit, the

following non-audit services:

a. Bookkeeping or other services related to the accounting records or financial

statements of the insurer:;

b. Financial information systems design and implementation:

c. Appraisal or valuation services, fairness opinions, or contribution in-kind reports:;

d. Actuarially-oriented advisory services involving the determination of amounts

recorded in the financial statements. The accountant may assist an insurer in

understanding the methods, assumptions and inputs used in the determination of

amounts recorded in the financial statement only if it is reasonable to conclude that the

services provided will not be subject to audit procedures during an audit of the insurer's

financial statements. An accountant’'s actuary may also issue an actuarial opinion or

certification (“opinion”) on an insurer’s reserves if the following conditions have been

met:

(i) Neither the accountant nor the accountant’s actuary has performed any

management functions or made any management decisions;

(ii)_The insurer has competent personnel (or engages a third party actuary) to

estimate the reserves for which management takes responsibility: and

12



(iii) The accountant’s actuary tests the reasonableness of the reserves after the

insurer's management has determined the amount of the reserves;

e. Internal audit outsourcing services:

f. Management functions or human resources;

g. Broker or dealer, investment adviser, or investment banking services:; or

h. Legal services or expert services unrelated to the audit;

2. In general, the principles of independence with respect to services provided by the

qualified independent certified public accountant are largely predicated on three basic

principles, violations of which would impair the accountant’'s independence. The

principles are that the accountant cannot function in the role of management, cannot

audit his own work, and cannot serve in an advocacy role for the insurer,

(h) Insurers having direct written and assumed premiums of less than $100,000,000

in_any calendar year may request an exemption from Subsection (g) 1. The insurer

shall file with the Office a written statement discussing the reasons why the insurer

should be exempt from these provisions. If the Office finds, upon review of this

statement, that compliance with this regulation would constitute an undue financial or

organizational hardship upon the insurer, an exemption shall be granted.

(i) A qualified independent certified public accountant who performs the audit may

engage in other non-audit services, including tax services that are not described in

Subsection (g)1. or that do not conflict with Subsection (q)2. only if the activity is

approved in advance by the Audit committee, in accordance with Subsection (j).

(1) All auditing services and non-audit services provided to an insurer by the qualified

independent certified public accountant of the insurer shall be preapproved by the Audit

13



committee. The preapproval requirement is waived with respect to non-audit services if

the insurer is a SOX Compliant Entity or a direct or indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of a

SOX Compliant Entity or:

1. The aggregate amount of all such non-audit services provided to the insurer

constitutes not more than five percent (5%) of the total amount of fees paid by the

insurer to its qualified independent certified public accountant during the fiscal year in

which the non-audit services are provided:

2. The services were not recognized by the insurer at the time of the engagement to

be non-audit services; and

3. The services are promptly brought to the attention of the Audit committee of the

insurer and approved prior to the completion of the audit by the Audit committee or by

one or more members of the Audit committee who are the members of the board of

directors to whom authority to grant such approvals has been delegated by the Audit

© committee.

(k) The Audit committee may delegate to one or more designated members of the

Audit committee the authority to grant the preapprovals required by Subsection (l). The

decisions of any member to whom this authority is delegated shall be presented to the

full Audit committee at each of its scheduled meetings.

() 1. The Office shall not recognize an independent certified public accountant as

qualified for a particular insurer if a member of the board, president, chief executive

officer, controller, chief financial officer, chief accounting officer, or any person serving

in_an equivalent position for that insurer, was employed by the independent certified

public accountant and participated in the audit of that insurer during the one-year period

14



preceding the date that the most current statutory opinion is due. This subsection shall

only apply to partners and senior managers involved in the audit.

2. The insurer shall file, with its annual statement filing, the approval for relief from

Subsection (1)(1) with the states that it is licensed in or doing business in and the NAIC.

If the nondomestic state accepts electronic filing with the NAIC, the insurer shall file the

approval in an electronic format acceptable to the NAIC.

(8) Consolidated or Combined Audits.

(a) An insurer may make written application to the Office for approval to file audited
consolidated or combined financial statements in lieu of separate annual audited
financial statements if the insurer is part of a group of insurance companies which
utilizes a pooling or one hundred percent reinsurance agreement that affects the
solvency and integrity of the insurer's reserves, and the insurer cedes all of its direct
and assumed business to the pool. In these cases, a columnar consolidating or
combining worksheet shall be filed with the report, as follows:

1. Amounts shown on the consolidated or combined Audited Financial Report shall
be shown on the worksheet.

2. Amounts for each insurer subject to this section shall be stated separately.

3. Noninsurance operations may be shown on the worksheet on a combined or
individual basis.

4. Explanations of consolidating and eliminating entries shall be included-: and

5. A reconciliation shall be included of any differences between the amounts shown
in the individual insurer columns of the worksheet and comparable amounts shown on

the Annual Statements of the insurers.

15



(b) 1. The application for approval to consolidate is required each year, and must be
filed with the Office prior to the end of the calendar year for which the approval is being
granted, excépt that applications for approval will be accepted after the end of such
calendar year subject to the imposition of an administrative fine on each insurer
involved in such application as provided for in Section 624.4211(2), Florida Statutes.

2. The amount of the fine shall be $50 per day for each day beyond the end of the
calendar year, not to exceed an aggregate amount of $10,000 for the group of insurers
requesting permission to file on a consolidated basis.

(c) Approval to consolidate or combine statements shall be granted unless the Office
makes a specific finding that approval would prevent the Office from carrying out its
statutory responsibilities.

(9) Scope of Audit Examination and Report of Independent Certified Public
Accountant. Financiél statements furnished_pursuant to Section subsection-(5), above,

shall be examined by the an-independent certified public accountant Gertified—Public

Acceuntant: The audit examination of the insurer’'s financial statements shall be

conducted in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards. In accordance

with AU Section 319 of the Professional Standards of the AICPA, Consideration of

Internal _Control in _a Financial Statement Audit, the independent certified public

accountant should obtain an understanding of internal control sufficient to plan the audit.

To the extent required by AU 319, for those insurers required to file a Management’s

Report of Internal Control over Financial Reporting pursuant to Section (16), the

independent certified public accountant should consider (as that term is defined in AU

Section 120 of the Professional Standards of the AICPA. Defining Professional

16



Requirements in Statements on Auditing Standards) the most recently available report

in planning and performing the audit of the statutory financial statements. Consideration

should also be given to the other procedures illustrated in the Financial Condition
Examiner's Handbook promulgated by the National Association of Insurance

Commissioners (incorporated by reference in Rule 690-138.001, F.A.C.) as the

independent Certified Public Accountant deems necessary.

(10) Notification of Adverse Financial Condition.

(a) The insurer required to furnish the annual Audited Financial Report shall require
the independent Certified Public Accountant to report, in writing, within five (5) business
days to the board of directors or its Audit audit committee any determination by the
independent Certified Public Accountant that the insurer has materially misstated its
financial condition as reported to the Office as of the balance sheet date currently under
audit examination, or that the insurer does not meet the minimum capital and surplus
requirement of the Florida Insurance Code as of that date. An insurer who has received
a report pursuant to this paragraph shall forward a copy of the report to the Office within
five (6) business days of receipt of said report and shall provide the independent
Certified Public Accountant making the report witH evidence of the report being
furnished to the Office. If the independent Certified Public Accountant fails to receive the
evidence within the required five (5) business day period, the independent Certified
Public Accountant shall furnish to the Office a copy of its report within the next five (5)
business days.

(b) An independent certified public accountant shall not be liable in any manner to

any person for any statement made in connection with the above paragraph if the
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statement is made in good faith in compliance with the above paragraph.
(c) If the accountant, subsequent to the date of the Audited Financial Report filed
pursuant to this rule, becomes aware of facts which might have affected his report, the

Office notes the obligation of the accountant to take such action as prescribed in

Volume1, Section AU 561 of the Professional Standards of the AICPA. shall-repert

(11) Communication of Internal Control Related Matters Noted in an Audit Report-on

Sianificant Deficiencies.in] LC I
_(a) In addition to the annual Audited Financial Report Statement, each insurer shall

furnish the Office with a written communication as to any unremediated material

weaknesses in its Internal control over financial repqrtinq noted during the audit. Such

'communication shall be prepared by the accountant within sixty (60) days after the filing

of the annual Audited Financial Report, and shall contain a description of any

unremediated material weakness (as the term material weakness is defined by AU

Section 325 of the Professional Standards of the AICPA, Communicating Internal

Control Related Matters Identified in _an Audif) as of December 31 immediately

preceding (so as to coincide with the Audited Financial Report discussed in Section (4))

in the insurer’s Internal control over financial reporting noted by the accountant during

the course of their audit of the financial statements. If no unremediated material

weaknesses were noted, the communication should so state. report-prepared-by-the
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(b) The insurer is required to provide a description of remedial actions taken or

proposed to correct_unremediated material weaknesses if the said actions are not

described i.n the accountant's communication repert.

(12) Accountant’s Letter of Qualifications.

(a) The accountant shall furnish a letter to the insurer in connection with, and for
inclusion in, the filing of the annual Audited Financial Report.

(b) The letter shall state:

1. That the accountant is independent with respect to the insurer and conforms to
the standards of his or her profession as contained in the Code of Professional Ethics

and pronouncements of the AICPA and the Rules of Professional Conduct of the Florida

Board of Public Accountancy, or similar code-;

2. The background and experience in general, and the experience in audits of
insurers; of the staff assigned to the engagement and whether each is an independent
Certified Public Accountant. Nothing within this rule shall be construed as prohibiting the
accountant from utilizing his or her staff as he or she deems appropriate where use is
consistent with the standards prescribed. by generally accepted auditing standards.

3. That the accountant understands the annual Audited Financial Report, and his or
her opinion thereon will be filed in compliance with this rule, and that the Office will be
relying on this information in the monitoring and regulation of the financial position of
insurers:;

4. That the accountant consents to the requirements of subsection (13), below, and
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that the accountant consents and agrees to make the workpapers as defined in
subsection (13), below, available for review by the Office.
5. A representation that the accountant is properly licensed by an appropriate state

licensing authority and is a member in good standing in the AICPA:; and

6. A representation that the accountant is in compliance with the requirements of
subsection (7)_of this Rule;-abeve.

(13) Definition, Availability, and Maintenance of Independent Certified Public

Accountants. -GPA Workpapers.
(a) Workpapers are the records kept by the independent Certified Public Accountant
of the procedures followed, the tests performed, the information obtained, and the

conclusions reached pertinent to the accountant’'s audit his-examination of the financial

-statements of an insurer. Workpapers, accordingly, may include audit planning
documentation, work programs, analyses, memoranda, letters of confirmation and
-representation, abstracts of company documents and schedules, or commentaries
prepared or obtained by the independent Certified Public Accountant in the course of

‘his or her audit examination of the financial statements of an insurer, and which support

the accountant’s his-opinion thereof.
(b) Every insurer required to file an Audited Financial Report pursuant to this rule .
shall require the accountant to make available for review by Office examiners all

workpapers prepared in the conduct of the accountant’s audit his-examinatien, and any

communications related to the audit between the accountant and the insurer, at the
offices of the insurer, at the Office or at any other reasonable place designated by the

Office. The insurer shall require that the accountant retain the audit workpapers and
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communications until the Office has filed a Report on Examination covering the period
of the audit, but no less than seven (7) years from the date of the audit report.

(¢) In the conduct of the aforementioned periodic review vby the Office examiners, it
shall be agreed that photocopies of pertinent audit workpapers may be made and
retained by the Office. The reviews by the Office examiners shall be considered
investigations, and all working papers and communicatio'ns obtained during the course
of the investigations shall be afforded the same confidentiality as other examination
workpapers generated by the Office until the Report of Examination is filed by the
Office.

(14) Requirements for Audit Committee

This section shall not apply to foreign or alien insurers licensed in this state or an

insurer that is a SOX Compliant Entity or a direct or indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of

a SOX Compliant Enfitv.

(a) _The Audit committee shall be directly responsible for the appointment,

compensation_and oversight of the work of any accountant (including resolution of

disagreements between management and the accountant regarding financial reporting)

for the purpose of preparing or issuing the Audited Financial Report or related work

pursuant to this rule. Each accountant shall report directly to the Audit committee.

(b) Each member of the Audit committee shall be a member of the board of directors

of the insurer or a member of the board of directors of an entity elected pursuant to

Subsection (e) and Section (3)(c).

(c) In order to be considered independent for purposes of this section, a member of

the Audit committee may not, other than in his or her capacity as a member of the Audit
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committee, the board of directors, or any other board committee, accept any consulting,

advisory or other compensatory fee from the entity or be an affiliated person of the

entity or any subsidiary thereof.

(d)_If a member of the Audit committee ceases to be independent for reasons

outside the member's reasonable control, that person, with notice by the responsible

entity to the state, may remain an Audit committee member of the responsible entity

until the earlier of the next annual meeting of the responsible entity or one year from the

occurrence of the event that caused the member to be no longer independent.

(e) To exercise the election of the controlling person to designate the Audit

committee for purposes of this requlation, the ultimate controlling person shall provide

written notice to the Office of the affected insurers. Notification shall be made timely

prior to the issuance of the statutory audit report and include a description of the basis

for the election. The election can be changed through notice to the Office by the insurer,

which shall include a description of the basis for the change. The election shall remain

in effect for perpetuity, until rescinded.

(f) 1. The Audit committee shall require the accountant that performs for an insurer

any audit required by this regulation to timely report to the Audit committee in

accordance with the requirements of AU Section 380 of the Professional Standards of

the AICPA, Communication with Audit Committees, including:

a. All significant accounting policies and material permitted practices:

b All material alternative treatments of financial information within statutory

accounting principles that have been discussed with management officials of the
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insurer, ramifications of the use of the alternative disclosures and treatments, and the

treatment preferred by the accountant; and

c. Other material written communications between the accountant and the

management of the insurer, such as any management letter or schedule of unadjusted

differences.

2. If an insurer is a member of an insurance holding company system, the reports

required by Subsection (f) 1. may be provided to the Audit committee on an aggregate

basis for insurers in the holding company system, provided that any substantial

differences among insurers in the system are identified to the Audit committee.

(gq) The proportion of independent Audit committee members shall meet or exceed

the following criteria:

Prior Calendar Year Direct Written and Assumed Premiums

$0 — 300,000,000 Over $300,000,000 — Over 500,000,000
| 500,000,000
No minimum | Majority (50% or more) of | Supermajority of members
requirements. members shall be | (75% or more) shall be
See also Notes A and B. | independent. See  also indenendent. See also Note

Notes A and B.

A.

Note A: The Office has authority afforded by Section 624.4085, F.S., to require the

entity’'s board to enact improvements to the independence of the Audit committee

membership if the insurer is in a Risk Based Capital action level event, meets one or
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more of the standards of an insurer deemed to be in hazardous financial condition, or

otherwise exhibits qualities of a troubled insurer.

Note B: All insurers with less than $500,000.000 in prior year direct written and

assumed premiums are encouraged to structure their Audit committees with at least a

supermaijority of independent Audit committee members.

Note C: Prior calendar year direct written and assumed premiums shall be the

combined total of direct premiums and assumed premiums from non-affiliates for the

reporting entities.

(h) An_insurer with direct written and assumed premium, excluding premiums

reinsured with the Federal Crop Insurance Corporation and Federal Flood Program,

less than $500,000,000 may make application to the Office for a waiver from the

‘Section (14) requirements based upon hardship. The insurer shall file, with its annual

statement filing, the approval for relief from Section (14) with the states that it is licensed

in or doing business in and the NAIC. If the non-domestic state accepts electronic filing

with the NAIC, the insurer shall file the approval in an electronic format acceptable to

-the NAIC.

(15) Conduct of Insurer in Connection with the Preparation of Required Reports and

Documents

(a) No director or officer of an insurer shall, directly or indirectly:

1. Make or cause to be made a materially false or misleading statement to an

accountant in connection with any audit, review or communication required under this

requlation; or
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2. Omit to state, or cause another person to omit to state, any material fact

necessary in order to make statements made, in light of the circumstances under which

the statements were made, not misleading to_an accountant in connection with any

audit, review or communication required under this requlation.

(b) No officer or director of an insurer, or any other person acting qnder the direction

thereof, shall directly or indirectly take any action to coerce, manipulate, mislead or

fraudulently influence any accountant engaged in the performance of an audit pursuant

to this regulation if that person knew or should have known that the action, if successful,

could result in rendering the insurer’s financial statements materially misleading.

(c) For purposes of Subsection (b) of this section, actions that, “if successful, could

result in rendering the insurer’s financial statements materially misleading” include, but

are not limited to, actions taken at any time with respect to the professional engagement

period to coerce, manipulate, mislead or fraudulently influence an accountant:

1. To issue or reissue a report on an insurer's financial statements that is not

warranted in the circumstances (due to material violations of statutory accounting

principles prescribed by the Office or generally accepted auditing standards):

2. Not to perform audit, review or other procedures required by generally accepted

auditing standards;

3. Not to withdraw an issued report: or

4. Not to communicate matters to an insurer's Audit committee.

(16) Management's Report of Internal Control over Financial Reporting

(a) Every insurer required to file an Audited Financial Report pursuant to this

requlation that has annual direct written and assumed premiums, excluding premiums
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reinsured with the Federal Crop Insurance Corporation and Federal Flood Program, of

$500,000.000 or more shall prepare a report of the insurer's or Group of insurers’

Internal control over financial reporting, as these terms are defined in Section (3). The

report shall be filed with the Office along with the Communication of Internal Control

Related Matters Noted in an Audit described under Section (11). Management’'s Report

of Internal Control over Financial Reporting shall be as of December 31 immediately

preceding.

(b) Notwithstanding the premium threshold in Subsection (a), the Office shall require

an insurer to file Management’'s Report of Internal Control over Financial Reporting if

the insurer is in any Risk Based Capital level event, or meets any one or more of the

standards of an insurer deemed to be in hazardous financial condition. “Hazardous

financial condition” shall mean any of the conditions that subject an insurer to

suspension or revocation of its certificate of authority as provided in Section 624.418,

ES.

(c) An insurer or a Group of insurers that is

1. directly subject to Section 404;

2. part of a holding company system whose parent is directly subject to Section 404;

3. not directly subject to Section 404 but is a SOX Compliant Entity; or,

4. a member of a holding company system whose parent is not directly subject to

Section 404 but is a SOX Compliant Entity:

may file its or its parent’'s Section 404 Report and an addendum in satisfaction of this

Section’s requirement provided that those internal controls of the insurer or Group of

insurers _having a_material impact on the preparation of the insurer's or Group of
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insurers’ audited statutory financial statements (those items included in Section (5) (b)

2. through (5) (b) 7. of this requlation) were included in the scope of the Section 404

Report. The addendum shall be a positive statement by management that there are no

material processes with respect to the preparation of the insurer's or Group of insurers’

audited statutory financial statements (those items included in Section (5)(b) 2. through

(5)(b) 7. of this rule) excluded from the Section 404 Report. If there are internal controls

of the insurer or Group of insurers that have a material impact on the preparation of the

insurer's or G}roup of insurers’ audited statutory financial statements and those internal

controls were not included in the scope of the Section 404 Report, the insurer or Group

of insurers may either file (i) a Section (16) report, or (ii) the Section 404 Report and a

Section (16) report for those internal controls that have a material impact on the

preparation of the insurer's or Group of insurers’ audited statutory financial statements

not covered by the Section 404 Report.

(d). Management’s Report of Internal Control over Financial Reporting shall include:

1. A statement that management is responsible for establishing and maintaining

adequate Internal control over financial reporting;

2. A statement that management has established Internal control over financial

reporting and an assertion, to the best of management’'s knowledge and belief, after

diligent inquiry, as to whether its Internal control over financial reporting is effective to

provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial statements in

accordance with statutory accounting principles:

3. A statement that briefly describes the approach or processes by which

management evaluated the effectiveness of its Internal control over financial reporting;
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4. A statement that briefly describes the scope of work that is included and whether

any internal controls were excluded;

5. Disclosure of any unremediated material weaknesses in the Internal control over

financial reporting identified by management as of December 31 immediately preceding,

after the effective date of this rule. Management is not permitted to conclude that the

Internal control over financial reporting is effective to provide reasonable assurance

regarding the reliability of financial statements in accordance with statutory accounting

principles if there is one or_more unremediated material weaknesses in its Internal

controls over financial reporting;

6. A statement regarding the inherent limitations of internal control systems; and

7 Signatures of the chief executive officer and the chief financial officer (or

equivalent position/title).

() Management shall document _and make available upon financial condition

examination the basis upon which its assertions, required in Subsection (d) above, are

made. Management may base its assertions, in part, upon its review, monitoring and

testing of internal controls undertaken in the normal course of its activities.

1. Management shall have discretion as to the nature of the internal control

framework used. and the nature and extent of documentation, in order to make its

assertion in a cost effective manner and, as such, may include assembly of or reference

to existing documentation.

2. Management's Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting, required by

Subsection (a) above, and any documentation provided in support thereof during the

course of a financial condition examination, shall be kept confidential by the Office.
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an {14} Exemptions and Effective Dates

(a) Upon written application of any insurer, the Office shall grant an exemption from

all provisions of this rule if the Office finds, upon review of the application, that

compliance with this regulation would constitute an undue financial or organizational

hardship upon the insurer. the—insurer—is—under—an—order—of —receivership;

(b) Domestic insurers shall comply with this rule for the year ending December 31,

2010 and each year thereafter. All-autheorized-insurers-shall-comply-with-this-rule-for-the

(c) Foreign insurers shall comply with this rule for the year ending December 31,

2010 and each vear thereafter.—Form-OIR-DO-14314(Rev-—108/04).—Audited-Financial

29



I Reaulation’ bei | I | followi dress:

(d) The requirements of section (7)(c) shall be in effect for audits of the year ending

December 31, 2010 and thereafter.

(e) The requirements of section (14) are to be in effect for audits of the year ending

December 31. 2010. An insurer or Group of insurers that is not required to have

independent Audit committee members or_only a majority of independent Audit

committee members (as opposed to a supermajority) because the total written and

assumed premium is below the threshold and subsequently becomes subject to one of

the independence requirements discussed in this paragraph due to changes in premium

shall have one (1) vear following the year the threshold is exceeded (but not earlier than

January 1. 2010) to comply with the independence requirements discussed in_this

paragraph. Likewise, an insurer that becomes subject to one of the independence

requirements discussed in this paragraph as a result of a business combination shall

have one (1) calendar year following the date of acquisition or combination to comply

with the independence requirements.

(f) The requirements of Section (16) and other modified sections, except for Section

(14) covered above, are effective beginning with the reporting period ending December

31, 2010 and each year thereafter. An insurer or Group of insurers that is not required

to file a report because the total written premium is below the threshold and

subsequently becomes subject to the reporting requirements shall have two (2) years

following the year the threshold is exceeded (but not earlier than December 31,_ 2010) to

file a report. Likewise, an insurer acquired in a business combination shall have two (2)
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calendar vears following the date of acquisition or combination to comply with the

reporting requirements.

(18) (48) Canadian and British Companies.

(a) In the case of Canadian and British insurers, the annual Audited Financial Report
shall be defined as the annual statement of total business on the form filed by the
companies with their_demieiliary-supervision authority duly audited by an independent
chartered accountant. |

(b) For these insurers, the letter required in subsection (6)(b), above, shall state that
the accountant is aware of the requirements relating to the annual aAudited statement

Financial Report filed with the Office pursuant to subsection (4), above, and shall affirm

that the opinion expressed is in conformity with these requirements.

(19) Severability Provision

If any section or portion of this rule or its applicability to any person or circumstance

is held invalid by a court, the remainder of the rule or the applicability of the provision to

other persons or circumstances shall not be affected.

(20) Standards Incorporated by Reference

(a) The following standards are hereby incorporated by reference:

1. AU Section 319 of the Professional Standards of the AICPA, Consideration of

“Internal Control in a Financial Statement Audit

2. AU Section 120 of the Professional Standards of the AICPA, Defining

Professional Requirements in Statements on Auditing Standards

3. Volume 1, Section AU 561 of the Professional Standards of the AICPA

4. AU Section 325 of the Professional Standards of the AICPA, Communicating
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Internal Control Related Matters Identified in an Audit

5 AU Section 380 of the Professional Standards of the AICPA, Communication with

Audit Committees

(b) The standards incorporated in this section are available at the American Institute

of CPAs (AICPA) website at:

http://www.aicpa.org/Publications

Rulemaking Spesific Authority 624.308(1), 624.424(8)(e) FS. Law Implemented

624.307(1), 624.324, 624.424(8) FS. History—New 3-31-92, Amended 3-14-94
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AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS P~
EXEMPTION AFFIDAVIT

Section 624.424(8)(b), Florida Statutes
(Filing Deadline - MARCH 1)

I, the undersigned, hereby ceftify that

(Name of Company)

'(Address)

(City, State, Zip)

(Federal ID Number)

is automatically exempt from filing audited financial statements as permitted by Section
624.424(8)(b), Florida Statutes.

I further certify the amount of direct premiums written during the calendar year in the State of
Florida for (year ending December 31 prior to March 1 filing due date) was $

and the number of policyholders or certificate holders of directly written policies nationwide at
the end of the calendar year was '

Signature | Date

Officer’s Name/Title (print or type)

Notary Public

OIR-DO-1431 (Rev. 7/01)

690-137.002
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" AU Section 319

Consideration of Internal Control in a
Financial Statement Audits

source: SAS No. 55; SAS No. 78; SAS No. 94.

Effective for audits of financial statements for periods beginning on or affer
January 1, 1990, unless otherwise indicated.

_E..om:n:oP 4

. .01 This section provides guidance on the independent auditor's consid-
eration of an entity's internal control in an audit of financial statements in
gccordance with generally accepted auditing standards. It defines internal con-
trol, 2 describes the objectives and components of internal control, and explains
how an suditor shpuld consider internal control in planning and performing
%t audit. In particular,this section provides guidance about implementing the
_ gébond standard of field work: "A sufficient understanding of internal control’

" §to be obtained to.plan the audit and to determine the nature, timing, and

&xtent of tests to be performed." : . s

H?m next page i8 821.] e .

4., "«02 In all audits, the suditor should obtain an understanding of internal
- gentrol sufficient to plan the audit by performing procedures to understand the
 design of controls relevant to an audit of financial statements and determining
~ whether they have been placed in operation. In eébtaining this understanding,
the auditor considers how an entity's use of information technology (IT)? and
. manual procedures may affect controls'rélevant to the -audit. The auditor then
assesses control risk for the assertions embodied in the account balance, trans-

ction class, and diselosure componeénts of the financial statements,

4 Thiggection has been superseded by Statements on Auditing Standards No. 109, Understanding

. . the Entity and Its Environment and Assessing the Risks.of Material Misstatement; and No. 110, Per-

\ . ) T forming Audit Procedizres in Response to Assessed Risks and Evaluating the Audit Evidence Obtained.
C ' This-geéttion’ will be superseded closer to the effective-date of Statements on Auditing Standards No.

‘109 and Ng, 110, which are effective for audits of financial statements for periods beginning on or

e, December 15, 2006. Earlier application is permitted. Statements on Auditing Standards No. 109

- and Ng, 110 are included in the "AU Risk Assessment Standards: SAS No. 104-SA8-No, 111" section,

no_moﬁﬁm_ the "AU Section 900—Special Reports of the Committee on Auditing Procedure" section, of .
 publication. . .

* This section has been revised tp reflect the amendments and conforming changes necessary due

m\".wa. issuance of Statement on Auditing Standards No. 78, effective for audits of financial state-
entyfot periods beginning on or after January 1, 1997. The amendments are made to recognize the
definition-and description of internal control contained in Internal Conirol—lIntegrated Framework,
hliskied by the Committea of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO Re-

tt). This section has also been amended to reflect the issuance of Statement on Anditing Standards

z& wffective for audits of financial statements for periods beginting on-or after' June 1, 2001. .
application is permissible. .

Jnternal control also may be referred to as internal control structure.

4g§maob technology (IT) encorpasses automated means of originating, processing, storing,
d comttilinicating information, and includes recording devices, conimunication systems, computer
tem§ (including hardware and software components and data), and other electronic devices. An
Jﬂ_ww“mm.,cnwe may be extensive; Kowever, the auditor is primarily interested in the entity's use of
initiate, record, process, and report transactions or other financial data. B

P

AU §319.02
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.08 The auditor may determine that assessing control risk below the max-

;mum level® for certain assertions would be effective and more efficient than

performing only gubstantive tests. In addition, the auditor-mhay determine that:
it is not practical or possible to re trict detection risk to an acceptable level

by performing only substantive tests for one or more financigl statement asmelr
+ions. Tn such circumstances, the/au itor should obtain evidential matter about
the effectiveness of both the design and operation of contrals to reduce the &5
gessed level of control risk. Such evidential matter may be obtained from tests of
controls planned and performed concurrent with or subsequent to obtaining the
understanding.* Such evidential matter also may be obtained from procedutres
that were not specifically planned as;tests of controls but that nevertheless pro:
vide evidential matter about the effectiveness of the design and operation of the
controls. For certain agsertions, the auditor may desire to further reduce the
assessed level of control risk. In such cases, the auditor considers whether evi-
dential matter sufficient to support a further reduction is likely to be available
and whether performing additional tests of controls to obtain such evidential
matter would be efficient. S N

04 Alternatively, the auditor may agsess control riskat the maximum level
because he or she helieves. controls are un. {kely to pertain to an agsertion or
are unlikely to be effective, or because evaluating the effectiveness of controls
would be inefficient. However, the auditor needs to be satisfied that performing
anly substantiye tests would be offective in restricting detection risk to-an, ac:
ceptable level. ‘When evidence of an entity's initiation, recording, ox processing
of financial data exists only in electronic form, the auditor's ability to obtain the
desired assurance only from gubstantive tests would significantly diminish.

. 05 The auditor uses the understanding of internal control and the as-
sessad level of control risk in.determining the pature, timing, and extent of.
mmvmnwbﬂ<m tests for finencial mamnm_n.auﬁ.mmmm&oﬁm. ) EETERR Co

-

~«

oge Y & S " E
Definition of Internal Control : \

.08 Internal conirolisd ﬁuoomm.muimm..mmwmm by an entity'’s board of directofs,
management, and other vmnmoupmHmewmdom to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the achievement of objectives in the following categories: {a) reliabil-
ity of financial reperting, (b) offectiveness and efficiency of operations,
compliance with applicable laws and regulations.

,07 Internal control consists of five interrelated noBmx_Embcm“ ;

Control environment sets the tone of an’ organization, influencing th _
control consciousness of its people. 1t is the foundation for all othi
components of Ewomu& control, providing &m&wmb.m and structure.

Rish assessment is.the entity's identification and analysis of releved
risks to achievement of its objectives, forming a basis for determining
how the risks should be managed. . L T
Conirol activities are the policies and procedures that help ensure tha
- management directives are carried out. ' . T

B

a.

b

e

8 Control risk may be assessed in quantitative terms, such as percentages, or in ponquianiitati
texms that range, for example, from a meximum to 2 minimum. The term maximum level is used;
in this section to mean the greatest-probability that a material imisstatement. that, could occur”
financial statement assertion will not be prevented or detected on a timely bagis by an entity's intert
control. . ' Cu e

4 Tfthe auditor is unable to obtain such evidential matter, he or she chould consider the guidan

s Bwidentinl Matter. paragraphs .14 and .25. - . 4

m.‘mosﬁ.@mwm?m basis of accountin,
.,<,...

Internal Control in a Financial Statement Audit - 323

Nnxcm mation Q;R ﬁQﬁNSNN&E\NQQNS\h mwmﬁmHHHm .QG@MUOH& @W.@ HQ.@HHR&G”_N_.OHHW
GE.HU:&C.H e, NHHQ. ONQ_U.m.HHmm O& HH#HOHHM.—QHHOHH na &OHH&N..NHH& ﬁgm.mmuﬁm gmﬂ

) W_va.ﬂm v.moﬁ.m. E. carry out their responsibilities.
e onitoring is a processg nwww..mmmwmmmm. the quality of internal control
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performance over time.

Relationship Between @Emn.*?_om and Components

.08 There is a direct relationship between

i y ionship betwe jecti i

. . : tween object

MMWMWM Mnnﬂﬂww MW M..mggm. and components, which wvaMMmmeW .WMMM R
achieve ! mawmb.w c mmwmmm MMHMMMHBE internal -control is H@gm&ﬁﬁwm %Hmomm\mﬁo
5 doited oa fllows: g units or business functions. This Hmymmowmﬁw
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.09 Alth P iy Lt
ough an entity's internal control addresses objectives in each of

- the categories referred to i
. e o 0 in paragraph .06, not all of jecti

0 wro_.wmwﬁm.%mw Mm.m_ w&gmb.w. to an audit of arm."muﬁ.@_m muwumﬁmmmﬂwenﬁﬁm ang re
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Financial Reporting Objective ]
10 Generally, controls th e ) an aud
Ger A t are rel t i i .
20 T at evant to an audi
b H.._ MMMMM.M mmﬂ.”%mﬁm.mum#s& statements for mmﬁmubnmwwﬂwwﬁ“ %wrm are
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‘4 N The Standards of Field
Operations and Compliance Objectives _
ations and compliance® objectives may be

relevant to an audit if they pertain to data the auditor ‘svaluates or uses 1ol
applying auditing procedures. For example, controls pertaibing to nonfinancial
data that the auditor uses in analytical procedures, such as production sgtatis-
tics, OF pertaining to detecting noncompliance with laws and regulations that
may have a2 direct and material effect-on. the bbubpw&.mawﬁ.mggﬁ. guch as €on:
trols over compliance with income tax 1aws and regulations used to determine
the income tax provision, M&Y be relevant to att audit. .

12 Anentity generally has controls relating 0 objectives that are not rel-
evant to.an audit and therefore peed not be considered. Tor example, controls
concerning Comp iance wi 4 safety regulations 0F concerning the
effectiveness and efficiency of certain management decision-making processes
(such as the appropriate price to charge for its products or whether to make ex-
penditures for certain research and Jevelopment 0r m%muamwum.wo&ﬁﬁamy al-
though important to the mﬁﬁ@noﬁ&bﬁ.& donot relateto @ financial gtatement
audit. Sirnilarly, an entity may relyon & mouvwmaamﬁmg gystem of automated con-
trols to-provide efficient and offective operations (such as 2 commercial airline’s
system of automated controls to maintain flight gchedules), but these controls
ordinarily would not be rolevant to the fnancial statement audit and therefore

need not be considered.

.11 The controls relating to oper

Safeguarding of Assets . ,_.
.13 Internal control over safeguarding of assets against unauthorized ac-
quisition, U5 or disposition may include controls relating to m.ﬁmbaw& reporting
and operations ogmaﬁﬁmm..ﬂgm relationship is depicted a8 follows: .

gateguarding
of Assets

L

. o
N

T et
In obtaining an understanding of each of the components
eration of m&.omawamgm

plan the au! it, the auditor's consid controls is

trols relevant to SBuﬁmbS.oE

& An auditor may need ta consider con
ction 801, Compliance Auditing Considerations in Audits 0,

- tt in accordance with Be .
BECtION & - el Financial Assistantce.

of internal contro

HH_.—..QHH_.N.H OOH._.HHO_. inak :—NH#OHWH Statement >~h.hm.m.n wNm

gpﬁmm to those rel
evant to the reliabili

use of a lockbo reliability of financi .-

thet limit monmwmmmeMMMHMmm collecting cash or access MMH-%M%%HWNW. For example,
be relevant to:a financial M&mmﬂmuwwwmamu%mwﬁwn process eagh, &M_us Mwﬂmmmmo&m_
excess use of materials i 10 audiv. onversely, cont ents may
statement audit. i Emmnosoﬂ generally are uww H&oﬂwww MovwoMMbn %M

A ) anci

Application , | L
. of Compone! i
. nts to a Financi
Audit . a Financial Statement
.14 The division of i .
framenork for mMMwWo ww..umpgwbmm control into five component; i
in an audit. However, it m consider the impact of an mﬁﬁﬁ s provides a useful
4id implements Fﬁmmu& aﬂ%ﬂﬂmﬁ Mpmommwpmuww reflect how wbm MMMMW& oo.Hwﬁo_
O ey a specific control aff . Also, the auditor's prim v, consiaers
! 8pe p ary consideration i
classification info an ffects financial statement ; ation 18
X y particular assertions rather than i
. those that indivi Yor i component. Contr er than its
detect materi %%mm%%wmu mo._Bvaaou with oﬂwwﬂ,mmﬁmﬁwﬁwﬂ _8 the audit are
. may exist in any of the- nts in financial statement asserti y to prevent or
v of the five components. assertions. Such controls

aHm -Ha.wo chm OOHH_.ﬁOU.OB.n i N.H .xv—__ﬂﬁc m
X S Om. HU..me.HH i
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® The entity's size.
e The entity's organizat :
ganization and ownershi .
- ) ship char Satios !
®  The nature of the entity's business p characteristics.
The diversi : o
e diversity and complexity of the entity's operations

L 4
+.®_ Applicable legal
X gal and regulatory requirements.,. '

Vi ”_...HHO ﬂ.N..&,—HH. m.HﬂnW com w % S ﬂ——m& are mum _.._u (1) n\_—w mu: Agm
¥ - 4 e85 mﬁms
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Btfect of Information Technology on Infernal Control

" y's use of IT may affect
onitrol relevan T may affect any of th .
el hSMMWmMMMwMMmWQmEmR of g@«muﬁ%wmmmm%m%%gﬁﬁm of internal
. ..%wmmeEm. o n entity o ives, and its operating units reporting, opera-
patticular business: ﬂw wﬂwmwaﬂwmm IT as part of discrete sys nMﬂHWﬁmemmm functions.
nmuﬁmﬂvu_.m system for a @NHWEMWW&. OH“m.Oﬁwﬁnwmwu ‘such.asa uni Q”Mm% pport only
.eration of facto ; usiness unit or & system ccounts re-
integrated mwmﬂhw Mwwﬂnmwua. Alternatively, an msﬁw Mmegﬁ controls the op-
stity's financial share data and that are used t y have noBEmNu highly
TS LE 1l reporting, operati to support all aspect;
1% .he't1se of IT al perations, and complignee objectives pects of
tions gréinitiated, reco do %ﬁ% the fundamental manner in whic o
tity'tises:manu &.Eomom . processed, and reported.® In ma in which transac-
mm”m 1t ay.manually amnowm‘m%&m%%ommoo&m? wmumu,mouﬁﬁnm.wwwmwwm i
prepare shippi rders on paper - , indi-
i ipping reports gm.S«cmomm“ww%@ h.mowwﬂmm,. MMM.MWM@ authorize
- _ g receivable
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b6 séckioh 304, Service Organi .

fobthatibE Soeia B Organizati . .
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ag) > Appendix . o
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records). Controls-in such a gystem also are manual and may inciude such-pro-
cedures as approvals and reviews of activities, and Hmnmbomumﬁoﬁm and follow-up
of reconciling items. Alternatively, an entity may have information systems .ﬁwmﬁ
use automated procedures to initiate, record, process, and report transactions,
in which case records in electronic format replace such paper documents as
purchase orders, invoices, shipping decuments, mu.& uo.HmSm accounting records,
Controls in systems that use IT consist of & combination of automated controls
(for example, controls embedded in comiputer programs) and HEE& n.oﬁﬁ,&m.
Further, manual controls may be independént of IT, may use information pro-

duced by IT, or may be limited to monitoring the effective functioning of IT and -

: " ... 1
f automated controls, and to handling exceptions. An mbﬁ@. 's mix of manusa
wbm automated oobewmwm.ém&am with the nature and complexity of the entity's

useof ITT. ]

.18 IT provides potential benefits of effectiveness and efficiency for an en-
tity's internal contro} because it enables an entity to—

e Consistehtly apply predefined business rules and woa,oa Su,GHmM cal-
culations in processing large volumes of transactions or data.

¢ ' Enhance the timeliness, w.<&ym.vmmg and accuracy of information.
o  Facilitate the additional analysis of information. .

o Ephance the ability to monitor the performance of the entity's activities

and its policies and procedures. X
e Reduce the risk that controls will be circumvented.

. mw.s&aom the ability to achieve effective segregation of duties by w.B-
’ EmBasmbm security controls in applications, databases, and operating
systems. oo .
.19 IT also poses specific risks to an mb,aaw_m internal control, F&s&bmw
® Reliance on systems or programs. that are inaccurately procedsing’
data, processing inaccursdte data, or both. -

, e Unauthorized access to data that may result in destruction of @m&w. or
.iziptoper.changes to data, in¢luding,the recording cmﬂbmﬁroﬁwmm or
- nonexistent transactions or inaccurate recording of transactions.

s . Unauthorized changes to data in master files. -

. dbmﬁwro&.umm changes to systems or programs. ' n .
,o‘ M&HEmSBmebmommmEormmem..S .m%.mmmém ,o.nﬁu.omumam.
o.A ,, .

[
x

L

Inappropriaté manual intervention.

. . Potential loss of data. L e Co K

20 The extent and niature of these risks to internal control vary depending
onthe nature and characteristics of theé entity's information system. For exam-
ple, multiple users, either.external or internal; may access.a common database

of information that affects financial reporting. In such circumstances, & Fow. of-
control-at a single user entry point might compromise the security of the entire .

database, potentially resulting.in improper-changes to or destruction of data:

‘When IT personnel or users are given, or can gain, access privileges beyond

those necessary to perform their assigned duties, a breakdown in segregation
of duties can occur. This could result in unauthorized transactions or changes
to programs or data that affect the financial statements. Therefore, the nature
and characteristics of an entity's use of IT in its information system affect the
entity's internal control. co .

_ over a specified.dollar limit for management review, but individuals responsible

-in designing internal control, the precise measurement of costs and benefits |

. rectors, audit, committee, and internal audit function may constrain improper

Internal Control in a Hinancial Statement AGAIT wcr

Limitations of an Entity’s'Internal Control

.21 Internal control, no matter how well designed and operated, can pro-
vide only reasonable assurance of achieving an entity's control objectives. The
likelihood of achievement is affected by limitations inherent to internal con-
trol. These include the realities that human judgment in decisjon-making can
be faulty and that breakdowns in internal control can oceur because of hu-
man failures such as simple errors or mistakes. For example, errors may occur
in designing, maintaining, or monitoring automated controls. If an entity's IT
personnel do not completely understand how an order entry system processes
sales transactions, they may erroneously design changes to the system to pro-
cess sales for a new line of products. On the other hand, such changes may be
correctly designed but misunderstood by individuals who translate the design
into program code. Errors also may occur in the use of information produced
by IT. For.example, automated controls may be designed to report transactions

for conducting the review may not understand the purpose of such reports and,
accordingly, may fail to review them or investigate unusual items.

. .22 Additionally, controls, whether manual or automated, can be eircum-
vented by the collusion of two or more people or inappropriate management
override of internal control. For example, management may enter into side
‘agreements with customers that alter the terms’and conditions of the entity's
standard sales contract in ways that would preclude revenue recognition. Also,
edit routines in & software program that are designed to identify and report
transactions that exceed specified credit limits may be overridden or disabled.

.23 Internal control is influenced by the quantitative and qualitative es-
timates and judgments made by management in evaluating the cost-benefit
relationship of an-entity's internal control. The cost of an entity's internal con-
trol should not exceed the benefits that are expected to be derived. Although
the cost-benefit relationship is a primary criterion that should be considered-

usually is nof possible.
. £ :

| AOE.WSE‘,, culture, and the .no%om.me@ governance system Bm.% inhikit -
fraud, but they are not absolute deterrents. An effective control envirenment,
too, may help reduce the risk of fraud. For example, an effective board .of di-

conduct by management. Alternatively, the control environment may reduce
the effectiveness of other components, For example, when the nature of man-
agement incentives increases the risk of material misstatement of financial
statements, the effectiveness of control activities may be reduced.

Obtaining an Understanding of Internal Control

.25.In all audits, the auditor should obtain an understanding of each of
the five components of internal control sufficient to plan the audit. A sufficient
understanding is obtained by performing procedures to understand the design
of controls relevant to.an audit of financial statements and determining whether

.,eﬁm%_@gvmmuﬁ_wnm&wsoﬁmwmﬂob..gbugumwmﬁﬁmmﬁ&ﬁmzo_u.wboﬁﬂmmmm
ghould be used to— o . L

- ®  Tdentify types of wowmg.pﬂw.ﬁmw&wﬂmamu? .

®  (Consider factors that affect the risk of material misstatement.

Al 8319.25
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components of internal control, providing discipline and structure. Control en-
vironment factors include the following: . . .

a. Hbeomin%, and ethical values

Commniitment to competence

Board of directors or audit committee participation

Management's philosophy and operating style

Organizational structure .

Assignment of authority and responsibility

g Human resource policies and practices .

.35 The auditor should obtain sufficient knowledge of the eontrol environ-
ment to understand management's and the board of directors' attitude, aware-
ness, and actions concerning the control environment, considering both the
substance of controls and their collective effect. The auditor should congentrate
on ‘the substance of controls rather than their form, because controls may be es-

tablished but not acted upon. For example, management may establish a formal
code of conduct but act in a manner that condones violations of that code.

.36 When obtaining an understanding of the controel environment, the au-
ditor considers the collective effect on the control environment of strengths and
weaknesges in various control environment factors. Management's strengths
and weaknesses may have a pervasive effect on internal control. For exam-
ple, owner-mansager controls roay mitigate a lack of segregation of duties in a
small business, or an active and independent board of diréctors-may influence
the philosophy and operating style of senior management in larger entities.
Alternatively, management's failure to commit sufficient resources to address
security risks presented by IT may adversely affect internal control by allow-
ing improper changes to be made to computer programs. or to data, or by al-
lowing unauthorized transactions o be processed. Similarly, human resource
policies and practices directed towérd hiring competent financial, accounting,
and IT personnel may not mitigate a strong bias by top management to over-
state earnings. -

o

oo

TH P

.

Risk Assessment

.87 An entity's risk asgessment for financial reporting purposes is its iden-
tification, analysis, and management of risks relevant to the preparation of
financial statements that are fairly presented in conformity with generally ac-
cepted accounting principles, For example, rigk assessment may address how
the entity considers the possibility of unrecorded trangactions or identifies and
analyzes significant estimates recorded in the financial statements. Risks rele-

vant to reliable financial reporting also relate to specific everits or transactions.

.38 Risks relevant to financial reporting include external and internal
events and circumstances that may occur and adversely affect an entity's ability
to initiate, record, process, and report financial data consistent with the asser-
tion#-of management in the financial statements.!® Risks can arise or change
dute to circumstances such as the following: - o - -

" e Changesin operating environment '

¢ New personnel .

& New or revamped information systems

]

. Rapid growth

10 These assertions are discussed in section 326.

Internai Control in a Financial Statement Audit SIL

New technology N

New business models, products; or activities-
Corporate restructurings . .
Expanded foreign operations

New accounting pronouncements - ‘

.39 The auditor should obtain sufficient knowledge of the entity's risk as-
sessment process to understand how management considers risks relevant to
financia) reporting ohjectives and decides about actions to address those risks.
This knowledge might include understanding how management identifies risks,
estimates the significance of the risks, assesseés the likelihood of their occur-
rence, and relates them to financial reporting. The use of IT may be an impor-
tant element in an entity's risk assessment process, including providing timely
information to facilitate the identification and management of risks. '

hc >b entity's u..wmw assessment differs from the auditor's consideration of
auditriskina mﬁmﬁﬁ& statement audit. The purpose of an entity's risk assess-
ment is to identify, analyze, and manage risks that affect entity objectives. In

_ afinancial statement audit, the auditor assesses inherent and control risks to

evaludte the likelihood that material hisstatements could oceur in the financial

* gtatements.

Control Activities

41 Control activities are the-policies and procedures that help ensure that
management directives are carried out. They help ensure that necessary actions
are taken to address risks to achievement of the entity's objectives. Control ac-
tivities, whether automated or manual, have various chjectives and are applied
at various-organizational and functional levels. Generally, control activities that
may be relevant to an audit may be categorized as pelicies and procedures that
pertain fo the following:

¢ - Performance reviews

e Information @wo.nmmmmum )

®  Physical controls

®.  Segregation of duties- . L .

.42 The mﬁ&wﬁ‘mﬁcﬁm obtain an understanding of those control activities
relevant to planning the audit. As the auditor obtains an understanding of the
other components, ke or she is also likely to obtain knowledge about some con-

trol activities. For example, in obtaining an understanding of the documents,
records, and processing steps in the financial reporting information system that

e '

pertain to cash, the anditor is likely to become aware of whether bank accounts .

are reconciled. The-auditor should consider the knowledge about the presence or-
absence of control activities obtained from the understanding of the other com-
ponents in determining whether it is necessary to devote additional attention
to obtaining an understanding of control activities to plan the audit. Ordinar-
ily, audit planning does not require an understanding of the control activities
related to each account balance, transaction class, and disclosure component in
the financial statements or to every assertion relevant to therm.

43 The auditor should obtain an understanding of how IT affects control
activities that are relevant to planning the audit. Some entities and auditors
may view the IT control activities in terms of application controls and general
controls. Application controls-apply to the processing of individual mﬁ%omﬂowm..

. Accordingly, application controls relate to the use of IT to initiate, record, pro-

cess, and report transactions or other financial data. These controls help ensure

Al R210 47
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.54 -Monitoring is a process that assesses the quality of internal conttol per-
formance over time. It involves assessing the design and operation of controls
on a timely basis and taking necessary corrective actions. This process is ac-
complished through ongoing activities, separate evaluations, or a combination
of the two. In many entities, internal auditors or personnel performing simi-
lar functions contribute to the moxitoring of an entity's activities. Monitoring
activities may include using information from communications from external
parties such as customer complaints and regulator comments that may indi-
cate problems or highlight areas in need of improvement. In many entities,
much of the information used in monitoring may he -produced by the entity's
information system. If management assumes that data used for monitoring are
accurate without having a basis for that assumption, errors may exist in the
information, potentially leading management to incorrect conclugions from its
monitoring activities. '

56 The auditor should obtain sufficient knowledge of the major types of
activities the entity uses to monitor internal control over financial reporting,
including the source of the information related to- those activities, and how
those activities are used to initiate corrective actions. When obtaining an un-
derstanding of the internal audit function, the auditor should follow the guid-
ance in section 322, The Auditor's Consideration of the Internal Audit Function
in an Audit of Financial Statemenis, paragraphs .04 through .08.7-

Application to Small and Midsized Entities .

.56 The way in which the’ objectives of internal control are achieved will
vary based on an entity's size and, complexity, among other considerations.
Specifically, small-and midsized entities may use less formal means to ensure
that internal control objectives are achieved. For example, smaller entities with
active management. involvement'in the financial reporting process may not
have extensive descriptions of accounting procedures, sophisticated informa-
tion systems, or written policies. Smaller-entities may not have a written code
of conduct-but, instead, develop a culture that emphasizes the importance ofin-
tegrity and ethical behavior through-oral communication and by management
example. Similarly, smaller entities may not have an independent or outside
member on their board of directors. g -

.57 When small or midsized entities are involved in complex ransactions
or are subject to legal and regulatory requirements also found in larger entities,
more formal means of ensuring:that internal control objectivés are achieved
may be present. Also, small and midsized entities may use IT in various ways
to achieve their objectives. For example, a small entity may use sophisticated
applications of IT as part of its information system. The impact of IT en. an

entity's internal -control is. related more to the nature and complexity of the

systems in-use than to the entity's size. F .o

e

Procedures to Obtain Understanding -

.58 In obtaining an understanding of controls that are-relevant to, audit
planning, the auditor should perform procedures to obtain sufficient knowl-
edge about the design of the relevant controls pertaining to each of the five
internal control components and determine whether they have beeri placed in
operation. This knowledge is ordinarily obtained through previous expetience
with the entity.and procedures such as inquiries of appropriate management,
supervisory, and staff personnel; inspection of entity documents and records;

and observation of entity activities and operations. The nature and extent of.

marenin osAa
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the procedures performed geneérally vary from entity to entit ire. influ-
enced d.u%. the size and complexity of gmﬁ&#&..»ﬁm.wﬂp&&ou_m WN.MMMMM MMWMM.
ence with the entity, the nature of the particular control, and the nature of the
entity's documentation of specific controls.

.59 w,owmxwgﬁwm. the auditor's prior experience with the entity may provide
an understanding of its classes of transactions. Inquiries of appropriate entity
wmwmobu& and inspection of documents and records, such as source documents
%.E.mtm. m..um Hmmm.mu.m., may provide an understanding of the accounting Hmno&mw
Similarly, in obtaining an understanding of the design of automated controls
and mm.nmdumﬁabm whether they héave been placed in operation, the auditor may
make inquiries of appropriate entity personnel and inspect relevant systems
aoncupmbwmﬁobv reports (for example, exception reports or reports evidencing
the processing of transactions or application of other controls), or other docu-

mentg.—

.60 The auditor's assessments of inherent risk and j .

8 ! ] judgments.about ma-
teriality for various account balances and transaction &mmmmmw -also N%MSHMWm
nature and extent of .ﬁrm procedures performed to obtain the understanding,
For example, the auditor may conclude that planning the audit of the prepaid

insuranece account does not require specific procedures to be incl i i
ing the understanding of internal control. w fncluded in obtais

: R I e SR
Documenting the Understanding
- .61 The auditor should documient the understanding of the entity's inter-
nal control components obtainéd to plan the audit. The wmﬂ.B and mwwnonwnm,oﬁwww.w
moochﬁb,ﬁmﬁmn is influenced by the nature and complexity of the entity's con-
ﬁow.m. Moa.. meBEﬁ. documentation of the understanding of internal control of a
ooBmuwN ﬁmo.ﬂ.bmﬂou system in which a large volume of transactions sre elec-
\a.oEﬁ.nmE% initiated, recorded, processed, or reported may include flowcharts
questionnaires;-or-decision {ables. For an information system making mﬁ&“mm
or no use of IT or for which few transactions are processed (for example, long-
term .n.m_usw documentation in the form of a memorandum may be mnmm_&wbﬁ
memnwmﬂ& Fm@Bouo ooM.memN %pm entity's internal control and the more exten-
Ve the procedures performed by the auditor, pé iva itor'
@ocﬁﬁmﬂnmﬁg 1ea pe _umwﬁ d by the : the moré extensive the auditor's

Assessing ConfrolRisk =~~~ =~ .

) ..mw Section 326, Evidential Matter, states that most of the independent au-
ditor's work in moad.ﬁnm an opinjon on financial staternents consists of obtaining
and evaluating mﬁ&mb&&. matter conceriiing the assertions in such financial
Statements. ,E:wmm assertions are embodied in the account balante, transac-
tion &mmm, and disclosure corponents of financial statements and mum.&w.wmwmmm
according to the following broad categories:

- )
: x

® “Existence or occurrence
. Qogﬁmwmbmwm _
. Rights and omﬁ,m.waobm
*  Valuation or allocation

® DPresentation and disclosure

AU §319.62
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" In planning and performing an audit, an auditor considers these assertions

N

. misstatement whether caused by error or fraud as discussed in section 812, Audiz Risk and Materiality

.acceptable level by performing only substantive tests for one or more financial

in the context of their relationship to a specific’ account belance or class of
transactions. : N

.63 The risk of material misstatement!! in financial statement assertions
consists of inherent risk, control risk, and detection risk. Inherent risk is the
susceptibility of an assertion to a material misstatement assuming there are
no related controls. Control risk is the risk that a material misstatement that

could occur in an assertion will not be prevented or detected on a-timely basis .

by the entity's internal control. Detection risk ig the risk .that the auditor will
not detect a material misstatement that exists in an assertion.

.84 Assessing control risk ia the process of evaluating the effectivenéss of
an entity's internal control in preventing or detecting material misstatements
in the financial statements. Control rigk should be assessed in terms of financial
staterment assertions:~ - . S T

he or she believes controls are unlikely to'pertain to an assertion or are un-
Yikely to be effective, or because evaluating the effectiveness of controls would
be inefficient. However, the auditor needs to be satisfled that performing only

subsgantive tests would be effective in restricting detection risk to an accept-~

able level. For-example, the auditgg.may determine that perforining.only sub-
stantive tests would be effactive and more efficient than performing tests of
controls for assertions related to fixed assets and t6'long-term debt In an entity
where a limited number of transactions are related to those financial state-
ment compenents, and when the auditor can readily obtain corroborating ev-
idence in the form of documents and confirmations. In circumstances where
the auditor is performing only-substantive tests in restricting detection rigk
to. an acceptable level and where the information used by the auditor to per-
form such substantive tests is produced by the entity's information system,

the auditor should obtain evidence about the accuracy and completeness of the -

information. . L

.86 In other circumstances, the auditor may mm.ﬁmg.u.bm that assessing con-

trol risk below the maximum level for certain assertions would be effective and

more efficient than performing only substantive tests. In addition, the auditor
may determine that it is not practical or possible to restrict detection risk to an

statement assertions. In such circumstances, the auditor should cbtain eviden:
tial matter about the effectiveness of both the design and operation of controls
to reduce the assessed level of control risk.*®

67 In determining ég‘mﬁou mm.m.mm%b.m contral risk at the maximum level
or at a lower leve! would be-an effective approach for specific assertions, the
auditor should consider— , . .

T

¢  The nature of the assertion.

®  The volume of transactions or data related to the assertion.

\

11 For purposes of this section, a material misstatement in a financial statement asgertion is a

in Conducting an Audit, that either individually or when aggregated with other misstatements in other
assertions would be material to the financial statements taken as'a whole. - "
2 footnote 3.

13 footnote 4.

. .85 After obtaining the understanding of internal control, the auditor may _
assess control risk at the maximum level’® for some or all assertions because -

Internal Control in a kinanclay:diatement Auua - s

. & The nature and complexity of the m%m».mﬂ,ﬁm, including the use of IT, by
which the entity processes and controls information supporting the
assertion. .. : .

e Thenature ofthe m<.m&m€m. evidential matter, including audit evidence
that is available only in electronic form.

.68 ‘In circumstances where a significant amount of information supporting
one or more financial statement assertions is electronically initiated, recorded,
processed, or reported, the auditor may determine that it is not possible to
design effective substantive tests that by themselves would provide sufficient
evidence that the assertions are not materially misstated. For such assertions,
significant audit evidence may be available only in electronic form. In such
cases, its competence and sufficiency as evidential matter usually depend on
the effectiveness of controls over its accuracy and completeness. Furthermore,
the potential for improper initiation or alteration of information to occur and
not be detected may be greater if information is initiated, recorded, processed,
or reported only in electronic form and appropriate controls are not operating’

mm.moﬂggHumﬁo&nﬁo&ﬁmﬁﬂom@ww@,mﬁ&.ﬁou mWo&mwmwmowﬁﬁmmamomoobﬂ&m
o gather evidential matter to use in assessing control risk. ’ o

.69 Examples of situations where the mﬁ&«ou._ may find.it impossible to
design effective substantive tests that by themselves would provide sufficient
evidence that certain assertions are not materially misstated include the fol-
lowing: ) )

e - An entity that conducts business using IT to initiate orders for-goods
based on predetermined decision rules and to pay-the related payables
based on system-generated information regarding receiptof goods. No
other documentation of orders ot goods received is produced or main-
tained. ) :

.»  An entity that provides electronic services to.customers {for example,
an Internet service provider or a telephone company) and uses IT to
log services provided.to users, initiate bills for the services, process
the billing transactions, and automatically record such amounts in
electronic accounting records that are used to produce the financial
statements. : : :

»

Assessing Control Risk Below: the Maximum Level
.70 >m._.,mm.mm5m control risk below the maximum level involves—
. Emuﬁ@mum‘.mvm%o controls relevant to specific assertions.
® - Performing tests of aoﬁﬂ.&m. . .

.

. OoboE,&bm on the .mmmmmmmm level of. .ooanm&. rigk.

Ideritifying Specific Conirols Relevant fo Specific Asserfions

.71 The auditor's understanding about internal control should be used to
identify the types of potential misstatements that could occur and to consider
faétors that affect the &.mw of material misstaterhent. Tn assessing conitrol rigk,

" ¥ Section 324 momﬁ.»mmm\ reports that an auditor may obtdin that may assist in identifying controls
relevant to specific assertions and obtaining evidential matter regarding their operating effectiveness
when an entity uses a service-organization: ' . '
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the auditor should identify the controls that are likely to prevent or detect
material misstatement in specific assertions. In identifying controls relevant
to specific financial statement assertions, the auditor should consider that the
controls can have either a pervasive effect on many agsertions or a specific effect
on ax individual assertion, depending on the nature of the particular internal
control component involved, For exarple, the'conclusion that an entity's control

environment is highly effective may influence the auditor's decision about the

1

numberof an entity's locations at which auditing procedures are to be performed
or whether to-perform certain auditing procedures for some account balances or
transaction classes at an interim date, Bither decision affects the way in which

auditing procedures are applied to specific assertions, even though the auditor

may not have specifically considered each individual assertion that is affected
by such decisions. '

72 Conversely, some control dctivities may have a specific efféct on an
individual assertion embodied in a particular account balance or transaction
class. For example, the control activities that an entity established to ensure
that its personnel are properly counting and recording the annual physical
inventory relate directly to the existence assertion for the inventory account
balance. . : . .

* 78 Controls can be either directly or indirectly related to an assertion.
The more indirect the. relationship, the less effective that control ray be in
reducing control risk for that assertion. For example, a sales manager's review
of & summary of sales activity for specific stores by region ordinarily is indirectly
related to the completeness assertion for sales revenue. Accordingly, it may be
less. effective in reducing control: rigk,for that assertion-than controls more
directly.related to that assertion, such as matching shipping documents with
billing documients. Cowe - N . .

/74 General controls relate to many applications and support the effective
functioning of application controls by helping to ensure the continued proper
operation of information systems. The auditor should consider the need to iden-

ify not only application controls directly related to one‘or more assertions, but
algo relevant general controls.. : . : : o

'
2

Performing Tests of Controls .

775 Procedures directed toward evaluating the effectiveness of the design
“of & control are concerned with whether that control is suitably dedigned: to
prevent or detect material misstatements in specific financial statement asser-
tions. Procedures to obtain such evidential matter-ordinarily inchide iniquiries
of appropriate entity personnel; inspection of documents, reports, or electronic
files; and observation. of the application of specific controls. For entities with
complex internal control, the auditor should congider the use of flowcharts,
questionnaires, or decision tables to facilitate the application of procedures di-
rected toward evaluating the effectivéness of the design of a control. .

.76 Procedures to obtain evidentizl matter about the effectivenessiof the

operation of a control are referred to as tests of controls (paragraphs .90 through
.104 of this section discuss’ characteristics of evidential matter to.consider
when performing tests of controls). Tests of controls directed toward the oper-
ating effectiveness of a control are concerned with bow the control (whether
manual or automated) was applied, the consistency with which it was ap-
plied during the’audit period, and by, whom it was applied. These tests ordi-
narily include procedures such as inquiries of appropriate entity personnel;
inspection of documents, reports, or electronic files, indicating performance

R A )
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of the control; 'observation of the application.of the control; and reperformance

- of the application of the control by the auditor. In some circumstances, a specific

procedure may address.the effectiveness of both design and.operation. Howaver,
a combination of procedures may be necessary to evaluate the effectiveness of
the design or operation of a control.

.77 Tn designing tests of automated controls, the auditor should consider
the need to obtain evidence supporting the effective operation of controls di-
rectly related to the assertions as well as other indirect cantrols on which these
controls depend. For example, the auditor may identify a "user review of an
exception report of credit sales over a customer's authorized credit imit" as a
direct control related to an assertion. In such cases, the auditor should consider
the effectiveness of the user review of the report and also the controls related to

v

the accuracy of the information in the report (for example, the general controls).

78 Because of the inherent consistency of IT processing, the auditor may
be able to reduce the extent of testing of an automated control. For example,
a programmed application control should function consistently unless the pro-
gram (including the tables; files, or other permanent data used by the program)
is changed. Once the auditor determines that an automatéd ‘control ig func-
tioning as intended (which could be done at the time the contrel is initially
implemented or at some other date), the auditor should :consider performing
testa to determine that the control continues to function effectively. Such tests
might inchide determining that changes.to the program are not made without
being subject to the appropriate program chiange controls, that the authorized
version of the program is used for processing transactions; and that other rele-
vant general controls are effective. Such tests also might include determining
that changes to the programs have not been made, as may be the case when the
entity uses packaged software applications without. modifying or maintaining

‘them.

N

* . 79 To test automated controls, the auditor may need to use techniques that

are different from those used to test manual controls. For-exainple, computer-

" assisted audit techniques may be used to test automated controls or data re-

lated to assertions. Also, the auditer may use other automated tools or reports

-produced by IT to test the operating effectiveness of general controls, such as

program change controls, access controls, and system software controls. The
auditor should consider whether specialized skills are needed to design and
perform such tests. of controls.

No:&e.&..:@. on the Assessed Level of Control Risk

.80 The conclusion reached as a result of assessing control risk is referred
16 &5 the assessed level of control risk. In determining the evidential matter nec-
éssary to support an assessed level of control risk'below the maximum level, the
anditor should consider the characteristics of evidential matter about control
risk discussed in paragraphs .90 'through .104. Generally, however, the lower

“the assessed level of control risk, the greater the assurance the evidential mat-

ter must, provide that the controls relevant to an assertion are designed and
operating effectively. . - ;

* 81 The auditor uses the assessed level of control risk (together with the as-
sessed.level of inherent risk) to determine the acceptablelevel of detection risk
for financial statement assertivns. Theauditor uses the acceptable level of dete-
ction rigk to.determine the nature, timing, and extent of the auditing procedures

All 8319.81
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to be applied to the account balance or class of transactions to detect, material
misstatements in the financial statement assertions.. Auditing procedures de-
signed to detect such misstatements are referred to in this section as substan-
tive tests. i S L .

.82 As the acceptable level of detection risk mmo,w.mmmmmv.nmm assurance pro-
vided from substantive tests should increase. Consequently, the auditor may
do one or more of the following: C

e  Change the nature of substantive tests from aless effective to a more
effective procedure, such as using tests directed toward independent
parties outside the entity rather than tests directed toward parties or
documentation within the entity. . T .

o.Owgmwﬁumﬁgmbmommsmmﬁmbw?m&mmwm,mﬁowwm vﬁwmoﬁawbmgmﬁ mm
vear end rather than at an interim date. S .
" & Change the extent of substentive tests, such as using a larger sample
size. : . i .

Documenting the Assessed Level of Control Risk

.88. Tri addition to the documentation of the understanding of internal con-
‘trol discussed in paragraph..61, the auditor should document his or her conclu-
gions about the assessed level of control risk. Conclusions.about the assessed

level of control risk may differ as they relate to various-account balancés.or

classes of transactions. For those financial statement assertions - where control
risk is assessed atthe maximum level, the auditor should document his or her
conclusion that control risk is at the maximum level but need not document

the basis for that conclusion. For those assertions where the assessed level of

_ control risk is below the maximum level, the auditor: should document the basis
for his or her conclusion that the effectiveness of the design and operation of
controls supports that assessed level. The hature and extent of the auditor's
documentation. are influenced by the assessed level of contral risk, the nature
of the entity's internal control, and the nature of the entity's. documentation of
internal control. .

.xn,_m\*mo:mrmw. of c:mm_ﬁo:&:m_ 3 >.m$_mmm=u
Control Risk - | S

.84 Althéugh understanding internal control and assessing control risk
are discussed separately in this section, they may be performed concurrently
in an audit. The objective of procedures performed t6 obtain an understand-
.ing of internal control (discussed in paragraphs .58 through .60).is to pro-
vide the auditor with knowledge necessary for audit planning. The-objective

of teste of controls {discussed in paragraphs .76 through .79) is to provide -

the auditor with evidential matter to use in assessing control risk. However,
procedures performed to achieve one objective may also pertain.to the other
objective. ’ . ’ .

.85 Based on the assessed level of control risk the auditor expects to sup-
port and audit efficiency considerations, the auditor often plansto perform
some tests of controls concurrently with obtaining the understanding of in-
ternal control. In addition, even though some of the procedures performed to
obtain the understanding were not specifically planned -as tests of -controls,
they may nevertheless provide evidential matter about the effectiveness of
both the design and operation of the controls relevant to certain agésertions.For

il £910 09 .
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example, because of the inherent consistency, of IT processing, performing pro-
cedures to determine whether an automated control has been placed in oper-

_ ation may serve as a test of that control's operating effectiveness, depending

on such factors as whether the program has been changed or whether there
is a significant risk of unauthorized change or other improper intervention.
Also, in obtaining an understanding of the control environment, the auditor
may have made inquiries about management's use of budgets, observed man-
agement's comparison of monthly budgeted and actual expenses, and inspected
reports pertaining to the investigation of variances between budgeted and ac-
tual amounts. Although these procedures provide knowledge about the design
of the entity's budgeting policies and whether they have been placed in oper-
ation, they may also provide evidential matter about the effectiveness of the
operation of budgeting policies in preventing or detecting material misstate-
ments in the classification of expenses. In some circumstances, that evidential
matter may be sufficient to support ari assessed level of control risk that is below

the maximum level for the presentation and disclosure assertions pertaining

to expengses in the income statement.

.86 When the auditor concludes that procedures pérformed to obtain the.
understanding of internal control also provide evidential matter for assessing
control risk, he or she should consider the guidance in paragraphs .90 through
.104 in judging the degree of assurance provided by that evidential matter. Al-
though such evidential matter may not provide sufficient assurance to support
an assessed level oF control risk that is below the maxinium level for certain
assertions, it may-do o for other assertions and thus provide & basis for modify-
ing the nature, timing, or extent of the substantive tests that the auditor plans
forthose assertions.-However, such procedures are not sufficient to support.an
‘assessed level of control risk below the maximu level if they do not provide
sufficient evidential matter to evaluate the effectiveness of both the design and
operation of a control relevant to an assertion. :

Further Reduction in the Assessed Level of Control Risk - -

87 After obtaining the understanding of iaternal control and asgessing
control risk, the auditor may desire to further reduce the assessed level of
control risk for certain assertions. In such cases, the auditor considers whether
additional evidential matter sufficient to support a further reduction is likely
to be available, and whether it would be.efficient to perform tests of controls
to obtain that evidential matter. The results of the procedures pérformied’ to

obtain the understanding of internal control, as well as pertinent information

from other sources, help the auditor to evaluate thosé two factors.

.88 In considering efficiency, the auditor recognizes that additional evi-
dential matter that supports a further reduction in the assessed level of control
#isk for an assertion would result in less audit.effort for the substantive tests of
that assertion. The auditor weighs the-incréase in audit effort associated with
the additional tests of controls that is nedessary to obtain such evidential mat-
ter against the resulting decrease in audit effort associated with' the reduced
substantive tests. } ) S ’

89 For those assertions for which the auditor performs additional tests
of controls, the anditor determines the assessed level of contro} risk that the
results of those tests will support. This assessed level of cortrol risk is used in
determining the appropriate detection risk to accept for those assertions and,
accordingly, in determining the nature, tinding; and extent of substantive tests
for such assertions. . ’ ) .
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Evidential Matter fo Support the Assessed Level of
Control Risk | A .

.90 When the auditor assesses control risk below the maximum level, he
or she should obtain sufficient evidential matter to support that assessed level.
The evidential matter!® that is sufficient to support a specific assessed level of
control risk is a matter of judgment. Evidential matter varies substantially in
the assurance it provides to the auditor as he or she develops an assessed level
of control risk, The type of evidential matter, its source, its timeliness, and the
existence of other evidential matter related to the conclusion to which it leads
all bear on the degree of assurance evideritial matter provides.

.91 These characteristics influence the nature, timing, and extent of the
tests of controls that the auditor applies to obtain evidential matter about con-
trol-risk. The auditor selects such tests from a variety of techniques such as
inquiry, observation, inspection, and reperformance of a control that periains
to an assertion. No one specific test of controls is always necessary, applicable,
or equally effective in every circumstance. )

Type of Evidential Matter

92 The nature of the particular conitrols that pertain to an assertion influ-
ences the type of evidential matter that is available to evaluate the effectiveness
of the design or operation of those controls..For some controls, documentation of

design or operation may exist. In such circumstances, the auditor may decide to .

inspect the documentation to obtain evidential. matter about the effectiveness
of design or operation. _

98 For other controls, however, such documentation may not be available
or relevant. For example, documentation. of design or operation may not exist
for seme factors in the control environment, such as assignment of authority
and responsibility, orforsome types of control activities; such as undecumented
monitoring controls or control activities performed by a computer. In such cir-
cumstances, evidential matter about the effectiveness -of design or operation
may be obtained through such methods as observation, inquiry, .or the use of
computer-assisted audit techniques. : R

;

Source of Evidential Matter .

.94 Generally, evidential matter about the effectiveness of the design and
operation of controls obtained directly by the auditor, such as through obger-
vation, provides more assurance than evidential matter obtained indirectly or
by inference, such as through inquiry. For example, evidential matter that is
obtained by the auditor's direct personal observation of the individual who ap-
plies a control generally provides more assurance than making inquiries about
the application of the control. The auditor should consider, however, that the
observed application of a control might not be performed in the same manner
when the auditor is not present. ,

c3-

A 95 anuh,% alone generally will not provide sufficient evidential matter to
mﬁuvog a conclusion about the effectiveness of design or operation. of a spe-
cific control. When the auditor determines that a specific control may have

15 See also section 326 for guidance on evidential matter.

\lJ 832198.90
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a significant effect in reducing controlrisk to a low level for a specific agsertion,
he or she ordinarily needs to perform additional tests to obtain sufficient evi-
dential matter to support the conclusion about the effectiveness of the design
or operation of that control. :

Timeliness of Evidential Matter
.96 The timeliness of the evidential matter concerns when it was obtained
and the portion of the audit period to which it applies. In evaluating the degree

.of assurance that is.provided by evidential matter, the auditor should consider

that the evidential matter obtained by some tests of controls, such as observa-
tion, pertains only to the point in time at which the mﬁ&mbm. procedure was
applied. Consequently, such evidential matter may be insufficient to evaluate
the effectiveness of the design or operation of controls for periods not subjected
to such tests. In such circumstances, the auditor may decide to supplement
those tests with other tests of controls that are capable of providing evidential
matter about the entire audit period. For example, for an application control
performed by a computer program, the auditor may test the operation of the
control at a particular point in time to obtain evidential matter about whether
the control is-operating effectively at that point in time. The auditor may then
perform tests of controls directed toward obtaining evidential matter about
whether the application control operated consistently during the audit period,
guch as tests of general controls pertaining to the modification and use of that
computer program during the audit period.

.97 Evidential matter about the effective design or operation of controls
that was obtainied in prior audits may be considered by the auditor in assessing
control Tisk in the current-audit, To evaluate the use of such evidential matter
for the current audit, the auditor should consider the significance of the asser-
tion involved, the specific controls that were evaluated during the prior audits,
the degree to which the effective design and operation of those controls were
gvaluated, the results of the tests of controls used to make those evaluations,
and the evidential matter about design or operation that may result from sub-

stantive tests performed in the current audit. The auditor should alsc consider

that the longer the time elapsed since tests of controls were performed to obtain
evidential matter about control risk, the less asstirance. they may provide. -

.98 When considering evidential matter obtained from prior audits, the
auditor should obtain evidential matter in the current period about whether
changes have occurred in internal control, including it policies, procedures, and
personnel, subsequent to the prior audits, as well as the nature and extent of
any such changes. For example, in performing the prior audit, the auditor may

* haye determined that an automated control was functioning as intended. The

auditor should obtain evidence to determine whether changes to the automated
control have been made that would affect its continued effective functioning.
Consideration of evidential matter about these changes, together with the con-
siderations in the preceding paragraph, may.support either increasing or de-
creasing the evidential matter about the effectiveness of design and operation
to be obtained in the current period. . .

.99 When the auditor obtains evidential matter about the design or oper-
ation of controls during an interim period, he or she should determine what
additiona] evidential matter should be obtained for the remaining peried. In
making that determination, the auditor ghould consider the significance of
the assertion involved, the specific controls that were evaluated during the

interim period, the degree to which the effective design and operation. of those
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sontrols were evaluated, the results of the tests of controls used to make that
svaluation, the length of the remaining period, and the ‘evidential matter. about
jesign or operation that may result from the substantive tests performed in the
-emaining period. The auditor should obtain evidential matter about the nature
and extent of any significant changes in internal control, including its policies,
srocedures, and personnel, that eccur subsequent to the interim period.

Interrelationship of Evidential Matter

100 The auditor should consider the combined effect of various types of
evidential matter relating to the same assertion in evaluating the degree of as-
sursncethat evidential matter provides. In some circumstances, a single type of
evidential matter may not be sufficient to evaluate the effective design or oper-
ation.of a control, To obtain sufficient evidential matter in such circumstances,
the auditor may perform other tests of controls pertaining to that control. For
example, an auditor may observe the procedures for opening the mail and pro-
cessing cash receipts to evaluate the operating effectiveness of controls over
cash receipts. Because an observation is'pertinent only at the point in time at
which it is made, the auditor may supplement the observation with inquiries of
entity personnel and inspection of documentation about the operation of such
controls.at other times during the audit period.

.101 In addition, when evaluating the degree of ‘assurance cﬂw«mm&.v%
evidential matter, the auditor should consider the interrelationship of an en-
tity's control environment, risk assessment, control activities, information and
communication, and monitoring. Although an individual internal control com-
ponent may affect the nature, timing, or extent of substantive tests for a specific
financial statement assertion, the auditor should consider the evidential mat-
ter about an individual component in relatiop to the evidential matter about
the other components in assessing control risk for a specific assertion.

102 Generally, when various types-of evidential matter support the'same.
conclusion about the design or operation of a control, the degree of dssurante
provided increases. Conversely, if varigus types of evidential rhatter lead 'to
different conclusions about the design or operation of & control, the assiirance

_provided decreases. For example, based on the evidential matter that the'control
envifonment is effective, the’auditor may have reduced the number of locations
at which auditing procedures will be performed. If, however, when evaluating
specific control activities, the auditor obtains evidential matter that such ac-

tivities are ineffective, he or she may ré-evaluate bis or her conclusion about -

?maowﬁu&mb&ogmbﬁmwﬁmaobm.ogoawEhm.m..mmoﬁmg umumou.Bwa&mbm
procedures at additional locations. : .

7,108 Similarly, evidentis]l matter indicating that the control environment
is ineffective may adversely affect an otherwise effective control for a particular
assertion. For example, a control environment that is likely to permit unautho-

rized changes in a computer program may reduce the assurance provided by -

evidential matter-obtained from evaluating the effectiveness of the program
at a particular point in time. In such circumstances, the auditor may decide
to obtain additional evidential matter about the design and operation of that
program during the audit period. For example, the auditor might obtain and
control & copy of the program and use computer-assisted audit techniques to
compare that copy with the program that the entity uses to process data.

104 An audit of mb.mb&&. statements is a cumulative process; as the au-
ditor assesses control risk, the information obtained may cause him or her to
modify the nature, timing, or extent of the other planned tests of controls for
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assessing control risk. In addition, information may come to the auditor's at-

tention as a result of performing substantive tests or from other sources during

_the audit that differs significantly from the information on which his or her

planned tests of controls for assessing control risk were based. For example,
the. extent of misstatements that the auditor detects by performing substan-
tive tests may alter hisor her judgment about the agsessed level of control risk.
In such circumstances, the auditor may need to re-evaluate the planned sub-
stantive procedures, based on a revised consideration of the asgessed level of

control risk for all or some-of the financial statement assertions.

Correlation of Contro! Risk With Detection Risk

105 The ultimate purpose of assessing control risk is to contribute to the
auditor's evaluation. of the risk that material misstatements exist in the finan-
cial statements. The process of assessing control risk (together with assessing
inherent risk) provides evidential matter about the risk that such misstate-
ments may exist in the financial statements. The auditor uses this evidential
matter as part of the reasonable basis for an.ppinion referred to in the third
standard of field work, which follows: .

Sufficient 85%3&.“ a&m.mbﬁ.&,Bwﬁmu is to be obtained through inspection,
observation, inguiries, and confirmations to afford a reasonable basis for an
‘opinion regarding the financial statements under audit.

' 106 After considering the level to which he or she seeks to restrict the
risk of a material misstatement in the financial statements arid the assessed
levels of inherent risk and control risk, the auditor performs substantive tests
to restrict detection risk to an acceptable level. As the assessed level of control
risk decreases, the acceptable level of detection risk increases. Accordingly,
the auditor may alter the nature, timing, and extent of the substantive tests
performed. i ’ L

107 -Although'the invetserelationship between control risk and detection
risk may permit the auditor to thange-the nature ot the timing of substantive
tests or limit their extent, ordinarily the assessed level of control risk cannot
be sufficiently low to elifninate the need to perform any substantive tests to
restrict detection risk for all-of the-assertions relevant to gignificant account
palances or transaction classes. Consequently, regardless of the assessed level of
control risk, the auditor should perform substantive tests for significant account -
balances and transaction classes. ) . .

.108 The substantive tests that the auditor performs ‘consist of tests of

* details of transactions and balances, and analytical procedures. .HPmmmmmmmbm
. control risk, the auditor also may use tests of details of transactions as tests

5 controls. The objective of tests of details of transactions peirformed as sub-
stantive tests is to detect material misstatements in the financial statements.
The objective of tests of details of transactions performed as tests of controls
'is to eyaluate whether a control. operated effectively. Although these.objectives
are different, both may be accomplished concurrently through performance of 2
test of details on the same transaction. The auditor ‘should recognize, however,’

that careful consideration should be given to the design and evaluation of such

. tests to ensure that both objectives - will be accomptished.

Effective Dafe = : |
.109- This amendment is effective for audits of financial .mﬁmnoSm.uﬁm for
periods beginning on or after June 1, 2001. Earlier application is permissible.
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Appendix

Internal Control Components
1

Control Environment
2

This appendix discusses the five internal control components set forth

* in paragraph .07 and further described in paragraphs .34 through .57

as they relate to a financial statement audit.

The control environnent sets the tone of an organization, influencing
the control conscioushess of its people. It is the foundation for all other
components of internal control, providing discipline and structure.

The control environment encompasses the following factors:

a. Integrity and ethical values. The effectiveness of controls cannot
rise above the integrity and ethical values of the people who cre-
ate, administer, and monitor them. Integrity and ethical values
are essential elements of the control environment, affecting the
design, administration, and monitoring of other components. In-
tegrity and ethical behavior are the product of the entity's ethical
and behavioral standards, how they are communicated, and how
they are reinforced in practice. They include management's ac-
tions to remeve or reduce incentives and temptations that might
prompt personnel to engage in dishonest, illegal, or unethical acts.
They also include the communication of entity values and behav-

* joral standards to personnel through policy statements and codes
of conduct and by example.

B. Commitment to competence, Competence is the knowledge and
gkills necessary to accomplish tasks that define the individual's
job.. Commitment to competence includes. management's consid-
eration of the competence levels for particular jobs and how those
levels translate into requisite skills and knowledge.

¢. Board of directors or audit comittee participation. An entity's
control consciousness is influenced significantly by the entity's
board of directors or audit committee, Attributés include the board
or audit committee's independence from management, the ex-

perience and stature of its members, the extent of its involve-

ment and scrutiny of activities, the appropriateness of its actions,
the degree to which. difficult questions are raised and pursued
with management, and its interaction with internal and external
auditors. .. . .

d. Management's philosophy and operating style. Management's phi+
losophy and operating style encompass a broad range of charac:
teristics. Such characteristics may include the following: manage-
.ment's approach to taking and monitoring business risks; man-
agement's attitudes and actions toward financial reporting (con-
servative or aggressive selection from available alternative ac-
counting principles, and conscientiousness and conservatism with
which accounting estimates are developed); and managemeént's
attitudes toward information processingand accounting functions
and personnel. . T
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e. Organizational structure.” An entity's organizational structure
- provides the framework within which its activities for achieving
entity-wide objectives are planned, executed, controlled, and mon-
itored. Establigshing a relevant organizational structure includes
. considering key areas of authority and responsibility and appro-
priaté lines of reporting. An entity develops an orgemizational
structure suited to its needs. The appropriateness of an entity's
organizational structure depends, in part, on its size and the na-
ture of its activities, :

f  Assignment of authority and responsibility. This factor includes
_ how authority and responsibility for operating activities are as-
signed and how reporting relationships and authorization hier-
archies are established. It also includes policies relating to ap- -
propriate businéss practices, knowledge and experience of key
personnel, and resources provided for carrying out duties. In ad-
dition, it includes policies and communications directed at ensur-
ing that all personnel understand the entity's objectives, know
how their individual actions interrelate and contribute to those
_objectives, and recognize how and for what they will be held
accountable. : ,

g Human resource policies and practices. Human resource policies
and practices relate to hiring, orientation, training, evaluating,
counseling, promoting, compensating, and remedial actions. For
example, standards for hiring the most qualified individuals—

. with emphasis on educational background, prior work experi-
ence, past accomplishments, and-evidence of integrity and eth-
ical behavior—demonstrate an entity's commitment to compe-

- tent and trustworthy people. Training policies that communi-

- cate proepective roles and responsibilities and include practices
such as-training schools and seminars illustrate expected lev-
els of performance and behavior. Promotions driven by periodic
performance appraisals demonstrate the entity's commitment
to-the advancement of qualified personnel to higher levels of
responsibility. : . . g

>rv=nnmo= to Small and Midsized Entities

4, Small and midsized entities may implement the control environment

factors differently than larger entities. For example, smaller entities

.might not have a written code of conduct but, instead, develop a cul-

ture that emphasizes the importance of integrity and ethical behavior -
through oral communication and by managemient example. Similarly;

. smaller entities may not have an independent or outside member on

their board of directors. -

Risk Assessment .

5. An entity's risk asbessment for financial reporting purposes is its
. -identification, analysis, and management of risks relevant to the

preparation of financial stabéments that are fairly presented in con-
formity 'with generally accepted accounting principles. For exam-
ple; risk ‘assessment may address how the entity considers the pos-

pibility: of unrecorded transactions or identifies and - analyzes sig-

nificant estimates recorded in the financial statements. Risks rele-
vant to reliable financial reporting. also relate to specific events. or

_transactions.
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.+ .The Standards of Field Work - R T

Rigks relévant- to financial reporting include external and internal -

events and circumstances that may occur and adversely .Nm.maﬁ an en-
tity's ability to initiate, record, process, mﬂm report financial data con-,
sistent with the assertions of management in the mbm..bn.p& mamngmﬁﬁm.
Once risks are identified, management considersitheir significance, the
likelihood of their occurrence, and how they should be managed. Man-

agement may initiate plans, programs, or actions to address specific

risks or it may decide to accept a risk because of cost or other consid-
erations. Risks can arise or change due to circumstances such as the
following: :

e Changes in operating environment. Changes in the H.mm_b.maoﬁ. or
- operating environment can result in changes in competitive pres-
sures and significantly different risks.

L4 st personnel. New personnel may have a different focus on or
* . understanding of internal control.

e New or revamped 5%339&0.: systems. Significant and .H.mﬁm
changes in information systems can change the risk relating to
internal control. -

® - Rapid growth. Significant and rapid expansion om, ovwamemobm can
mﬁ.wwb controls and increase the risk of a: breakdown in Suﬂn.&m.

e New «mnwz&om?. Hbao%mumﬁbm. new technologies into production

processes or information systems may change the risk associated
with internal control. ,

o _New business E.o&_&w -products, or .pn&&amm. mw«mw.mbm. into ,auumw-
ness: areas or ﬂmumm&oum with which- an entity has little
experience may introduce new risks associsted with internal
control, : : . S .

. O.o_%ow&@ smm?:&:m.m:w.m. Wmmﬁwﬁoﬂﬁ%.mm may be mooou.%wﬂmmm
" by staff reductions and changes in supervision and segregation

of duties that may change the risk wmm.onwmamm. with wb_mm.u,ump .

control.

- .. & Expanded foreign operations. The .mMcmbm,.wcu or acquisition of for-

eien operations carriés new and oftenuniqué risks that may affect
EMMBHM control, forexample, additional o«.ovmﬁm.mm risks from for-
eigp currency ﬂmﬂmmﬁmoum. - B A :

e New accounting pronouncements. Adoption of new accounting

. Application to Small and Midsized Entifies
7.

principles or changing accounting principles may affect risks in
preparing financial statements. S

O

. The basic. concepts of the risk assessment process should be present
in every entity, regardless of size, but the .Emw.mmmmmmﬁmu.z process is
likely to be less formal and Jess structured in small .wun..Bamem ww.ﬂ-
ties than in larger ones. All entities should have mmﬁmwfmwmm finencial
reporting objectives, but they may be HmBmHEmm implicitly rather then
explicitly in smaller entities. Management may ke able 8..3»3 about
risks related to these objectives through direct personal involvement
with employees and outside parties.

internai Control 1n a rnanclal :>Iiaremient Aualt

" Control Activities’ R B

8.

Control activities are the policies and pro cedures that help ensure that
necessary actions are taken to address risks {o achievement of the
entity's objectives. Control activities, whether automated or manual,

have verious objectives and are applied at various organizational and |
functional levels. .

Generally, control activities that may be relevant to an audit may be
categorized as policies and procedures that'pertain to the following:

®  Performance reviews. These control activities' include reviews of
actual performance versus budgets, forecasts, and prior period per-

. formance; relating different sets of date—operating or financial—
to one another, together with aralyses of the relationships and
investigative and corrective actions; and review of functional or
activity performance, such as a bank's consumer Joan manager's
review of reports by branch, region, and loan type for loan ap- -
provals and collections. '

e Information processing. A variety of controls are performed to

check accuracy, completeness, and authorization of transactions.
The two broad groupings of information systems control activ-
ities are application -controls :and genersl controls. Application

" controls apply to the processing of individual applications. These
controls help ensure that, transactions occurred, are authorized,
and are completely and aceurately recorded and processed. Gen-
eral controls commonly include controls over data center and net~
work operations; system software acquisition and maintenance;
access security; and application system acquisition, development,
and maintenance. These controls apply t¢ mainframe; miniframe,
and end-user enviroriments. Examples. of such general controls
_ are program change controls, controls that restrict access to pro-
- grams or data, controls over the.implementation of new: releases of
packaged software applications, and controls.over system goftware

© ‘that restrict accegs to or monitor the use of system utilities that

.ooﬁmn_umbmmmbmbam.&mm«mownmooumm..igoﬁpmm&bmg Nﬁ&e
o trail., o . S .

e Physical controls. These activities encompassthe physical security

of assets, including adequate safeguards such as secured facilities,
over access to assets and records; authorization for,access to com-
.puter programs and data files; and periodic counting and compar-
ison with amounts shown on control records. The extent to which
physical controls intended to prevent theft of assets are relevent
* to the reliability-of financial statement preparation, and there-
fore the audit, depends on circumstances such as when assets are
highly susceptible to misappropriation. For example, these con-
trols would ordinarily not be relevant when any inventory losses
would be detected pursuant to periodic physical"inspection and
recorded in the financial statements. However, if for financial re-
porting purposes management relies solely on perpetual inventory
records, the physical sectirity controls would be relevant to the
audit. NS

. .me‘.mwnmo.v of &u&mm..’?m.m»mabm different people the responsi-

bilities of authorizing transactions, recording transactions, and

AU'8319.110
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Application to Small and Midsized Entities

10.

Information and Communication - o
An information system consists of infrastructure (physical and bard-’

11.

12.

13.

" tion of authority for approving credit sales, significant purchases, and

- a few employees, however, may be able to assigd their responsibili-

" ware comporients), software, people, procedures {(rhanual and auto-

* measurement, valuation, summarization, and reconciliation, whether

: . The.Standards of Field Work e

maintaining custody of assets is intended to reduce the.opportu-
nities to allow any person to be in a position to both perpetrate

and conceal errors or fraud in the normal course of his or her .

‘duties.

The concepts underlying control activities in small or midsized orga-
nizations are likely to be similar to those in larger entities, but the for-
mality with which they operate varies. Further, smaller entities may
find that certain types of control activities are not relevant because of
controls applied by management. For example, management's reten-

draw-downs on lines of credit can provide strong control over those
activities, lessening or removing the need for more detailed control ac-
tivities. An appropriate segregation of duties often appears to present
difficulties in smaller organizations. Even ‘companies that have only
ties to achieve appropriate segregation or, if that is not possible, to use
management oversight of the incompatible activities to achieve control
objectives. o M : .

mated), and data. Infrastructure and software will be absent, or have
less significance, in systems that are exclusively of primarily man-
ual, Many information systems make extensive use of information
technology. R :

The information system relevant to financial reporting objectives,

_which inclizdes the- accounting system, consiste of the procedures, ™
~ whether automated or manual, and records established to initiate,

record, process, and report entity transactions (as well as events and
conditionis) and tc maintain accountability for the related assets, li-
abilities, and equity. Transactions may be initiated manuelly or au-
tomatically by programmed procedures. Recording includes identify-
ing and capturing the relevant information for transactions or events.
Processing includes functions such as edit and validation, ealculation,

performed by automated or manual procedures. Reporting relates to
the preparation of financial reports as well as other information, in
electronic or printed format, that the entity uses in monitoring and
other functions. The quality of system-generated: information affects
thanagement's ability to make appropriate decisions in managing and
controlling the entity's activities and to prepare reliable financial
reports. . . ’ : .

Accordingly, an information system encomp agses methods and records
that— N . o .

o Identify and H.mooww E:.m“mm nwwwmmoﬂaﬁm..

e Describe on a timely basis the transactions in sufficient de-
. tail to permit proper classification of transactions for financial
reporting. .

14.

15.

Internal Control in 2 Financial Statement Auult

e Measure the value of transactions in a ‘manner that permits
: H..mnoﬂ&bm their proper monetary value in the financial statements.

. Determine the time period in which transactions occurred to per-

mit recording of transactions'in the proper accounting period.

e Present properly the transactions wﬁmumwmam%&mowomﬁumwms.ﬁrm
financial statements. : - :

Communication involves providing an understanding of individual
roles and responsibilities pertaining to internal control over financial
reporting. It includes the extent to which personnel understand how

" their activities in the financial reporting information system relate to

the work of pthers and the means of reporting m.Mnmv.._moPm to an appro-
priate higher-level within the entity. Open communication c¢hannels
help ensure that exceptions are reported and acted on.

Communication takes such forms as policy manuals, accounting and
financial reporting manuals, and memoranda. Communication also
can be made electronically, orally, and through the actions of manage-
ment. o

Application to Small and Midsized Entifies -

16.

“Monitoring
17.

1

1

8.

9

Information systems in small or midsized organizations are likely
to be less formal than in larger organizations, but their role is just
as significant. Smaller entities with active management involvement .

. may not need extensive descriptions of accounting procedures, sophis-

ticated accounting records, or written ‘policies. Communication may
be less formal and easier to achieve in a small or midsized com-
peny than in a larger enterprise due to the smaller organization's
size and fower levels as well as management's greater vigibility and
avgilability. - '

.

Monitoring is a process that assesses the quality of internal control
performance over time. It involves assessing the design and operation
of controls on-a timely basis and taking necessary corrective actions.
This process is accomplished through ongoing monitoring activities,
separate evaluations, or a combination of the two.

Ongoing monitoring activities are built into the normal recurring ac-
tivities of an entity and include regular management and supervi-
sory activities. Managers of snles, purchasing, and production at di-
visional and corporate levels are in touch with operations and may
question reports that differ significantly from their knowledge of
operations. .

In many entities, internal auditors or personnel performing gimilar
functions contribute fo the monitering of an entity's activities through
separate evaluations. They regularly provide information about the
functioning of internal control, focusing considerable attention on eval-
uating the design and operation of internal control. They communicate
information about strengths and weaknesses and Tecommendations
for improving internal control. .

AU §319.110
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. -'1.20." Monitoring activities may include: using information from communi-

- cations from-external wmuﬁmm Customers implicitly.corroborate billing-

data by paying their invoices or complaining about their nWmHMmm In
- addition, regulators may.communicate with the-entity concerning mat-
ters that affect the functioning of internal control, for example, com-
munications concerning éxaminations by bank H.om&mnou% agencies.
Also, management may consider communications relating to internal
control from external auditors in performing monitoring activities.

>vv=3=a=.€ Small and Midsized Entities. - .

21. Ongoing monitoring activities of small and midsized entities are more _

likely tobe informal and are typically performed as a part ofthe overall
management of the entity's operations. Management's close involve-
ment-in ovoumﬂowm often will identify significanit variances from ex-
@mﬁ.&uonm and inaccuracies in mEmemH mmwm..

. [The next page is 871.] "
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Consideration of Internal Control in a
Financial Statement Audit: Auditing
Interpretations of Section 319

M.l >:m:.no=...&m3=o=u for the Year 2000 Issue [Withdrawn July, 2000]

[The next page is 381.]
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- examine all of the items that comprise an account balance or clag
of transactions that exceed a given amount or that have an,unusy
characteristic and either apply other auditing procedures (.2, -an% vt
ical procedures) to those items that do not exceed the given amount o
possess the unusual characteristic.or N.&H&M no mﬁ&gﬁwgm.wnﬁmm&&
them because of their insignificance. Again; the auditer is not’ ,ﬁm...m ;
audit sampling. Rather, he has broken the account balance oreli
transactions into two groups. One group is tested 100 percent, the othe
group is either tested by analytical procedures or congidered mem&m
cant. The auditor would be using audit sampling only if he applied:
auditing procedure to less than all of the items in the secondigroup

. form a conclusion about that group. For the same reason, ongw’mﬁmwﬁ
often do not involve audit sampling applications. In bwu.momn.uwbw caty
tests auditors often exémine all significant transactions for a
surrounding the cutoff daté and, as a result, such tests do 16t invol
the application of audit sampling. A CoF

¢. Theauditor is testing conirols that are not documentéd, .>=E$m.m ¢hodse
from a variety of methods including inquiry, observation, and examisis
tion of documentery evidence in testing controls. For ‘ezariple Sbger
vation of a client's physical inventory count procedures i§ a test thag
performed primarily through the auditor’s observation of contrels
such things as inventory movement, counting procedures and*othep
procedures used by the client to control the count of the inventory, The
procedures that the auditor uses o observe the client's physical'inver
tory count generally do not require use of audit sampling, However,
audit sampling may be used in certain tests of controls or substantive

tests of details of inventory, for example, in tracing selected test counts

Into invengory records.. -

d.  The guditor is not perfarming & substantive test of details. Substantive
tests.consist of tests of details of transactions and balances, mb&%ma&
review and or from a combination of both. In performing substantive
tests, audit sampling is generally used only in testing details of trayi
actions and balances. . : ”

v

‘Section 380

Lommunication With Audit Commiftees
m.mcw.,..o“ SAS No. w.r. 5AS Z.v. 89; SAS No. 90. |

Mmo section 9380 for interpretations of ,h__.w section,

Effective for audits of financial statements for periods beginning on or after
Janvary 1, 1989, unless otherwise indicated. .
% 1,01 This section establishes a requirement for the auditor to determine
liat certain matters related to:the conduct of an audit are communicated
%5 those who have responsibility for oversight of the financial reporting pro-
gess.! For purposes of this document, the recipient of the communications is
referred to as the audit committee. The communications required by this sec-
tion are applicable to (1) entities that either have an audit committee or that
have otherwise formally designated oversight of the finaxcial reporting pro-
¢éss fo a group equivalent t0 an audit committee (such as a finance committee
oy budget committes) and (2) all Securities and Exchange. Commission (SEC)
.”wummmmE@bnm.w A -

+ .02 This section requires the auditor to ensure that the audit committee
receives additional information regarding the scope and results of the audit
that may assist the audit committee in overseeing the financial reporting and

>

1 Communieation with the andit committee by the independent auditor on certain specified mat-
ters when they arise in the conduct of an audit is required by other standards, including—
.« Section 825A, Communication of Internal Control Related Matters Noted in. an Audit.
» Section 316, Consideration of Fraud in a Financial Statement Audit, ’
» Section 817, Illegal Acts by Clients. .
- Section 801, Compliance Auditing Considerations in Audits of Governmenial Entities and
1. Recipients of Governmental Financial Adsistance. ) : : )
T addition, section 722, Interim Financial Information, requires that certain information be com-
* municated to audit commitiees as-a result of performing & review of interim financial information. -
ﬁmﬁen_poﬁo revised, November 2002, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the issuance of
Statement on Auditing StendardsNo. 100.]
« .2 For purposges of this section, an SEC engagement is defined as one that invdlves the audit of the
financial statements of— : ’
“uil, Amissuer making an initial filing; including amendments, under the Securities Act 0f 1933 and
~, . the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. ,

v 2 A registrant that flles periodic reports with the SEC under the Investment Company Act of
1940 or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (except a broker or dealer registered only because
of section 15(c) of the 1984 Act). : :

3. A bank or other lending institution that files periodic reports with the Comptroller of the
Currency, the Federal Reserve System, the Federal Deposit. Insurance Corporation, or the
Federal Home Loan Bank Board bécause the powers, functions, and duties of the SEC to enforce

) its periodic reporting provisions are vested, pursuant to section 12() of the 1984 Act, in those

1 : agencies. (Section 12(g) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 provides an exemption from
“ .  periodicreporting to the SEC to [1] eptities with less than $5 million in total assets on the last
day of each of the entity's three most recent fiscal years and fewer than 500 shareholders and
[2] entities with fewer than 300 shareholders. Aceordingly, such entities are not encompassed
within the scope of this definition.) . )

s, 4.-A company whose financial statements appear in the annual report or proxy statement of any

: investment fund because it is a sponsor-or manager of such & fund, But which is not itself &

s registrant required to file periodic reports under the 1840 Act or-section 13 or 15(d) of the
N Securities Exchange Act of 1934. ) .

[Issue Date: J: anuary, 1985.]
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disclosure process for which management is responsible. This section does no
require communications with management; however, it does.not hﬂm&t&m;ngw
munications with management or other individuals within the eritity whothay;
in the auditor's judgment, benefit from the communications.

.03 The communications may be oral or written. If informatioh'is oaBHwW
nicated orally, the auditor should document the communication by appropriati
memoranda or notations in the working papers.? When the auditor communi,
cates in writing, the report should indicate that'it is intended solely for th -
information and use of the audit committee or the board of directors and, if
appropriate, management, and is not intended to be and should not be used b§
anyone other than these specified parties.

.04 The communications specified by this'section are incidentdl to-thewi

dit. Accordingly, they are not required to occur before theissuarice of the andiy
tor's report on the entity's financial statements so long as the communications
oceur on a timely basis. There may be occasions, however, when discussion of
certain of the matters (specified by paragraphs .06 through .14 below) with
the audit committee prior: to the issuance of the report may, in the mﬂ&&&w.

judgment, be desirable.

<o oty

.05 It may be appropriate for management to communicate to the i
dit committee certain of the matters specified in this section: In such dircuni}
stances, the auditor should be satisfied that such communications have, in wmmm.
occurred. Generally, it is not necessary to repéat the communication'of recurfjiig
matters each year. Periodically, however, the auditor should consider whethef
because of changes in the audit commitiee or simply because of the passagest
time, it is appropriate and timely to report such matters. Finally, this gection
is-not intended. to restrict the communication of other matters. ) )

Matters to Be Communicated

e

._.ro?_i:o_.w wmm_uo:wmrm_mq c:%.. Qm:wi=< ,>nn,m2mm
Auditing Standards A -

06 An audit performed in accordance with.generally accepted auditing
standards may address many matters of interest to an audit committee, Far
example, an audit committee is usually interested in internal control-and in
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. Tn ordet
for the andit committee to understand the nature of the assurance provided by *
an audit; the auditor should communicate the level of responsibility assumed for
these matters under generally accepted auditing standards: 1t is also.important:
for the audit committee to understand that an audit conducted in accordance
with generally accepted auditing standards is degigned to obtain reasonable,
rather than absolute, assurance about the financial statements. _

Significant Accounting Policies : . R
.07 The auditor should determine that the audit committee is informed
about the initial selection of and changes in significant accounting policies or

3 The auditor may wish to review the minutes, if any, prepared by the audit committee for consis-
tency with the auditor's understanding of the communications. [Footnote atlded, effective for audits-
of financial statements for periods ending on or. after December 15, 2000, by Statement on’ Auditing
Stendards No. 90.] Lo - . '

- Avdit Adjustments

‘their application. The'audit¢r shoild also determine that.the audit committes .

jsinformed about the methods used to account for significant unusual transac-
tions and the effect of significant accounting policies in controversial or emerg-
ipg areas for which there.is a lack om.mnnWoH.x.mE.e.m guidance or consensus. For
axample, significant accounting issues may exist in areas such as revenue recog-
nition, off-balance-sheet financing,-and accounting for equity investments.

Management Judgments and Accounfing Estimates

w . .08 Accounting estimates are an integral part of the financial statements
prepared by management and are based upon management's current judg- .
ments. Those judgments are normally based.on knowledge and experience about
past and current events and assumptions about future events. Certain account:
ing estimates are particularly sensitive because of their significance to the fi-
napcial statements and because of the possibility that future events affecting
them may differ markedly from management's current judgments. The auditor
ghould determine that the audit committee is informed about the process used
by management in formuliting particalarly sensitive accouriting estimates and
ahout the basis for the auditor's-conclusions regarding the reasonableness of
those estimates.

Y

.09 The auditor should inform the audit.committee about adjustments aris-
ing from the andit that could, in his judgrent, either individually or in the
.ggregate, have a significant effect on the entity's financial reporting process.
.,o.x..uﬁvomm@mmm._w?.m section, an apdit adjustment, whether or.not recorded
by the entity, i§ a proposed correction of the financial statements that, in the
auditor's judgment, may not have been detected except through the audit-
ing mu.oemmum.mm performed. Matters underlying adjustments proposed by the
auditor but not recorded by the entity could potentially cause future finan-
cial statements to be materially misstated, even though the auditor has con-
cluded that the adjustments are not. material to the current financial state-
ments. [As aménded, effective for audits of financial statements- for periods
beginning on or after December 15, 1999, by Statement on Auditing Standagzds
No. 893.] ‘

" .10. The auditor also should inform the audit committee* about uncorrected
migstatements.aggregated by the auditor during the current engagement and
pertaining to the latest period presented that were determined by management
tobe immaterial, both individually and in the aggregate, to the financial state-
ments taken as a whole5. [Paragraph added, effective for audits of financial
statements for periods beginning on. or after December 15, 1999, by Statement

* omAuditingStendards No, 89.)

- 4 The presentation to the audit committee should be similar to the summary of ‘uncorrected
misstatements included in or.attached o the management representation-letter. See footnote 6 of
section 833, Management Representations. [Footnote added, effective for audits of inaneial statements
for-periods beginning on or after December 15, 1989, by Statement on Auditing Standards No. 89.}

5 The communication to management and the audit committee of immaterial misstatements
sggregated by the auditor does not constitute a communication pursuant to section 817.17, Section
10A of the -Securities Exchange Act of 1934, or section 316.79~.82, The auditor may have.additional
communieation responsibilities pursuant to section 317, Section 10A of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, or section 316, [Footnote added, effective for audita of financial statements for periods beginning
on'or-after December 15, 1999, by Statement on Auditing Standards No. 89. Footnote revised, January
2004, to refleét conforming changes necessary due ta the issuance of Statement on Auditing Standards
No. 99.] .
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Difficulfies Encounteréd in Performing the'Audit ™
.16 The auditor should inform the audit oogmmwwm of any seriou T,
ties he m.booE.unouwm w.b.mmmhsm with managepierit related ﬁo.ﬁwqm,v.mwmo&mh.%mwwbwm
the m_.&:... This may include, among other things, unreasonable delays by:mag:
. wmmmee in permitting the commencement of the audit or in providing neede
EmoHEmSoH.r and whether the timetable sef by management wag Eﬁmmbnaw
under the circumstances. Other matters that the auditor may ecounter ingli :
the unavailability of client personnel and the faiture of client personnel to eo
plete client-prepared schedules on a timely basis. If the auditor considers theses
matters significant, he should inform the audit committee. [Paragraph renums
bered by the issuance of Statement on Auditing Standards. No. 89; Umamﬁﬂhﬁ
waw. .Huﬁ.mmumvw subsequently renumbered by the issuance of. mﬁmﬁmamuw
Auditing Standards No. 90, December 1999.}- . . J@A :

Effective Date . . R

: ‘This section ig effective for audits of financial memnmﬂa.mam for umumm.m_w
vm.m.EbE.m on or after January 1,.1989. Early application of the provisions.of ;
this section is permissible. ... co R C R

>c Section 9380 B ‘
Communication With Audit Commitfees:
. Auditing Interpretations of Section 380

}. Applicability of Section 380
01 Question—Section 380, Communication With Audit Committees, re-
quires the auditor to determine that certain matters related to the conduct
of an audit are communicated to those who have responsibility for oversight
of the financial reporting process. Paragraph .01 indicates that the section is
applicable to “(1) eptities that either have an audit committee or that have
otherwise formally designated oversight of the financial reporting process to &
group equivalent to an audit committee (guch as a finance committee or budget
committee) and (2) all Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) engage-
ments." ) .

.02 When a non-SEC client has no designated group equivalent to an audit
committee with formal responsibility for the financial reporting process, does
the auditor have a respongibility to communicate gection 380 matters to the

. governing or oversight body or person(s)?

.03 Interpretation—DNo, If a governing or oversight body, such as a board
of directors or a board of trustees, has not established an audit committee or
formally designated a group with equivalent responsibility for the financial
reporting process, the auditor is not required to make the communications.
Similarly, the auditor has no responsibility to communicate section 380 matters
if the client has no governing or oversight body (for example, a small owner-
menaged entity). However; the auditor is not precluded from communicating
any or all matters described in section 380 in such-cases.

[Issue Date: August, 1993.]

. [The next page is 685.]

1 See monﬂmﬁ 380,01, footnote 2.
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to future periods any evaluation of the description. Section 324,441 goeaoh to
state that the report also should refer to the risk of projecting to the future “any
conclusions about the effectiveness of controls in achieving control objectives.”

AU Section 325

The sample service auditor's reports in section 324.38 and .54 include illustra-
tive paragraphs that illustrate this caveat. The following excerpt is from section
324.54:

The description of:controls at XYZ Service Organization is 85 of. and
information about tests of the operating effectiveness of specific controls covers
the period from to___ . Anyprojection of such information to the
future is subject to the risk that, because of change, the description may.no
longer portray the controls in existence. The potential effectiveness of specific
controls at the Service Organjzation is subject to inherent limitations ‘and,
accordingly, errors or fraud may occur and not be detected. Furthermore, the
projection of any conclusions, based on our findings, to future periods is subject
to the risk that changes may alter the validity of such conclusions.

The validity of projections to-the futuré about the effectiveness of controls may
be affected by changes made to the system and the controls, and also by the
failure to make nesded changes, for example, changes to accommodate new pro-
cessing requirements. May a service auditor's report be expanded to describe

the risk of projecting to the future conclusions about the effectiveness of con-
trols? : A

.39 Interpretation—The saniple reports in section 324.38 and .54 may be
expanded to describe this risk. The first and second sentences of the illustrative
paragraph above address the potential effect of change on the description of
controls as of a specified date; accordingly, they do not require modification
because new processing requirements would not affect the description as of
the specified date. However, the last sentence in the sample report paragraph

_above could be expanded to describe the risk of projecting an evaluation of the
controls to future periods because of changes to the system or controls, or the
failure to make needed changes tothe system or controls. :

tor's reports in section 324.38 and .54 are the following (new language is shown
in italics.): .

The-description of controls at XYZ Service Organization is as of and
information about tests of the operating effectiveness of specific controls cévers
the period from to . Any projection of such information to
the future is subject to the risk that, beeause of change, the description may .
no longer portray the controls in existence, The potential effectiveness of spe-
cific controls at the Service Organization is subject to inherent limitations and,
accordingly, errors or fraud may occur and not be detected. Furthermore, the
projection of any conclusions, based on our findings, to future periods is sub-
ject to the risk that changes made to the system or controls, or the failure to

Sawmamm&m&ng:mmmnouwm@ans.awngnx&m,Em%&«mwgmgm&n%om mﬁnr
conclusions. :

{Issue Date: February, 2002.]

[6.] Responsibilities of Service Organizations and Service Auditors With
Respect to Subsequent Events ini a Service Auditor’s Engagement

\Tmu{mm_Bmm&umma.mggawmﬁmoom,gmwmgﬁmn&oﬁm&&ﬂummwmb.
dards No. 98.] :

[The next page is 431.]

.40 Suggested additions to the paragraph in the illustrative.service audi-

Communicating Internal Conirol Related
Matters Identified in an Audit
(Supersedes SAS No. 60.)

Source: SAS Ne. 112.

Effective for audits of financial statements for periods ending on or affer
December 15, 2006.

Introduction

i .01 This section establishes standards and provides guidance on comxu-
nicating matters related to an entity's internal control over financial reporting
identified in an audit of financial statements. It is applicable iwﬁ_‘mdmﬁ an au-
ditor expresses an opinion-on financial statements (including a disclaimer of
opinion). In particular, this section:

® dmmamm the terms significant deficiency and material weakness.

. wuo.ﬁ..mom m:.a..wunm obmqmp:mmbmgmmm<mu§~owoobﬁ&@mm&g&mm
identified in an audit of financial statements. .

® Requires the auditor to communicate, in writing, to ﬁpmbmmmgmﬁn E.pm
’ _those charged with governance, significant’deficiencies and material
weaknesses identified in an audit.

.02 The term those charged with governance is defined in footnote 5 of sec-
tion 339, Audit Documentation, as "the person(s) s.mg u.omwcbmwxrﬁ% for over-
seeing, the strategic direction of the entity and obligations H.mpm_u& to the ac-
countability of the entity. This includes overseeing the financial reporting and

" digclosure process.” In most entities, goveinance is a collective responsibility

that may be carried out by & board of directors, a committee of the board of di-
rectors-(for example, an audit or legislative oversight committee), a committee
of management (for example, a finance, budget, or mo<o§mb@& agency exec-
ative committee), partners, equivalent persons, or some combination om these
parties. In some smaller entities, management and those charged with gover-
nance may be the same people , for example, the ownerin an oﬂnmn.mem.m&
entity or a sole trustee. v

.08 Internal control is a process—effected by those &pmum.mm with gover-
nance, management, and other personnel—designed to provide reasonable

. assurance about the achievement of the entity's objectives with regard to

reliability of financial reporting, effectiveness and efficiency of operations, and
compliance with applicable laws and regulations. .Fﬁmﬁump control over the safe-
guarding of assets against unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition may
include controls related to financial reporting and o@mumﬂaopm objectives. Gen-
erally, controls that are relevant to an audit of mﬁmbn.wmw statements mam.dgmm
that pertain to the entity's objective of reliable financial reporting. In this sec-
tion, the term financial reporting relates to the preparation of relisble finan-
cial statements that are fairly presented in conformity with generally accepted
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accounting principles.! The design and formality of an entity's internal control
will vary depending on the entity's size, the industry in which it operates; its
culture, and management's philosophy. ’ e :
.04 In an audit of financial statements, the auditor is not required to pex-
form procedures to identify deficiencies:in internal control>3 or to express an
opinion on the effectiveness. of the entity's internal control.* However, during
the course of an audit, the auditor may become aware of control deficiencies
while obtaining an understanding of the entity's internal control, assessing the
risks of material misstatement of the financial statements due to error or fraud,
performing further audit procedures to respond to assessed risk, communicat-
ing with management or others (for example, internal auditors or goverhmen-
tal authorities), or.otherwise. The auditor's awareness of control deficiencies
varies with each audit and is influenced by the nature, timing, and extent of
audit procedures performed, as well as other factors. EXLer

Definitions | o

05 A control deficiency exists when the design or operation of a control
does not allow management or employees, in-the normal course of performing
their assigned functions, to prevent or detect misstatements on a fimely basis.
A deficiency in design exists when {c) a control necessary to meet the control
objective is missing or (b) an existing control is not properly designed so that.
even if the control operates as designed, the control objective is not always met.
A deficiency in operation exists when a properly designed control does not op-
erate as designed or when the person performing the control does not possess
the necessary authority-or qualifications to perform the control effectively:Con-
trol deficiencies may involve.one-or more of the five interrelated components of
internal control. . : .

.08 A significant deficiency is a control deficiency, or combination of con-
trol deficiencies, that adversely affects the entity's ability to initiate, authorize,
record, process, or report financial data reliably in accordance with generally ac-
cepted accounting principles such that there is more than a remote ﬁw,prooQa

1 Referenceto mm:.mhwzw accepbed accounting principles includes, where applicable, a comprehen-

sive basis of accounting other than generally accepted accounting principles, as that term is defined
in paragraph .04 of section 623, Special Reports. DR : : P

* 2 Hereinafter in this séction, the térm infernal control means internal control over financial
reporting, L Jie - . .

3 Bection 819, Consideration of Internal Control in a Financial Statement Audit, contains a de-
tailed discussipn of internal control and the following five interrelated components of internal control:
{a) the control environment, (b) risk assessment, (c} control activities, (d) information and comimuni-
cation, and (¢) monitoring. ) L

4 Tho auditor's responsibility for communicating matters related to an entity's internal control
;jdentified in an audit of financial statements-is not the same as the practitioner's responsibility”for
reporting on the effectiveness of an entity's internal control in an attestation engagement performed
under AT section 501, Reporting on an Entity's Internal Control Ouer Financicl Reporting.

5 The term remote likelihood as used in the definitions of the terms significant deficiency and ma-
terial weakness has thé same meaning ag the term remote as used in Finaocial Accounting Standards
Board (FASB) Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 5; Accounting for Contingencies.
Paragraph 3 of FASB Statement No. 5 states:  ~ ' : - . .

Wthien a loss contingency exists, the likelihood that the future event or events will confirm
the loss or impairment of an asest or the incurrence of a-liability can range from probable
to remote, This section uses the terms probable, reasonably poseible, énd remote to identify
three areas within that range, as follows: ’ . :

a, Probable. The future event or events are likely to occur.

b. Reasonably possible. The chance. of the future event or events occurring is more than
* remote hut less than likely. '

.. Remote. The chance of the future events or events occurring is slight. ;
Therefore, the likelihood of an event is “more than remote" when it is at least reasonably possible.

Commithicating internal L.onsus “r

that a misstatement of the entity's financial statements that is more &W.mb incon-
sequential willnotbe prévented or:detected. A material weakness isa significant
deficiency, or combination of significant deficiencies, that results in more than

_a remote likelihood that 2 matexrial misstatement of the financial statements

will not be prevented or detected.

.07 The phrase "more than inconsequential” as used in .«wm definition of
significant deficiency describés the magnitude of potential misstatement that
conld occur as a result of a significant deficiency and serves as a Emmw.oE »..8.
evaluating whether a control deficiency or combination of o.obe.aow deficiencies
is .a significant deficiency. A misstatement is inconsequential if a reasonable
person would conclude, after considering the possibility of further undetected

nisstatements, that the misstatement, either individually or when aggregated

with other misstaterhents, would cleatly be immaterial to the financial state-
ments. If a reasonable person would not reach such a conclusion wmmmu.&wm a
particular Bmmmawamspou# that misstatement is more than Soobmmazmbﬁmr

.08 .In determining whether a potential misstatement would be more than
inconsequential, the auditor ‘should consider qualitative and quantitative fac-
tors. Inconsequentia} in this context is not the same concept as the Emmw&a
amount the auditor establishes in an audit of financial statements below which
Tnown and likely misstatements need not be accumulated. For example, for the
purposes of evaluating control deficiencies, & potential m&wmewﬁmBmc& that is less
than 20 percent of overall financial statement materiality may be considered
inconsequential, before considering qualitative factors. However, a potential
misstatement that is less than 20 percent of overall financial statement mate-
riality may be considered more than inconsequential as a result of qualitative

factors.S .

Evaluating Control Deficiencies Identified as Part
of the Audit 4

.09 The auditor must evaluate identified control deficiencies and deter-

inine whether these deficiencies, individually or in combination, are gignificant
deficiencies ‘or material weaknesses. The significance of a control deficiency
depends on the potential for a misstatement, not on whether a misstatement
actually has occurred. Accordingly, the absence of identified misstatement does
not provide evidence that identified control deficiencies are not significant de-
ficiencies or material weaknesses. ) .

.10 When evaluating whether control deficiencies, F&ﬁ&.&:w.oa in com-
bination, are significant deficiencies or material weaknesses, the auditor mro&@
consider the likelihood and tmagnitude of misstatement. .

.11 The following are examples of factors that may affect the Emepo.om.
that a control, or combination of controls, could fail to prevent or detect a mis-
statement: o t B , . : -

" '®. The patiure of the financial statement accounts, disclosures, and as-
. sertions involved. For example, suspense accounts and related party
transactions involve greater risk. - , .

¢  The susceptibility of the related mmm.mﬁm.ou,., liabilities to loss or frand.

' W § g . = H LS. o . i

8 Interpretation No. 4, "Considéring the Gualitative Characteristics of H,Em.mg.nmﬁmmwm_

{section 9312.16—17), of section 312, Audit Risk and Materiality in Conducting azn \.»,&5 identifies
qualitative factors du auditor may copgider in determining whether & misstatement is material.

AU §325.11
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:9?mmddu.mnﬂiﬁgmooB@Hmea%omﬁmeBosba mbqo?m@umbm.gmmﬁma
. of judgment needed to determine that amount. .

@ The cause and frequency of 2ny known or detected exceptions related
to the operating effectiveness of & control. - :

e The interaction or relationship of the control with other controls.
¢ Theinteraction of the control deficiency with other control mmmamabmw@m.
. H.w.m possible future consequences-of the deficiency. :

.12 Several factors affect the Bmm&eﬁmm of a misstatement that ,o,c&m re-
sult from a deficiency or deficiencies in controls. The factors include, but are
not limited to, the following: B ’

| ® The financial statement amounts or total of transactions exposed to
the deficiency. ‘ _

¢ _ The volume of activity in the account balance or class of transactions
exposed to the deficiency in the current period or expected in future
periods. . 2 »

The maximum samount by which an account balance or total of transactions
can be overstated generally is the recorded amount. Howevel, because of the
potentigl for unrecorded amounts, the recorded amhount is not a limitation on
the amount of potential understatement.

., 13 Multiple control deficiencies that affect the same financial statement
acéount balance or disclosure increase the likelihood of mis statement and may,
in combination, constitute a significant deficiency or material weakness, even
though such deficiencies are individually insignificant. Therefore, the auditor
should evaluate individual control deficiencies that affect the same account

. balance, disclosurs, relevant assertion, or component of internal contrel, to de-
termine whether they collectively result in & significant deficienty or material
weakness.

.14 In determining whether a control deficiency or combination of control
deficiencies is a significant deficiency or material weakness, the auditor also
should evaluate the possible mitigating effects’of effective compeiisating con-
trols that have been tested and evaluated as part of the financial stdtement
audit. A compensating control is a-control that limits the severity of a-control
deficiency and prevents it from rising to the level of a significant deficiency’or,
in some cases, a material weakness. Compensating controls operate at a level of
precision, considering the possibility of further undetected misstatements, that
would result in the prevention or detection of amisstatement that is more than
inconsequential or material to the financial statements. Although compensat-
ing controls mitigate the effects of 2 control .deficiency, they do not eliminate
the control deficiency. , .

.15 The auditor's evaluation. of the possible mitigating effects of compep-
gating controls can be iltustrated by the following example, in which an owner-
managed entity does not segregate duties within the accounts payable function.
As a compensating control, the owner reviews the supporting documentation
for all disbursements exceeding $1,000.- The auditor could evaluate the effect
of this compensating control and determine whether it operates effectively for
the purpose of mitigating the effects of the control deficiency in the accounts
payable function (the lack of segregation of duties).

.16 In an audit in which the auditor has decided to test the operating
effectiveness of controls, the auditor may encounter deviations.in the operation
of those controls. A control that has an observed nonnegligible deviation rateisa

deficiency regardless of the reason for the. deviation. For example, if the auditor.

o

designs a test in which he-or she selects 2. sample and expects no deviations,
the finding of one deviation is a nonnegligible deviation rate because, based on
the results of the auditor's test of the sample, the desired level of confidence
was not obtained. .

.17 The auditor should conclude whether prudent officials, having kmowl-
edge of the same facts and circumstances, would agree with the auditor's clas-
sification of the deficiency. .

18 Deficiencies in the following areas ordinarily are at least significant
deficiencies in internal control: :

e Controls over the selection and application of accounting principles
that are in conformity with generally accepted accounting principies.
Having sufficient expertise in selecting and applying accounting prin-
ciples is ant aspegct of such controls. . )

s  Antifraud programs and controls.
"o Contrals over nonroutine and nonsystematic transactions.

e  Controls over the period-end financial reporting process, including con-
trols over procedures used to enter transaction totals into'the general
ledger; initiate, authorize, record, and process journal entries into the
general ledger; and record recurring and nonrecurring adjustments to
the financial statements. . : :

.19 Each of the following'is an indicator of a control deficiency that should
be regarded as at least a significant deficiency and a strong indicator of 2 ma-
terial weakness in internal control: :

o Ineffective oversight of the obmﬁ%..m financial reporting and internal
* control by those charged with governance.

.

¢ Restatement of previously issued financial statements to refiect the

correction of a.material misstatement. (The correction of a misstate-

ment includes misstatements due to error or fraud; it does not include

restatements to reflect a change in accounting principle to comply with

a new accounting principle or a voluntary change from one generally

accepted accounting principle to another generally accepted account-

" ing principle.) . o - .

. Identification by the auditor of a material misstatement in the finan-

: cial statements for the period under audit that was not initiaily. iden-

tified by the entity's internal control. This includes misstatements in-

volving estimation and judgment for which the auditor identifies likely

material adjustments and corrections of the recorded amounts. (This

is a strong indicator of a material weakness even if management sub-
sequently corrects the misstatement.) o o "o

®  An ineffective internal audit function or risk assessment function at
an entity for which such functions are important to the monitoring or
risk assessment component of internal control, such as for very large
or highly complex entities.

e  For complex entities ih highly regulated industries, an ineffective reg-
ulatory compliance function. This relates solely to those aspects of the
ineffective regulatory compliance function for which associated vio-
lations of laws and regulations could have a material effect on the
reliability of financial reporting.

AU §325.19
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e Tdentification of fraud of any magnitude on the part of senior manages -

. ment. (The auditor has a responsibility to plan and perform procedures
to obtain reasonable assurance about whetherthe financial statements
are free of material misstatement caused by error or fraud.” However,
for the purposes of evaluating and communicating deficiencies in in-
ternal control, the auditor should evaluate fraud of any magnitude—
including fraud resulting in immaterial misstatements—on the part
of senior management, of which he or she is aware.)

¢ Failureby Emﬂmmmsma&s those charged with governance to assess the.
effect of a significant deficiency previously communicated o them and
either correct it or conclude that it will not be corrected. See paragraph
.20 for communieation requirements in these circumstances.

® An ineffective control mﬂéogmﬁ% Qo.bﬁ.& mﬁm&mbﬁmm. in various
other components of internal control could léad the auditor to con-

clude that a significant deficiency or material weakness exists in the

control environment.

See the Appendix [paragraph .32] of this section for examples of circumstances

that may be control deficiencies, mw.mamama deficiencies, or material weak- -

nesses.
Communication—Form, Content, ‘and Timing

‘20 Control deficiencies identified during the audit that upon evaluation
are considered significant deficiencies or material weaknessés under-this sec-.

tion must be communicated in writing tomanagement and thosé charged with -

governance as a part of each audit, including significant deficiencies and ma-
terial weaknesses that were communicated to management and those charged
with governance in previous audits, and have not yet been remediated. (Signifi-
cant deficiencies and material weaknesses that previpusly were-communicated
and have not yet been remediated may be-communicated in-writing by referring
to the previously'issued written communication and the date of that communi-
cation.) . . . Y

21 The written communication referred to in paragraph .20 is best made
by the report release date, which is the date the auditor grants the entity per-
mission to use the auditor's report in connection with the financial statements,
but should be madeno later than 60 days following the report release-daté. See
section 339.23 for additional guidance related to the report release date. -

22 For some -matters, early communication to management:or those
charged with governance may be important. Accordingly, the auditor may de-
cide to communicate certain identified significant deficiencies and material
weaknesses during the andit. If the communication is made during the au-
dit, the form of interim communication would be affected by the relative sig-
nificance of the identified control deficiencies and the urgency for corrective
follow-up action. Such early communication is fiot required to be i writing.
However, regardless of how the early communication is delivered, the audi-
tor must communicate all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in

o

y '

7 Section 316, Consideration of Fraud in d Financial Statement Audit, provides guidance on the
auditor's responsibilities for planning and performing the dudit t6 obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the finandia) statements are free of material misstatement whether caused by'error or fraud.’

AU §325.20
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writing to management and those charged with governance in accordance with
paragraphs .20 and .21. . . - .

.23. The existence of significant deficiencies or material weaknesses may

" aiready be known to management and may represent a conscious decision by

management or those charged with governance to wmaovn Em«. degree of H..mmw
because of cost or other considerations, Management is responsible for making
decisions concerning costs to be incurred and related benefits. The auditor's

responsibility to communicate significant deficiencies and material weaknesses

jn accordance with paragraph .20 exists .H.mmmu&omm of management's mw&.m.wobm.
.mw Nothing precludes the auditor from communicating to management

and thosge charged with governance other matters that the auditor:

e Believes to be of potential benefit to the entity, such ‘as recommen-
dations for operational or administrative efficiency, or for improving
internal control. .

e Tas been requested to communicate, for example, control deficiencies
_ that are not significant deficiencies or material weaknesses.

Such matters may be communicated either orally or in writing. If the informa-
tion is communicated orally, the auditor should document the communication.

25 The written communication regarding significant deficiencies and ma-

-terial weaknesses identified during an audit of financial statements m#odh.w

e State that the purpose of the audit was to express an opinion on the
financial statements, but not to express an opinion on the effectiveness
of the entity's internal control over financial reporting.

® State that the auditor is not expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of internal control.

o .Hb&ﬁmo &w@mmmﬁmobomgmggm 2.%;%..3:“ mmxmnwm:@gm, .S.me.m
: relevant, material weakness. . .

- e * Identify the matters that are considered to be significant deficiencies
and, if applicable, those that are considered to be material weaknesses.

o State that.the communication is intendéd solely for the information.
" and use.of management, those charged with governance, and others
_ within the organization and is not intended to be and should not be
"used by anyone other than these specified parties. If an entity is re-
quired to furnish such auditor communications to & governmental au-
“thority, specific reference to such governmental authorities may be

made. ) :

.26 The following is an illustrative written communication encompassing

- the requirements in paragraph .25.

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements of ABC Com-
pany as of and for the year ended December 31, 20XX, in accordance with
suditing .standards generally accepted in the United States of America, we
considered ABC Company's internal control over financial reporting (internal
control) as.a basis for designing our auditing procedures for the purpose of
expressing our opinion on the financial statements, but not ».o.n the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the efféetiveness of the Company's internal control.

. Accordingly, we donot express an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's
internal control. .

AU §325.26
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Our consideration of internal cdntrol was for the limited purpose described in |
the preceding paragraph and would not necessarily identify all deficiencies in
internal control that might be significant deficiencies or material weaknesses.
However, as discussed below; we identified certain deficiencies in internal con-
trol that we consider to be significant deficiencies [and other deficiencies that
we consider to be material weaknesses]. . . : .

A control deficiency exists when the design or operation of a control doss not
allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their as-
signed functions, to prevent or detect misstatements on & timely basis. A signifi-
cant deficiency is a contro] deficiency, or combination of control deficiencies, that
adversely affects the entity's ability to initiate, authorize, record, process, or re-
port financial data reliably in accordance with generally accepted -accounting
principles such that there is more than a remote likelihood that a misstate-
ment of the eutity's financial statements that is more than inconsequential will
not be prevented or detected. by the entity's internal control. We congider the
following deficiencies to be significant deficiencies in internal contro]:

[Describe the significant deficiencies that were identified.]

[A material weakness isa significant deficiency, or combination of significant
deficiencies, that results in more than ¢ remote likelihood that a material mis-
statement of the financial statements will not be prevented or detected by the

entity's internal control. We believe that the following deficiencies constitute ma-
terial weaknesses.} C e

A [Describe the material weaknesses that were identified.]

This communication iz intended solely for the information and use of manage-

ment, [identify the body or individuals charzed with governance] yothers within

the organization, snd [identify-any specified governmental authorities] and is

not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than these specified
" parties. 4.

.27 If the auditor wishes, he or she may include additional mwmamgobnm in -’

the communication regarding the general inhérert limitations of internal con-
trol, including the possibility of management override of controls, or the specific

EEE.mmbmmﬁmbaowzpomu&non.moobmmm,mumnoﬂom internal control during the
audit, ' , ,

28 A client may ask the auditor to issue a communication indicating that
no material weaknesses were identified during the audit of the financial state-
ments for'the client to submit to governmental authorities. The following is an
illustrative communication that may be used when the auditor-has not iden-
tified any material weaknesses and wishes, or has been requested, to advise

Bmﬂmmmgmnm.mbm#rommoﬁmam&_iﬁrmgmgwpnmﬁmﬁbo material weaknesses
. were identified.® : v .

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements of ABC Com-
pany as of and for the year ended December 31, 20XX, in accordancé with
auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, we
. considered ABC Company's internal control over financial reporting (internal
control) ag & basis for designing our auditing procedures for the purpose of
expressing our opinion on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's internal control.

or "as of" date as the audit of the financial statements, the iasuance of a report indicating that no
material weaknesses had beer identified during the audit of the financial statements would not be
appropriate. . ’

AU §325.27

8 If an examination of inteinal control under AT section 501 was performed for the same period

Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's
internal control.

A control deficiency exists when the design or oumum&.ob ofa nouw.u& mom.m not
allow management or employees, in the normal course om. vmﬂmodEm_m aum:, as-
signed fanctions, to prevent or detect misstatements on a timely vwm.um. .P signifi-
cant deficiency is a control deficiency, or combination oﬁ., control deficiencies, that
adversely affscts the entity's ability to initiate, authorize, record, process, orre-
port financial data reliably in accordance with mobmamb% monmwa&. accounting
principles such that there is more than a remote :womr.oom that a misstatement
- of the entity's financial statements that is more than inconsequential will not
be prevented or detected by the entity's internal control.

A material weakness is a significant deficiency, or combination of mmmw.mmom..dn
deficiencies, that results in more thah a remote likelihood that a material mis-
statement of the financial statements will not be prevented or detected by the
entity's internal control. ;

Qur consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose nm,mo.mvma in
the first paragraph and would not necessarily identify all deficienciesin Ewmu.b.&
control that might be significant deficiencies or material weaknesses. We m.pm
not identify any deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material
weaknesses, as defined above.

This communication is intended solely for the information and use of manage-
ment, [identify the body or individuals charged with governance], cn.w.oam Swﬁm.u
the organization, and [identify any specified governmental authorities) Emm is
not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than these specified
parties.

If one or more significant deficiencies have been identified, the ma&.nou may add
the following sentence to the fourth paragraph of the communication:

However, we identified certain deficiencies in internal control awmn we congider
to be significant deficiencies, and communicated them in writing to manage-
" ment and those charged with governance on [date]. :

.29 The auditor should not issue a written communication stating that no
significant deficiencies were identified during the audit because of the potential
for misinterpretation of the limited degree of assurance provided by such a
communication,

<30 Management may wish to, or may be required by a regulator to, pre-

pare a written response to the auditor's communication regarding significant

deficieneies or material weaknesses identified in the audit. Such management
communications may include a description of corrective actions ﬂmw.ou ._u% @Wm
entity, the entity's plans to implement new controls, or a statement indicating
that management believes the cost of correcting a significant mowsgn% or ma-
terial weakness would exceed the benefits to be derived from doing so. If such
a written response is included in a document containing the auditor's written
comimunication to management and those charged with governance concerning
identified significant deficiencies or material weaknesses, the auditor should
add a paragraph to his or her written communication disclaiming an opinion
on such information. H.Joﬁ.oéwbm is an example of such a paragraph.

ABC Company's written response-to the significant deficiencies _aza.ﬂﬂml&
weaknesses) identified in our audit has not been subjected to the w#&.ﬁum pro-
cedures applied in the audit of the financial statements and, accordingly, we
express no opinion on it. .

AU §325.30
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mxn_sv_om of Circumstances That May Be Control
Deficiencies, Significant Deficiencies, or Znﬁmzn_

Weaknesses

. Paragraph .18 of this section identifies areas in which control deficiencies
ordinarily are at least significant deficiencies, and paragraph .19 identifies in-
dicators that a control deficiency should be Hmmm&mm as at least a significant s
deficiency and a strong indicator of a material weakness. The following are
mNmBEmm of circumstances. that may be nobﬁ& mmmowmbemmv Emnumnmun defi-
ciencies, or material weaknesses. . -

- Effective Date _ _. -

31 This section is effective for audits of financial statements for periods
ending on or after December 15, 2006, Earlier ﬁbvwmupmbwmﬁob is permitted.

St 5EE LA a8

Deficiencies in the Design of Controls

e Inadequate design of internal control over the vumvmumﬁow of the fi-
nancial statements vmsm audited.

o Inadeguate design of internal control over a significant account or pro-
cess.

¢ Inadequate documentation of the components of internal control.

‘e Insufficient control conscioisness within the organization, for exam-
ple, the tone at the top and the control environment.

e Absentor inadequate mmmuommﬁob om duties within a significant account
or process.

e Absent or inadequate controls over the m&.mmcma&bm om asgets (this
applies to controls that the auditor determines would be necessary for
effective internal control over financial reporting).

® Inadequate design of information technology (IT) general and appli-
cation controls that prevent the information system from providing
complete and accurate information consigtent with financial reporting
objectives and current needs.

® Employees or management who lack the qualifications and training to
fulfill their assigned functions. For example, in an entity that prepares
financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles, the person responsible for the accounting and reporting
function lacks the skills and knowledge to apply generally accepted
mSochbm principles in recording the entity's financial {ransactions
or preparing its financial statements.

¢ TInadequate design of monitoring controls used to assess the design and
operating effectiveness of the entity's internal control over time.

© The absencs of an internal process to report deficiencies in internal
control to management on & timely basis.

Failures in the Operation of Internal Control

® Tailure in the operation of effectively designed controls over a signif-
icant account or process, for example, the failure of a control such as
dual authorization for mHmEmomba &m_uzammupmhnm within the purchas-
ing process.

3
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control to provide complete and aceurate out; i
ontrol to pr put because of deficien-
cies in timeliness, completeness, or accuracy, for example, the m&FWm
to obtain timely and accurate consolidating information from rethpis
locations that is needed to prepare the financial statements. .

Failure of controls designed to safeguard assets from loss, damage;of :

Bmmmumu.o?mmﬂob. This circumstance may need careful ideratios

before it is evaluated ag a sighificant mmmwwmua% ot BMMS@MWWMMWMMMM
.m.ou. example, assume that a company uses security devices to safegu m
its inventory (preventive controls) and also performs periodic phystta] "
E<mbﬁ.ﬁ5.~ counts (detective control) timely in relation to its financial -
reporting. Although the physical inventory count doés not safeguard
the inventory from theft or loss, it prevents a material misstatemen?.
of the %ﬂmﬁ&& statements if performed effectively and timely. mewm“
fore, given that the definitions of material weakness and mwmﬁmwmmm
deficiency relate to likelihood of misstatement 'of the financial stafe
ments, gm.mmmﬁm of a preventive control such as inventory tags will
not .ummc.:.. in a significant deficiency or material weakness if the de-
tective control {physical inventory) prevents a misstatement of the m..
nancial mﬁ..w«mgwbam. Material weaknesses relating to controls over the
safeguarding of assets would only exist if the company does not have
effective controls (considering both safeguarding and other controls) to
prevent or detect 2 material migstatement of the financial statements,

Failure to umw.woa reconciliations of significant accounts. Forexample
accounts nmoo?m.Zm subsidiary ledgers are not reconciled to the mmwmu&
ledger account in a timely or accurate manner. : ’

Undue bias or lack of objectivity by those responsible for accounting:
decisions, for example, consistent understatement of expenses or over
statement of allowances at the direction of management.

%wu%%&mmobﬁmnoﬁ w%oﬁmbwwmumobbm:oﬁrmms&ﬁowﬁwugﬁomﬁon o.m
atd). o

Management 043,&% of oomﬂ.&m,

Failure o%. an application control caused by a deficiency E ﬁ.pm design
or operation of an IT general control. . e

v

[The next page is 444-21.]
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Communication of Internal Control Related
Matters Noted in an Audif

(supersedes AU sections 323 and 642.47-.53)

" source: SAS No. 60; SAS No. 78; SAS No. 87.

See. section 9325A for interpretatjons of this secfion. - .
Effective for audifs of financial statements for periods beginning on or after

January 1, 1989, unless otherwise indicated.

.01- This section provides guidance in identifying and reporting conditions
that relate to an entity's internal control observed during an audit of financial
statements. It-is contemplated that the communication would generally be to
the audit committee or to individuals with a level of -authority and responsibil-
ity equivalent to an audit committee in organizations that do not have one, such
as theboard of directors, the board of trustees, an.owner in an owner-managed
enterprise, or others.who may have engaged the auditor. For the purpose of this
section, the term audit committee is used to refer to the appropriate recipient
of the communication. This section also provides guidance on establishing, be-
tween the auditor and client, agreed-upon criteria for identifying and reporting
additiona] matters beyond those réquired by this section. ;

| Reportable Conditions

.02 During the course of an audit, the auditor may become aware of mat-
ters relating to internal control that may be of interest to the audit commit-
tee. The matters that this section requires for reporting to the audit commit-
tee are referred to as reporiable conditions.® Specifically, these are. matters
coming to the auditor's attention that, in his judgment, should be commu-
nicated to the audit committee because they represent significant deficien-
cies in the design or operation of internal control, which could adversely af-
fect the organization's gbility to initiate, record, process, and. report financial
data consistent with the assertions of management in the financial state-
ments.2 .Such deficiencies may involve aspects of the five internal control
components® of (@) the control environment, (b) risk assessment, {c) control

* This section has been revised to reflect the amendments and noumoubwam changes necessary due
to the jssuance of Statement on Auditing Standards No. 78, effective for audits of financial statements
for'periods beginning on or after January 1, 1897. *

‘1 Thig section supersedes section 323, Required Communication of Material Weaknesses in In-
ternal Accounting Control, and section 642, Reporting on Internal Accounting Control, paragraphs
.47 through .63, and related auditing interpretations. This section does not affect the reporting of
material weakneeses noted in an engagement to report on an, entity's internal control.

2 The auditor should aleo consider matters SBEm to hie attention that relate to interim financial
reporting cutside the entity in the communication contemplated by this section. :

3 Internal control refers to the controls established to provide reasonable assurance that specific
entity objectives will be achisved. (See section 318, Consideration of Internal Control in a Financial
Statement Audit, for additional key definitions.) {Footnote transferred from paragraph .04 to para-
graph .02, February 1997.] : .

AU §325A.02
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- activities, (d) information and communication, -and (¢) monitoring. {See para-
graph .21 for examples of reportable conditions.) [As amended, effective for au-
dits of financial statements for"periods beginning on or after January 1, 1997;°
by Statement on Auditing Standards No. 78. Revised, April 2002, to reflect
conforming -changes necessary-dug to the issuance of-Statement on Auditing
Standards No. 94.] ! k _

a
Y

03 The auditor may also identify matters that, in his judgment, are not

reportable conditions as defined in paragraph .02; however, the auditor may

. choose to communicate such matters for the benefit of management (and other
recipients, as appropriate).

Identifying Reportable Conditions - o

.04 The auditor's.objective in an audit of financial statements is to-form
an opinion on the entity's financial statements taken as a whole. The auditor
is not obligated to search for reportable conditions. However, the auditor may
become aware of possible reportable conditions through consideration of the
components of internal control,-application of audit procedures to balances and
transactions;-or-otherwise during the course of the audit. The guditor's aware-
ness of reportable conditions varies with each audit and is influenced by the
nature, timing, and extent of audit procedures and numerous other factors, such
as an entity's size, its complexity, and the nature and diversity -of its business
activities. [As amended, effective for audits of financial statements for periods
Wmﬁb@ on or after January 1, 1997, by Statement on Auditing Standards

c. 78. . _ - U

05 Inmaking thejudgment as to which matters are reportable conditions,
Z1he auditor should take into consideration various factors relating to the entity,
such as its size, complexity and diversity of activities, organizational structure,
and ownership characteristics. . . - o

.08 The existence of reportablé ‘conditions related to internal control de-
sign or pperation may already be known and, in fact, may represent a conscicus
decision by management—a decision of which the atidit committee is aware—
to accept that degree of risk because of cost or other considerations. It is the
responsibility of management to make the decisions concerning c¢osts to be in-
curred and related benefits. Provided the audit committee has acknowledged its
understanding and consideration of such deficiencies and the associated risks,
the auditor may decide the matter does not need to be reported. Periodically,
the auditor should consider whether, because of changes in management, the
audit committes, or simply because of the passage of time, it is appropriate and
timely to report such matters. - = o

Agreed-Upon Criteria

.07 The auditor and client may discuss internal control and concerns re-
garding its functioning when making arrangements for the audit. Clients may
request the auditor to be alert to matters and to repart conditions that go be-
yond those contemplated by this section. The auditor is not precluded from

reporting matters that he views to be of value to management in the absence
of any specific request to do go. i ’ ’

.08 Agreed-upon arrangements between the auditor and the elient to re-
port conditions noted may include, for example, thé reporting of matters of
less significance than provided for by this section, the existence of conditions

Al 83%9R8 NR

to such regulatory authorities may be made.

COmMMmUuNICatlon UL LIILELLldl WrtiuL

ified i . i igati tters noted
ified by the client, or the results of further investigation of ma
mw MMMM—E Wbm.mﬁﬁbm vam.ﬂmmm. Under these arrangements, it is possible that the

- guditor may be requested to visit specific locations, assess specific controls, or

undertake specific procedures not otherwise planned.

Reporting—Form and Content .

" 09 Conditions noted by the auditor that are owbm&mwmm. reportable under
this section or that are the result of mm.nmwmambn with .ﬁm client should VM» Mm-
ported, preferably in writing. If information is ooggsw_”om orally, the w.wa. or
should document the. communication by appropriate memoranda or notations
in,the working papers.:

.10 The report should state that the noEB.ﬁEnm&ob is intended solely for
the information and the use of the audit committee, management, and others
within the organization and is not wbw.mbmo@ to be and should not vm. used ww
anyone other than these specified parties. When there are um@ﬁﬁnwbmbnmw estab-
lished by governmental authorities to furnish such reports, specific reference

.

11 Any report issued on reportable conditions ghould—

e Indicate that the purpose of the audit was to report on the financial
. statements and not to provide assurance on internal control.

e Include the definition of reportable conditions.
o Include the Ho.manﬁob on amm.mm discussed in wm«mmam@w .10,

.12 Thefollowingisan E.s.mﬂmﬂob of the sections of a report encompassing
the above requirements. .

anting and performing our audit of the financial statements of the ABC
Hmwvwmwouwaom for .%6 %mmu mm%wn December 31, 19XX, we considered its Ewmﬂ.
pal control in order to determine our auditing procedures for the purpose o
expresging our-opinion on the financial statements mw.‘ﬁ not to v«aﬁmm. assur-
ance on the internal control. However, we noted certain matters Ee.o_ﬁjm.»&m
internal control and its.operation that we consider to be umwon.w.wzm nou&.ﬁoum
under standards established by the American H.nmgﬂm of Certified w.s,oro Ac-
countants, Reportable conditions invelve matters ¢oming to oﬁ.wﬁmmﬂow H.mwmﬂ
ing to significant deficiencies in the design or operation of wrm. E\nm.s.p& S«EM
that, in our judgment, could adversely affect the o«mmﬁuwd.uob s ability 8 ind w.
ate, record, process, and report financial date consistent with the. assertions o
management in the financial statements. . .

{Include paragraphs to describe the reportgble conditions noted.]

This report is intended solely fof the information mum use of the audit commit-
tee (board of directors, board of trustees, or owners in: cﬂumu.gmmm enter-
uaummy management, and others within the organization (or specified regula-
tory agency) and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other
than these specified parties.

$m~m.8mb_mmmw effective for reports issued after December 31, 1998, by State-

‘ment on Auditing Standards No. 87. Revised, April 2002, to reflect conforming-

changes necessary due to the issuance of Statement on Auditing Standards
No. 94.] - - N
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19 The _w.uoﬁmwobm in this section shquld.not.be SmSmm as precluding an
inditor from communicating to a client a variety of observations and sugges-
tions regarding its activities that go  beyond internal control Hd_mnmmb matters.
Such matters may deal with operational or administrative efficiencies, busifiess
mnuw_..mmwmm, and other items of ﬁwwom:am benefit to an client,

Bt ST Somies aﬁnsbpmﬁmboomﬁapo mmc&ﬁeu@&mﬁcﬁmr “to‘includeradditiona]
statbmenty inithe report regardingstheirherfent limitations of internal:contro]
in genetal, the specific extent and ndturerofihis consideration-of internal contio
during the audit, or other'matters regarding thebasis forthestomments. Bmm.mf

.14 In a communication that SbnmEm wonw observations .deemed v%
auditor to be reportable conditions, as: m,mmum% and other noBBmmdm. H#B@%..&m
Bovwowdmno to Smpomnm which ooBme$ are 5 each nw,ummou%

A s Ly .3

o e

m

. .mmma_sw Date -

gyt 20 > This section ig effective forsandits of financial statements for periods

w»%ﬂﬂﬁmaﬂ,ﬂ _m@md I mbﬁmw% H_ mew with. amﬂq application wmgwmwzm

: B L .t €
PR R -

§15" A reportable oob&aou may wm of' mEE Bmmﬂ:&mo asto: wo ‘constdered
a'material weakness. A material iveakhess in internal oouﬁ.oH isa Hmwaﬁmzm
cofidition in which ther design OF operation of one 0F mote of the internal cotit¥
components does not Teduce o a relatively low level the rick that-migstetat
ments caused by error or fraud in amounts that would be material in HmHmﬂou
tothe'fitiancial staterients being audited may ddctir-dntl hot be deteeted: 85: .
atimely ‘bériod g employeesin the normial course,of vmuwcauuu “their mmmw
finctions. ‘Although' EE%\ sectidn does not réquire that'the auditor separat GA
identify and éommitnicate material ﬁmmwummmmm. the auditormay choose or &w,.m
client tay request the auditorto mmwmumﬁo&aambﬂ@ andcomrhuniceate &s Bw_..m
rial weaknesses those reportable conditions that, in'the audito's judgheht
congidered to be material weaknesses, [As Bo&mmm June, 1990, by the ?E#
Issues Task Force] S

133
%
L dd
5

.

g Hﬁm wozosabm is ap Esmﬁwﬁob om erm géttions of a umvoi“ Euma Bm% he
used when' £é auditor ﬂmw% or Has beeri requestsd, to advise'the dudit comis
mittee in writing that one or; more, reportable conditions - have _emmb Emﬂ&mm
but none is deemed to be a material sm&nbmmm.

o

Py sl v .
z.:&:&m Qﬁ \mﬂm“ ﬁn%a.um\ 5 m& ».m.gsn &Fu?ﬁm& 5 .ﬁ&wpmsﬁwa Nm _

" . P £
e (S

m.:&:&m ﬁagscm& to &mmaﬂvm QE Bﬁaxwagm 3:&598 :o«m&;

P

Amaterial:weakness je.a. w.obouawEm condition in which the- design or.operatior
of ane or more of the internakcontrol; componenta does not reduce to a relatively
low leyelthe risk that misstatemenits caused by:error or fraud in amounts that
would be material in relation to the financial statements voEm .audited may
occur and not be detected within 2 timely period by gwuo%mmm in ﬁ—o uouanﬁ

~ course of uma.onBEm their asdigned fanctions.. . :
X N i P et .“..Am. W LT s &) -
Our consideration. om internal contrel would notinecessarily &maomm all Bmﬁmnm
invinternal control that mightibe reportable ¢onditions.and;aocordingly, would
not necessarily disclose. all repoitable:conditions-that are also:xgonsidered to.be
material weaknesses as defined above.dHowever, none'of the: Houoﬁnwzm oobmu...
tions mmms.&mm mdoé is believed to be amaterial weakness., .« * .

[Include.the final paragraph in um& report-illustrated.in paragraph .12.} .

.17 - ‘Bet¢ause of the potential.for: Emmwbwm%mmmm«moh of the. limited -degree
of assurance associated with the'auditor issuing a-writtenreport'representing
_that horeportable conditions were bowmm mnﬁhm an audit; nWo mcmuao% mWOEm
not i8she such representations. - e

- ,
¢l L

.18 Because timely communication may be mﬁwomamﬁp mum mﬁ&aou may
chodse to comniunicate:significant matters during the ¢ourseof theaudit rather

+ thantafterithe dudit-is.concluded. Thedékision on whether aninterim commu- -

" pication should be issued would be‘influenced by-the relative mumEmcmuam of the
matters noted and the urgency of corrective follow-up action. NN
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Appendix
mxnav_mm of Possible Reportable Condifions

1. As indicated in paragraph .02 of this.section reportable conditions E<&<m
matters coming to the auditor’s attention that relate to significanti deficiencieg
in the design or operation of internal control that, in the auditor's judgment,
could adversely affect the organization’s ability to initiate, record, process, and
report financial data consistent with the assertions of management in the f-
nancial statements.

2, The following are examples of matters that may be reportable conditions.
They are grouped by categories of conditions and within categories by specific
examples of conditions. Certain of these matters may also require communica-
tions under the provisions of other statements on auditing standards.

Deficiencies in internal ¢control design
® Inadequate overall internal control design

®  Absence of appropriate segregation of duties consistent with appropri-
ate control objectives

®  Absence of appropriate reviews and approvals of ﬂ.mbwwoﬁgm“ account- -

ing entries, or systems output

® Tnadequate procedures for appropriately assessing and applying ac-
counting principles

¢ Inadequate provisions for the safeguarding of assets

®  Absence of other controls considered appropriate for the type gm 54&
of transaction activity

¢ Evidence that a system fails to provide complete and accurate o,:ﬁEn
that is consistent with cgmoﬂﬁm and current needs because of design
flaws

- Failures in the operation of internal control

¢ Evidence of failure of identified controls in preventing or’ mm«maﬁbm
" misstatements of accounting information

® Hvidence that a system fails to uuoimm complete and accurate output
consistent with the entity's control objectives because of the misappli-
cation of controls

¢  Evidence of failure to safeguard assets from loss, damage or misappro-
priation

® Evidence of intentional override of internal control by those in author-
ity to the detriment of the overall objectives of the system

¢ Evidence of failure to perform tasks that are part of internal control,
such as reconciliations not prepared or not timely prepared .

® Fvidence of willful wrongdoing by employees or management

U §325A.21

e Evidence of manipulation, falsification, or alteration of accounting
records or supporting documents

e Evidence of intentional misapplication of accounting principles
e Evidence of misrepresentation by client persennel to the auditor

e Evidencethat employees or management lack the qualifications and
training to fulfill their assigned functions '

e Absence of a sufficient level of control consciousness within the orga-
nization : y

e TFailure to follow up and correct previously identified internal control
deficiencies

e Evidence of significant or extensive undisclosed related party transac- B
tions .

e Tvidence of undue bias or lack of objectivity w% ﬁ._omm responsible for
accounting decisions

[Revised, April 2002, to reflect ooumosgbw changes necessary due to the is- .
suance of Statement on Auditing mﬁmbmmam No. 941 4 Y

.
x

[The next page is 444-41.]
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AU mo&o: 9325A . .
Communication of Internal Control Relate
Matters Noted in an Audit: Auditing |
Interprefations of Section 325A |

1. Reporting on the Existence of Material Weaknesses

.01 Question—Section 325A requires the auditor to report to the audit
committee or to individuals with equivalent authority and responsibility re-

portable conditions noted during an audit of financial statements. It permits
the issnance of reports that include a statement about whether any of the re- i
portable conditions identified are material weaknesses. In connection with an %
audit, may the auditor issue a written report on material weaknesses separate &

from the report on reportable conditions?
02 Interpretation—Yes. Section 325A does not preclude the auditor from

issuing a separate report stating whether he or she noted any material weak-

nesses during the audit. Reports on material weaknesses should—
e Indicate that the purposé of the audit was to report on the financial
statements and niot to provide assurance on internal control.

e * Include the definition of & material weakness.

e State that the communication is intended solely for the information
and the use of the audit committee, management, and others within
the organization and is not intended to be and should not be used by
anyone other than these specified parties. When there are require-
ments established by governmental agencies to furnish such reports,
mvmﬂmﬁ reference to mcor.wmw.&woouw.wﬁg&ﬁmm may be made.

.03 Section 325A prohibits the auditor from issuing a written report rep-
resenting that no reportable eonditions were noted during the audit. Therefore,
in isguing a report stating that no material weaknesses were noted, the auditor
should not imply that no reportable conditions were noted.

.04 The following is an illustration of a report encompassing the above
" requirements:

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements of ABC Corpo-
ration for the year ended December 31, 19XX, we considered its internal control
in order to determine our auditing procedures for the purpose of expressing our
opinion on the financial statements and not to provide assuraice on the in-
ternal-eontrol, Our consideration of the internal control would not necessarily
digclose all matters in the internal control that might be material weaknesses
under standards established by the American Institute of Certified Public Ac-
countants. A material weakness is a condition.in which the design or operation
of one or more of the internal control components does not reduce to a relatively
low level the risk that misstatements caused by error or fraud in amounts that
wonld be material in relation to the financial statements being audited may

_ oceur and not be detected within a timely period by employees in the normal
course of performing their assigned functions, However, we noted no matters
involving the internal control and its operation that we consider to be material
weaknesses as-defined above.

AU §9325A.04
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This report is intended solely for the information and use of the audit commit-

tee (board of directors, board of trustees, or owners in oiboﬁ.gmm& enter- .
prises), management, end others within the orgenization (et specified regula-
tory gency) and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other
than these specified parties. oo Ly

05 If conditions believed to be material weaknesses are disclosed, the re-
port should describe the weaknesses that have come to the auditor's attention:
The last sentence of the first paragraph of the report illustrated in paragraph
04 should be'modified as follows'and paragraphs describing the material weak-
nesses should follow the first paragraph: .

However, we noted the following.matters involving internal control and its
operation that we consider to be material weaknesses as defined above.

.06 In some cases reports on material weaknesses may include comments
on specific aspects of internal control or on additional matters. For example, a
regulatory agency may require comments on the accounting system and controld
(but net on the control environment) or on compliance with certain provisions
in contracts or regulations. In such cases the language in paragraph .04-should
be modified to: :

a. identify clearly the specific aspects of internal controls or the additional
matters covered by the report : . -

b distinguish any additional matters from internal control
¢. -describein reasonable detail the scope of the review and tests concern-
ing the additional matters., . )
d. express conclusions in language comparable to that in paragraph .04
. or .0B, as appropriate : T ’
.07 The identification -of the specific aspects of internal control or addi-

tional matters covered in the repoxt should be as specific as the auditor consid- -

ers hecessary to prevent misunderstanding inh this respect. Such identification
«can be made in some cases by reference to specific portions of other documents
such as contracts or regulations.” ,_

“. [lssue Date: February, 1989; Revised: February, 1999.1
12.] ‘Audit Considerafions for the Year 2000 Issue -
[.08~17] [Withdrawn, July, 2000, by the Audit Issties Task Force.]

[The next page is &m.u..
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Evidential MatterS

{Supersedes section 330, "Evidential Matter”)

Source: SAS No. 31; SAS No. 48; SAS No. 80.

See section 9326 for interpretations of this section.
(ssue date, unless otherwise indicated: August, 1980.

.01 The third standard of field work is:
Sufficient competent evidential matter is to be obtained through inspection,

:

observation, inquiries; and confirmations to afford a H.mmm.cumEm basis for an
opinion regarding the financial statements under audit.

.02 Most of the independent auditor's work in forming his or her opinion
on financial statements consists of obtaining and evaluating evidential matter!
concerning the assertions in such financial statements. The measure of the
validity of such evidence for audit purposes lies in the judgment of the auditor;
in this respect audit evidence differs from legal evidence, which is circumscribed
by rigid rules. Evidential matter varies substantially in its infiuence on the
auditor as he or she develops an opinion with respect to financial statements
ander audit. The pertinence of the evidence, its objectivity, its timeliness, and
the existence of other evidential matter corroborating the conclusions to which
it leads all bear on its competence. o

Nature of Asserfions . ,

03 Assertions are representations by management that are embodied in
financial statement components. They can be either explicit or implicit and can
be classified according to the following broad categories: N

o Existence or occurrence i

o (ompleteness

® Rights and obligations

o Valuation or aJlocation

s Presentation and disclosure . ,

.04 Assertions about existence or occurrence address whether assets or
Habilities of the entity exist at a given date and whether recorded transactions
have occurred during a given peried. For example, management asserts that

-

This section will be:superseded closer to the effective date of Statement on Auditing'S
106, which is effective for audits of financial statements for periods beginning on or

15, 2006. Earlier application is permitted. Statement on Aunditing Standards No. 108 is
the AU Risk Assessment Standards: SAS No. 104-5AS No. 111" section, following the "AU Section
800-Special Reports of the Committee on Auditing Procedure" section, of this publication.

. % See gection 319, Consideration of Internal Controlin g Financial Statement Audit, paragraphs
50 through .104, for further guidance on evidential matter. [Footnote added, May 1994, to cross-
reference guidance on evidential matter to section 319, Footnote revised, May 2001, to refleet con-

forming changes necessary due to the iasuance of Statement on Auditing Standards No. 94}
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m%am $AS No. 1, section 561; SAS No. 98.
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"Section 561
Subsequent Discovery of Facts Existing af the

v

Date of the Audifor’s Report

See section 9561 for interpretations o:rmm‘mmn:o:.

.m.w_vo date, unless otherwise indicated: November, 1972.

*,* 01 ' The procedures described in this section should be followed by the
‘auditor who, subsequent to the date of the report upon audited financial state-
ments, becomes aware that facts may have existed at that date which might
have affected the report had he or she then been aware of such facts.! [As
amended, effective September 2002, by Statement on Auditing Standards No.
98.] .

.02 Becdise of the variety of conditions which might be encountered, some

" of these procedures are necessarily set out only in general terms; the specific

actions to be takén in a particular case may vary soméwhat in the light of the cir-
cumstances. The auditor would be well advised to consult with an attorney when
he or she encounters the circumstances to which this section may apply because
of legal implications that may be involved in actions contemplated herein, in-
cluding, for example, the possible effect of state statutes regarding confidential-
ity of auditor-client communications. [As amended, effective September 2002,
by Statement on Auditing Standards No. 98.] .

.03 After the date of the report, the auditor has no obligation® to make
any further or continuing inquiry or perform any other auditing procedures
with respect to the audited financial statements covered by that report, unless
new information which may affect the report comes to his or her attention..[As

" amended, effective’September 2002, by Statement on Auditing Standards No.
. ) : @_m“_. LTV . N
. &

.04 When the auditor becomes aware of information which relates to fi-’

nancial statements previously reported on by him, but which was not known
$o him at-the date.of his report, and which is of such a nature.and from such a
source that he would have investigated it had it come to his attention during the
course of his audit, he should, as seon as practicable, undertake to determine
whether the information is reliable and whether the facts. existed at the date
of his report. In. this' connection, the auditor should discuss the matter with

* “his client at whatever management levels he deems appropriate, including the

board of directors, and request cooperation in whatever investigation may be
necessary. .

1 If the finaneial statements have not yet been issued, see the guidance found in section 560,
Subsequent Events. [Footnote added, effective September 2002, by Statement on Auditing Standards
No. 98. . ) . .

2 However, see seetion 711.10—,13 as to an auditor’s obligation with respact to-andited financial
statements included in registration statements filed undér the Securities Act of 1933 between the
date of the auditor's report and the effective date of the registration statement. (Footnote revised by

the issuance of Statement on Auditihg Standards No, 37, April 1981. Footnote renwmbered by the -

issuance of Statement on Auditing Standards No. 98, Septamber 2002.] '
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w&m auditor's knowledge that there are persons who are currently relying or who

will rety on the mﬂmﬁ&mﬂmnmﬂmswﬁmWbmﬂrmm‘w&ﬂou_mnmvoﬁumbmﬂwnu Soﬁa
attach importance to the information, and the auditor's ability as a practical
matter to communicate with them. Unless the auditor's attorney recommends

\a different course of action, the auditor should take the following steps to the
gextent applicable:

D A e N

07 The auditor should take whatever steps he deems necessary to satisfy
lf that the client has made the disclosures specified in paragraph .06.

vcm _Ifthe client refuses to make the disclosures specified in paragraph .08,

the auditor should notify each member of the board of directors of such refusal

d of the fact that, in the absence of disclogure by the client, the auditor will
ke steps as outlined below to prevent future reliance upon his report. The
teps that can appropriately be taken will depend upon the degree of certainty of

a. Notification to the client that the auditor's report must no longer be
associated with the financial statements.

b Notification to regulatory agencies having jurisdiction over the client
that the auditor's report should no longer be relied upon.

e Notification to each person known to the auditor to be relying on the
financial statements that his report should no longer be relied upon.
In many instances, it will not be practicable for the auditor to give ap-
propriate individual notification to stockholders or investors at large,
whose identities ordinarily are unknown to him; notification to a reg-
ulatory agency having jurisdiction over the client will usually be the
only practicable way for the auditor to provide appropriate disclosure.
Such notification should be accompanied by a request that the agency
take whatever steps it may deem appropriate to accomplish the nee-
essary disclosure. The Securities and Exchange Commission and the
stock exchanges are appropriate agencies for this purpose as to corpo-
rations within their jurisdictions.
.09 The following guidelines should govern the content of any disclosure
made by the auditor in accordance with, paragraph .08 to persons other than
his client: :

g. Ifthe auditor has been &&o to make a satisfactory investigation of the
information and has determined that the information is reliable:

()  The disclosure should describe the effect the subsequently ac-
quired information would have had on the auditor's report if it
had been known to him at the date of his report and had not
been reflected in the financial statements. The disclosure should
include a description of the nature of the subsequently acquired
information and of its effect on the financial statements.

(i) ‘The information disclosed should be as precise and factual as
possible and should not go beyond that which is reasonably nec-
essary to accomplish the purpose mentioned in the preceding
subparagraph (i). Comments concerning the conduct or motives

of any person should be avoided.

b If the client has not cooperated and as a result the auditor is unable
to conduct a satisfactory investigation of the information, his disclo-
sure need not detail the specifie information but can merely indicate
that information has come to his attention which his client has not

AU §561.09
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c Section 9561 .
Subsequent Discovery of Facts Existing at the
Date of the Auditor’s Report: Auditing
“Inferpretations of Section 561

2 1. >cm_—on >muon.a=o= With Subsequently Discovered information When
the Auditor Has Resigned or Been Discharged :

. .01 Question—New information may come o an auditor's attention subse-
quent to the date of his.report on audited financial statements that might affect
. the previously issued audit report. Is the auditor's responsibility with nmmvmow to
. that information different if the auditor has resigned or been discharged prior
to undertaking or SBEoﬁﬁm ?m E<mmﬁmmaob than if he were the continuing
auditor?

02 Nﬁaﬁwmgﬁs:\.lzp mooﬁob. 561, m:m.mmngaa Discovery of Facts Exist-
ing at the Date of the Auditor's Report, requires the auditor to undertake to
determine whether the information is reliable and whether the facts existed
at the date of his report. This undertaking must be mwuwoamm even when the
auditor has resigned or been discharged. -

[Issue Date: February, 1989.]

{The next page is 1051.]
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AU Section 120

Defining Professional Requirements in
Statements on Auditing Standards

Source: SAS No. 102,

e Cratn et Ion:

Effective December 2005, m
Infroduction

.01 This section sets forth the Bmmﬂum. of certain terms used in mgnm..
ments on Auditing Standards (SASs) issued by the Auditing Standards Board
in describing the professional requirements imposed on auditors,

Professional Requirements

.02 SASs coptain professional requirements together with related guid-
ance in the form of explanatory material. Auditors have a responsibility to con-
sider the entire text of a SAS in carrying out their work on an engagement and
in understanding and applying the professional requirements of the relevant
m»mm. -7 A .,.:..:.«

.03 Not every Umﬁmmnmvm of 2 SAS cazries a professional requirement that
the auditor is expected to fulfill. Rather, the professional requirements are
communicated by the language and the meaning of the words used in the SASs,

04 SBASs use two categories of professional requirements, identified by
specific terms, to describe the degree of responsibility they impose on auditors,
-as follows: . . .

®  Unconditional requirements. The auditor is required to comply with
an unconditional requirement in'all cases in which the circumstances
exist to which the unconditional requirement applies. SASs use the
words must or is required to indicate an unconditional requirement,”

®  Presumptively mandatory requirements. The auditor ig also required

to comply with a presumptively mandatory requirement in all cases

in which the circumstances exist to which the presumptively manda-

tory requirement applies; however, in rare circumstances, the auditor

., may depart from a presumptively mandatory requirement provided
g the auditor documents his or her justification for the departure and .

" how the alternative procedures performed in the circumstances were

sufficient to achieve the objectives of the presumptively mandatory

requirement. SASs. use the word should $o indicate a presumptively

mandatory requirement. . .

Ifa SAS provides that a wwoommﬁ..w or action is one that the anditor "should con-
sider," the consideration of the procedure or action is presumptively required,

. Whereas. carrying out the procedure or action is not. The professional require-
thents of a SAS are to be understood and applied in the context of the explana-
fory material that provides guidance for their application. Sectiori 339, Audit
Rocumentation, establishes standards and provides guidance on the form, con-
tent, and extent of audit documentation, . S

AU §120.04
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. Statements on. Auditing Standards—Introdiction

Explanatory Material :
.06 Explanatory material is defined as the text within & SAS (excluding
any related appendixes or interpretations!) that may: _

e Provide further explanation and guidance on the professional Tequire-
ments; or .

o Identify and describe other precédures dr actions relating to the activ-
ities of the auditor.

.06 Explanatory material that provides further explanation and guidance
on the professional requirements is intended to be descriptive rather than im-
perative. That is, it explains the objective of the professional requirements
(where not othexrwise self-evident); it explains why the auditor might consider
or employ particular procedures, depending on the circumstances; and it pro-

vides additional information for the auditor to consider in exercising profes-
gional judgment in vm.umoﬂgwﬂm the engagement. .
.07 Explanatory material that identifies and describes other procedures

or actions relating to the activities of the auditor is not intended to impose a

- professional requirement for the auditor to perform the suggested procedures

or actions. Rather, these procedures or actions require the auditor's attention
and understanding; how and whether the-auditor carries out such procedures
or actions in the engagement depends on the exercise of professional judgment
in the circumstances consistent with the objective of the standard. The words
may, might, and could are used to describe these actions and procedures.

Application

08 The provisions of this gection are effective upon issuance:?:

[The next page is 8Ll

1 Auditing interpretations and certain appendixes wmuaomoum interpretive publications, which dif- ;

fer from explanatory material. Interpretive publications, a8 defined 'in peragraphe .06 and .06 of
section 150, Generally Accepted Auditing Standards, as amended, reside outside of the standards
section of a SAS and axe recommendations. on the application of the SAS in specific. circumstances,
including engagements for entities in specialized industries. In contrast, explanatory, material is al-
whys contained withiii the stsndards sections of the SAS and is meant to be more descriptive in
 pature. Interpretive publications are issued under the authority of the Auditing Standards Board
(ASB) and consist of auditing interpretations of the SASs, appendizes to the SASs (except for pre-
viously issued appendixes to original pronouncements that when adopted modified ather SASs), au-
diting guidance included in AICPA Audit and Accounting Guides, and AICPA auditing Statements
of Position. ) : — . S
2 The specific terms used to defipe professional requirements in this section are not intended to
apply tointerpretive publications issusd under the authority of the ASB, sineg interpretive publica-
tions are not auditing standards. (See footnote 1.) Itis the ASB's intention to make conforming changes
to the interpretive publications over the next several years to remove any ianguage that would imply
a professional requirement where none existe. Tt is the ASB's intention that such language would only
bo used in the standards sections of the SASs. B : .

AU w_mo:o.s 150
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Generally Accepted Auditing StandardsS
(Supersedes SAS No. 1, section 150) . . .
Source: SAS No. 95;-SAS No. 98; SAS Zm..,_on..

. Effective for audits of financial statements for periods beginning on or after

December 15, 2001, unless otherwise indicated. A

. .01 An independent auditor plans, conducts, and rej

A A s N . N reports the re

an audit in accordance with generally accepted mﬁ&ﬁﬁmwgmﬂmm AMMW%M.
.Pﬁ&gm mﬂw.bmmhmm vﬁoﬁ@m a measure of audit quality and the objectives 8
be mmwzmgm. in an audit. Auditing procedures differ from auditing standards
Auditing procedures are acts that the auditor performs during the courge of mb

* audit.to comply with auditing standards.

m&&::w Standards

02 The general, field work, and reporti E
_ , fiel \ porting standards (the 1
approved and adopted by the membership of the AICPA, Mm MB%bmwﬂbme mw

. AICPA Auditing wﬂ.mbm.mam..mowwm (ASB), are as follows:

General Standards ~

'1° The audit is to'be perfarmed by a ersons havi .
& bl Y & person or persons h .
. technical training and proficiency as an mﬁ&mma aving adequate

2, In all matters relating to the assi i s .
: - s g gnment, an independ
attitude is to be maintained by the mﬁ&nmu or mcmm.,onm.munm n mental

3. Due professional care is to be exercised in the per q
_ er{i i
and the preparatien of the report. performancs of the audit

Standards of Field Work -
1. The work is to be adequately planned and assistants, if any, are to be

"« - properly supervised.

N. > m_hwm.smwﬁ gQQHMRg&HHm Om Eﬂ@ga 8”&& OH is to .UQ Omu&gm&. to UHNHH
0€ H 0 4

3. Sufficient competent evidential matter i i
. fic . ent evider aatter is to be obtained.through in:
. spection, observation, inquiries, and confirmations to afford a H.mmmmmw.

mE . .. ._‘ .
&b %m%mm_m for mw oﬁESbummmw&bmnWmmng&mamnoﬂmamdbmmu

- . Standards of Reporting

" 4 This section has been am >
) : on | ended by Statement on Auditing Standards Ni
.MHM”MMM& %: Auditing muna.&as&m No. 95, Generatly Accepted ?nmwmum mgaaw.%m%nﬂﬁﬁﬁ
s b%MMN..M ﬁwE effective date om Statement on-Auditing Standards No. 105, which is effective for
cial statements for periods beginning on or after Detember 15, 2006. Earlier application

is'permitted. Statement on Auditing Staridards No. 105 is included in the "AU Risk Assessment

Stany < i i
derds: SAS No. 104-8AS No. 111" section, following the "AU Section 900—Special Reports of the

. Committee on Auditing Procedure” section, of this publication.
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690-137.002
Rulemaking Authority

624.308 Rules.--

(1) The department and the commission may each adopt rules pursuant to ss. 120.536(1) and 120.54 to
implement provisions of law conferring duties upon the department or the commission, respectively.

624.424 Annual statement and other information.—

(8) (e) The commission shall adopt rules to implement this subsection, which rules must be in
substantial conformity with the 1998 Model Rule Requiring Annual Audited Financial Reports adopted by
the National Association of Insurance Commissioners or subsequent amendments, except where
inconsistent with the requirements of this subsection. Any exception to, waiver of, or interpretation of
accounting requirements of the commission must be in writing and signed by an authorized
representative of the office. No insurer may raise as a defense in any action, any exception to, waiver
of, or interpretation of accounting requirements, unless previously issued in writing by an authorized
representative of the office.

624.307 General powers; duties.--

(1) The department and office shall enforce the provisions of this code and shall execute the duties
imposed upon them by this code, within the respective jurisdiction of each, as provided by law.

624.424 Annual statement and other information.--

(8)(a) All authorized insurers must have conducted an annual audit by an independent certified public
accountant and must file an audited financial report with the office on or before June 1 for the
preceding year ending December 31. The office may require an insurer to file an audited financial
report earlier than June 1 upon 90 days' advance notice to the insurer. The office may immediately
suspend an insurer's certificate of authority by order if an insurer's failure to file required reports,
financial statements, or information required by this subsection or rule adopted pursuant thereto
creates a significant uncertainty as to the insurer's continuing eligibility for a certificate of authority.

(b) Any authorized insurer otherwise subject to this section having direct premiums written in this
state of less than $1 million in any calendar year and fewer than 1,000 policyholders or
certificateholders of directly written policies nationwide at the end of such calendar year is exempt
from this section for such year unless the office makes a specific finding that compliance is necessary
in order for the office to carry out its statutory responsibilities. However, any insurer having assumed
premiums pursuant to contracts or treaties or reinsurance of $1 million or more is not exempt. Any
insurer subject to an exemption must submit by March 1 following the year to which the exemption
applies an affidavit sworn to by a responsible officer of the insurer specifying the amount of direct
premiums written in this state and number of policyholders or certificateholders.

(c) The board of directors of an insurer shall hire the certified public accountant that prepares the
audit required by this subsection and the board shall establish an audit committee of three or more
directors of the insurer or an affiliated company. The audit committee shall be responsible for
discussing audit findings and interacting with the certified public accountant with regard to her or his
findings. The audit committee shall be comprised solely of members who are free from any relationship
that, in the opinion of its board of directors, would interfere with the exercise of independent
judgment as a committee member. The audit committee shall report to the board any findings of
adverse financial conditions or significant deficiencies in internal controls that have been noted by the
accountant. The insurer may request the office to waive this requirement of the audit committee
membership based upon unusual hardship to the insurer.



690-137.002
Rulemaking Authority

(d) Aninsurer may not use the same accountant or partner of an accounting firm responsibte for
preparing the report required by this subsection for more than 7 consecutive years. Following this
period, the insurer may not use such accountant or partner for a period of 2 years, but may use
another accountant or partner of the same firm. An insurer may request the office to waive this
prohibition based upon an unusual hardship to the insurer and a determination that the accountant is
exercising independent judgment that is not unduly influenced by the insurer considering such factors
as the number of partners, expertise of the partners or the number of insurance clients of the
accounting firm; the premium volume of the insurer; and the number of jurisdictions in which the
insurer transacts business.

(e) The commission shall adopt rules to implement this subsection, which rules must be in substantial
conformity with the 1998 Model Rule Requiring Annual Audited Financial Reports adopted by the
National Association of Insurance Commissioners or subsequent amendments, except where
inconsistent with the requirements of this subsection. Any exception to, waiver of, or interpretation of
accounting requirements of the commission must be in writing and signed by an authorized
representative of the office. No insurer may raise as a defense in any action, any exception to, waiver
of, or interpretation of accounting requirements, unless previously issued in writing by an authorized
representative of the office.



MEMORANDUM

DATE: July 13, 2010
TO: Kevin M. McCarty, Commissioner, Office of Insurance Regulation
THROUGH: Steven H. Parton, General Counsel /%

FROM: Dennis ThreadgiF =2

Bob Prentiss %Q

SUBJECT: Cabinet Agenda for August 10, 2010
Request for Final Approval to Adopt Amendments to
Rule 690-167.024
Assmt. 44307

The Office of Insurance Regulation requests that these proposed rule amendments be
presented to the Cabinet aides on or before August 4, 2010 and to the Financial Services
Commission on August 10, 2010, with a request for Final Approval to Adopt the proposed rules.
A notice of the Commission Final Rule Hearing will be published in the Florida Administrative
 Weekly on July 23, 2010.

The notice of proposed rules was published June 18, 2010 in Volume 36, No. 24, of the Weekly.
The hearing was not requested, therefore, the hearing was not held. No changes were made.

The Legislature changed the numbering within Section 627.021, Florida Statutes. Consequently,
this rule needs to be changed to reflect the renumbering. There is no substantive change in the
proposed rule.

Sections 624.308, 627.021, 627.607, 627.062, 627.0651, F.S., provide rulemaking authority and
laws implemented for this rule.

The Legal Services Office has communicated with the Joint Administrative Procedures
Committee, and ascertained that their review of the rules has been completed.

Bob Prentiss is the attorney handling this rule. Attached are: 1) the proposed rule(s); 2) any
incorporated materials, such as forms; 3) copies of the rulemaking statutory authority and law
implemented. »



Approved for signature: 7‘%%
Sfevén H. Parton, Genéral %:ounsel

Approved for submission to Financial Services
Commission:

Kevin M. McCarty, Commissioner
Office of Insurance Regulation




690-167.024 Rate Filings for Inland Marine Insurance.

(1) This rule applies to marine insurance that is subject to Chapter 627, Florida Statutes. :

(2) Section 627.021(2)(c), Florida Statutes, states that Chapter 627, Florida Statutes, does not apply to ocean marine insurance
as distinguished from inland marine insurance. '

(a) Section 627.021(d) 627-065113)(e), Florida Statutes, states that rates and rules are not required to be filed for commercial
inland marine risks. '

(b) The specific exclusion of commercial inland marine risks indicates that rates and rules for personal inland marine risks must
continue to be filed with the Office.

(c) For purposes of this rule, personal inland marine is defined as insurance covering non-business property of a portable or
movable nature that would typically be included in or with a homeowner’s policy or a separate policy insuring one or more articles
of property, including, but not limited to, jewelry, furs, art objects, silverware, glassware, small boats, sports equipment.

(d) For purposes of this rule, commercial inland marine is defined as commercial or industrial property, often but not always of
a portable or movable nature or instrumentalities of transportation or communication, that would typically be included in or with a
commercial lines policy or written in a separate policy insuring one or more such items of property, including, but not limited to,
‘commercial goods in transit, traffic signals, bridges, tunnels. ' ‘

Rulemaking-Speeifie Authority 624.308(1) FS. Law Implemented 624.607,627.021, 627.062, 6279651 FS. History-New 1-27-92, Formerly 4-
167.024.
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624.308 Rules.--

(1) The department and the commission may each adopt rules pursuant to ss. 120.536(1) and 120.54 to
implement provisions of law conferring duties upon the department or the commission, respectively.

624.607 "Marine insurance,” "wet marine and transportation insurance,” and "inland marine

insurance” defined.--
(1) "Marine insurance” includes:
(a) Insurance against any kinds of loss or damage to:

1. Vessels, craft, aircraft, cars, automobiles, and vehicles of every kind, as well as all goods, freights,
cargoes, merchandise, effects, disbursements, profits, moneys, bullion, precious stones, securities,
choses in action, evidences of debt, valuable papers, bottomry and respondentia interests and all other
kinds of property and interests therein, in respect to, appertaining to, or in connection with any and all
risks or perils of navigation, transit, or transportation, including war risks, on or under any-seas or
other waters, on land or in the air, or while being assembled, packed, crated, baled, compressed, or
similarly prepared for shipment or while awaiting the same or during any delays, storage,
transshipment, or reshipment incident thereto, including marine builder’'s risks and all personal
property floater risks; and

2. Person or property in connection with or appertaining to a marine, inland marine, transit, or
transportation insurance, including liability for loss of or damage to either, arising out of or in
connection with the construction, repair, operation, maintenance, or use of the subject matter of such
insurance, but not including life insurance or surety bonds nor insurance against loss by reason of
bodily injury to the person arising out of the ownership, maintenance, or use of automobiles; and

3. Precious stones, jewels, jewelry, gold, silver, and other precious metals, whether used in business
or trade or otherwise and whether the same be in course of transportation or otherwise; and

4, Bridges, tunnels, and other instrumentalities of transportation and communication (excluding
buildings, their furniture and furnishings, fixed contents, and supplies held in storage) unless fire,
tornado, sprinkler leakage, hail, explosion, earthquake, riot, and/or civil commotion are the only
hazards to be covered; piers, wharves, docks, and slips, excluding the risks of fire, tornado, sprinkler
leakage, hail, explosion, earthquake, riot, and/or civil commotion; and other aids to navigation and
transportation, including dry docks and marine railways, against all risks.

(b) Marine protection and indemnity insurance, meaning insurance against, or against legal liability of
the insured for, loss, damage, or expense arising out of, or incident to, the ownership, operation,
chartering, maintenance, use, repair, or construction of any vessel, craft, or instrumentality in use in
ocean or inland waterways, including liability of the insured for personal injury, illness, or death or for
loss of or damage to the property of another person.

(2) For the purposes of this code, "wet marine and transportation insurance” is that part of marine
insurance which includes only:

(a) Insurance upon vessels, crafts, and hulls and of interests therein or with relation thereto;

(b) Insurance of marine builders' risks, marine war risks, and contracts of marine protection and
indemnity insurance;
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(c) Insurance of freights and disbursements pertaining to a subject of insurance coming within this
definition; and

(d) Insurance of personal property and interests therein, in course of exportation from or importation
into any country, or in course of transportation coastwise or on inland waters, including transportation
by land, water, or air from point of origin to final destination, in respect to, appertaining to, or in
connection with any and all risks or perils of navigation, transit, or transportation, and while being
prepared for and while awaiting shipment, and during any delays, storage, transshipment, or
reshipment incident thereto.

(3) For the purposes of this code, "inland marine insurance” is as established by general custom of the
insurance business and promulgated by rule of the commission.

627.021 Scope of this part.--

(1) This part of this chapter applies only to property, casualty, and surety insurances on subjects of
insurance resident, located, or to be performed in this state.

(2) This chapter does not apply to:
(a) Reinsurance, except joint reinsurance as provided in s. 627.311.

(b) Insurance against loss of or damage to aircraft, their hulls, accessories, or equipment, or against
liability, other than workers' compensation and employer's liability, arising out of the ownership,
maintenance, or use of aircraft.

(c) Insurance of vessels or craft, their cargoes, marine builders' risks, marine protection and
indemnity, or other risks commonly insured under marine insurance policies.

(d) Commercial inland marine insurance.
{(e) Surplus lines insurance placed under the provisions of ss. 626.913-626.937.

(3) For the purposes of this chapter, all motor vehicle insurance shall be deemed to be casualty
insurance only.

(4) This part does not apply to health insurance.

627.062 Rate standards.--

(1) The rates for all classes of insurance to which the provisions of this part are applicable shall not be
excessive, inadequate, or unfairly discriminatory.

(2) As to all such classes of insurance:

(a) Insurers or rating organizations shall establish and use rates, rating schedules, or rating manuals to
allow the insurer a reasonable rate of return on such classes of insurance written in this state. A copy
of rates, rating schedules, rating manuals, premium credits or discount schedules, and surcharge
schedules, and changes thereto, shall be filed with the office under one of the following procedures
except as provided in subparagraph 3.:
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If the filing is made at least 90 days before the proposed effective date and the filing is not
implemented during the office’s review of the filing and any proceeding and judicial review, then such
filing shall be considered a "file and use” filing. In such case, the office shall finalize its review by
issuance of a notice of intent to approve or a notice of intent to disapprove within 90 days after
receipt of the filing. The notice of intent to approve and the notice of intent to disapprove constitute
agency action for purposes of the Administrative Procedure Act. Requests for supporting information,
requests for mathematical or mechanical corrections, or notification to the insurer by the office of its
preliminary findings shall not toll the 90-day period during any such proceedings and subsequent
judicial review. The rate shall be deemed approved if the office does not issue a notice of intent to

approve or a notice of intent to disapprove within 90 days after receipt of the filing.

2. If the filing is not made in accordance with the provisions of subparagraph 1., such filing shall be
made as soon as practicable, but no later than 30 days after the effective date, and shall be considered
a "use and file" filing. An insurer making a "use and file" filing is potentially subject to an order by the
office to return to policyholders portions of rates found to be excessive, as provided in paragraph (h).

3. For all property insurance filings made or submitted after January 25, 2007, but before December
31, 2010, an insurer seeking a rate that is greater than the rate most recently approved by the office
shall make a "file and use" filing. For purposes of this subparagraph, motor vehicle collision and

comprehensive coverages are not considered to be property coverages.

(b) Upon receiving a rate filing, the office shall review the rate filing to determine if a rate is
excessive, inadequate, or unfairly discriminatory. In making that determination, the office shall, in
accordance with generally accepted and reasonable actuarial techniques, consider the following

factors:

1. Past and prospective loss experience within and without this state.

2. Past and prospective expenses.
3. The degree of competition among insurers for the risk insured.

4. Investment income reasonably expected by the insurer, consistent with the insurer's investment
practices, from investable premiums anticipated in the filing, plus any other expected income from
currently invested assets representing the amount expected on unearned premium reserves and loss

reserves. The commission may adopt rules using reasonable techniques of actuarial science and
economics to specify the manner in which insurers shall calculate investment income attributable to
such classes of insurance written in this state and the manner in which such investment income shall be
used to calculate insurance rates. Such manner shall contemplate allowances for an underwriting profit
factor and full consideration of investment income which produce a reasonable rate of return;
however, investment income from invested surplus may not be considered.

5. The reasonableness of the judgment reflected in the filing.

6. Dividends, savings, or unabsorbed premium deposits allowed or returned to Florida policyholders,
members, or subscribers.

7. The adequacy of loss reserves.

8. The cost of reinsurance. The office shall not disapprove a rate as excessive solely due to the insurer
having obtained catastrophic reinsurance to cover the insurer's estimated 250-year probable maximum
loss or any lower level of loss.
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9. Trend factors, including trends in actual losses per insured unit for the insurer making the filing.
10. Conflagration and catastrophe hazards, if applicable.

11. Projected hurricane losses, if applicable, which must be estimated using a model or method found
to be acceptable or reliable by the Florida Commission on Hurricane Loss Projection Methodology, and
as further provided in s. 627.0628.

12. A reasonable margin for underwriting profit and contingencies.
13. The cost of medical services, if applicable.
14. Other relevant factors which impact upon the frequency or severity of claims or upon expenses.

(c) In the case of fire insurance rates, consideration shall be given to the availability of water supplies
and the experience of the fire insurance business during a period of not less than the most recent 5-
year period for which such experience is available.

(d) - If conflagration or catastrophe hazards are given consideration by an insurer in its rates or rating
plan, including surcharges and discounts, the insurer shall establish a reserve for that portion of the
premium allocated to such hazard and shall maintain the premium in a catastrophe reserve. Any
removal of such premiums from the reserve for purposes other than paying claims associated with a
catastrophe or purchasing reinsurance for catastrophes shall be subject to approval of the office. Any
ceding commission received by an insurer purchasing reinsurance for catastrophes shall be placed in
the catastrophe reserve.

(e) After consideration of the rate factors provided in paragraphs (b), (c), and (d), a rate may be
found by the office to be excessive, inadequate, or unfairly discriminatory based upon the following
standards:

1. Rates shall be deemed excessive if they are likely to produce a profit from Florida business that is
unreasonably high in relation to the risk involved in the class of business or if expenses are
unreasonably high in relation to services rendered.

2. Rates shall be deemed excessive if, among other things, the rate structure established by a stock
insurance company provides for replenishment of surpluses from premiums, when the replenishment is
attributable to investment losses.

3. Rates shall be deemed inadequate if they are clearly insufficient, together with the investment
income attributable to them, to sustain projected losses and expenses in the class of business to which

they apply.

4, A rating plan, including discounts, credits, or surcharges, shall be deemed unfairly discriminatory if
it fails to clearly and equitably reflect consideration of the policyholder's participation in a risk
management program adopted pursuant to s. 627.0625.

5. Arate shall be deemed inadequate as to the premium charged to a risk or group of risks if discounts
or credits are allowed which exceed a reasonable reflection of expense savings and reasonably
expected loss experience from the risk or group of risks.
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6. A rate shall be deemed unfairly discriminatory as to a risk or group of risks if the application of
premium discounts, credits, or surcharges among such risks does not bear a reasonable relationship to
the expected loss and expense experience among the various risks.

(f) In reviewing a rate filing, the office may require the insurer to provide at the insurer's expense all
information necessary to evaluate the condition of the company and the reasonableness of the filing
according to the criteria enumerated in this section.

(g) The office may at any time review a rate, rating schedule, rating manual, or rate change; the
pertinent records of the insurer; and market conditions. If the office finds on a preliminary basis that a
rate may be excessive, inadequate, or unfairly discriminatory, the office shall initiate proceedings to
disapprove the rate and shall so notify the insurer. However, the office may not disapprove as
excessive any rate for which it has given final approval or which has been deemed approved for a
period of 1 year after the effective date of the filing unless the office finds that a material
misrepresentation or material error was made by the insurer or was contained in the filing. Upon being
so notified, the insurer or rating organization shall, within 60 days, file with the office all information
which, in the belief of the insurer or organization, proves the reasonableness, adequacy, and fairness
of the rate or rate change. The office shall issue a notice of intent to approve or a notice of intent to
disapprove pursuant to the procedures of paragraph (a) within 90 days after receipt of the insurer's
initial response. In such instances and in any administrative proceeding relating to the legality of the
rate, the insurer or rating organization shall carry the burden of proof by a preponderance of the
evidence to show that the rate is not excessive, inadequate, or unfairly discriminatory. After the office
notifies an insurer that a rate may be excessive, inadequate, or unfairly discriminatory, unless the
office withdraws the notification, the insurer shall not alter the rate except to conform with the
office’s notice until the earlier of 120 days after the date the notification was provided or 180 days
_after the date of the implementation of the rate. The office may, subject to chapter 120, disapprove
without the 60-day notification any rate increase filed by an insurer within the prohibited time period
or during the time that the legality of the increased rate is being contested.

(h) In the event the office finds that a rate or rate change is excessive, inadequate, or unfairly
discriminatory, the office shall issue an order of disapproval specifying that a new rate or rate schedule
which responds to the findings of the office be filed by the insurer. The office shall further order, for
any "use and file" filing made in accordance with subparagraph (a)2., that premiums charged each
policyholder constituting the portion of the rate above that which was actuarially justified be returned
to such policyholder in the form of a credit or refund. If the office finds that an insurer's rate or rate
change is inadequate, the new rate or rate schedule filed with the office in response to such a finding
shall be applicable only to new or renewal business of the insurer written on or after the effective date
of the responsive filing.

(i) Except as otherwise specifically provided in this chapter, the office shall not prohibit any insurer,
including any residual market plan or joint underwriting association, from paying acquisition costs
based on the full amount of premium, as defined in s. 627.403, applicable to any policy, or prohibit any
such insurer from including the full amount of acquisition costs in a rate filing.

(j) With respect to residential property insurance rate filings, the rate filing must account for
mitigation measures undertaken by policyholders to reduce hurricane losses.

(k)1. An insurer may make a separate filing limited solely to an adjustment of its rates for reinsurance
or financing costs incurred in the purchase of reinsurance or financing products to replace or finance
the payment of the amount covered by the Temporary Increase in Coverage Limits (TICL) portion of the
Florida Hurricane Catastrophe Fund including replacement reinsurance for the TICL reductions made
pursuant to s. 215.555(17)(e); the actual cost paid due to the application of the TICL premium factor
pursuant to s. 215.555(17)(f); and the actual cost paid due to the application of the cash build-up
factor pursuant to s. 215.555(5)(b) if the insurer:
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a. Elects to purchase financing products such as a liquidity instrument or line of credit, in which case

the cost included in the filing for the liquidity instrument or line of credit may not result in a premium

increase exceeding 3 percent for any individual policyholder. All costs contained in the filing may not
result in an overall premium increase of more than 10 percent for any individual policyholder.

b. Includes in the filing a copy of all of its reinsurance, liquidity instrument, or line of credit
contracts; proof of the billing or payment for the contracts; and the calculation upon which the
proposed rate change is based demonstrates that the costs meet the criteria of this section and are not
loaded for expenses or profit for the insurer making the filing.

¢. Includes no other changes to its rates in the filing.
d. Has not implemented a rate increase within the 6 months immediately preceding the filing.

e. Does not file for a rate increase under any other paragraph within 6 months after making a filing
under this paragraph.

f. That purchases reinsurance or financing products from an affiliated company in compliance with this
paragraph does so only if the costs for such reinsurance or financing products are charged at or below
charges made for comparable coverage by nonaffiliated reinsurers or financial entities making such
coverage or financing products available in this state.

2. Aninsurer may only make one filing in any 12-month period under this paragraph.

3. Aninsurer that elects to implement a rate change under this paragraph must file its rate filing with
the office at least 45 days before the effective date of the rate change. After an insurer submits a
complete filing that meets all of the requirements of this paragraph, the office has 45 days after the
date of the filing to review the rate filing and determine if the rate is excessive, inadequate, or
unfairly discriminatory.

The provisions of this subsection 'shall not apply to workers’ compensation and employer's liability
insurance and to motor vehicle insurance.

(3)(a) For individual risks that are not rated in accordance with the insurer’s rates, rating schedules,
rating manuals, and underwriting rules filed with the office and which have been submitted to the
insurer for individual rating, the insurer must maintain documentation on each risk subject to
individual risk rating. The documentation must identify the named insured and specify the
characteristics and classification of the risk supporting the reason for the risk being individually risk
rated, including any modifications to existing approved forms to be used on the risk. The insurer must
maintain these records for a period of at least 5 years after the effective date of the policy.

(b) Individual risk rates and modifications to existing approved forms are not subject to this part or
part ll, except for paragraph (a) and ss. 627.402, 627.403, 627.4035, 627.404, 627.405, 627.406,
627.407, 627.4085, 627.409, 627.4132, 627.4133, 627.415, 627.416, 627.417, 627.419, 627.425,

627.426, 627.4265, 627.427, and 627.428, but are subject to all other applicable provisions of this code
and rules adopted thereunder.

{c) This subsection does not apply to private passenger motor vehicle insurance.

(4) The establishment of any rate, rating classification, rating plan or schedule, or variation thereof in
violation of part IX of chapter 626 is also in violation of this section. In order to enhance the ability of
consumers to compare premiums and to increase the accuracy and usefulness of rate-comparison
information provided by the office to the public, the office shall develop a proposed standard rating
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territory plan to be used by all authorized property and casualty insurers for residential property
insurance. In adopting the proposed plan, the office may consider geographical characteristics relevant
to risk, county lines, major roadways, existing rating territories used by a significant segment of the
market, and other relevant factors. Such plan shall be submitted to the President of the Senate and
the Speaker of the House of Representatives by January 15, 2006. The plan may not be implemented
unless authorized by further act of the Legislature.

(5) With respect to a rate filing involving coverage of the type for which the insurer is required to pay
a reimbursement premium to the Florida Hurricane Catastrophe Fund, the insurer may fully recoup in
its property insurance premiums any reimbursement premiums paid to the Florida Hurricane
Catastrophe Fund, together with reasonable costs of other reinsurance, but except as otherwise
provided in this section, may not recoup reinsurance costs that duplicate coverage provided by the
Florida Hurricane Catastrophe Fund. An insurer may not recoup more than 1 year of reimbursement
premium at a time. Any under-recoupment from the prior year may be added to the following year's
reimbursement premium, and any over-recoupment shall be subtracted from the following year's
reimbursement premium.

(6)(a) If an insurer requests an administrative hearing pursuant to s. 120.57 related to a rate filing
under this section, the director of the Division of Administrative Hearings shall expedite the hearing
and assign an administrative law judge who shall commence the hearing within 30 days after the
receipt of the formal request and shall enter a recommended order within 30 days after the hearing or
within 30 days after receipt of the hearing transcript by the administrative law judge, whichever is
later. Each party shall be allowed 10 days in which to submit written exceptions to the recommended
order. The office shall enter a final order within 30 days after the entry of the recommended order.
The provisions of this paragraph may be waived upon stipulation of all parties.

(b) Upon entry of a final order, the insurer may request a expedited appellate review pursuant to the
Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure. It is the intent of the Legislature that the First District Court of
Appeal grant an insurer’s request for an expedited appellate review.

(7)(a) The provisions of this subsection apply only with respect to rates for medical malpractice
insurance and shall control to the extent of any conflict with other provisions of this section.

{b) Any portion of a judgment entered or settlement paid as a result of a statutory or common-law bad
faith action and any portion of a judgment entered which awards punitive damages against an insurer
may not be included in the insurer’s rate base, and shall not be used to justify a rate or rate change.-

Any common-law bad faith action identified as such, any portion of a settlement entered as a result of

a statutory or common-law action, or any portion of a settlement wherein an insurer agrees to pay
specific punitive damages may not be used to justify a rate or rate change. The portion of the taxable
costs and attorney's fees which is identified as being related to the bad faith and punitive damages in

these judgments and settlements may not be included in the insurer's rate base and may not be utilized
to justify a rate or rate change.

(c) Upon reviewing a rate filing and determining whether the rate is excessive, inadequate, or unfairly
discriminatory, the office shall consider, in accordance with generally accepted and reasonable
actuarial techniques, past and present prospective loss experience, either using loss experience solely
for this state or giving greater credibility to this state’s loss data after applying actuarially sound
methods of assigning credibility to such data.

(d) Rates shall be deemed excessive if, among other standards established by this section, the rate
structure provides for replenishment of reserves or surpluses from premiums when the replenishment is
attributable to investment losses.
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{e) The insurer must apply a discount or surcharge based on the health care provider's loss experience
or shall establish an alternative method giving due consideration to the provider's loss experience. The
insurer must include in the filing a copy of the surcharge or discount schedule or a description of the
alternative method used, and must provide a copy of such schedule or description, as approved by the
office, to policyholders at the time of renewal and to prospective policyholders at the time of
application for coverage.

(f) Each medical malpractice insurer must make a rate filing under this section, sworn to by at least
two executive officers of the insurer, at least once each calendar year.

(8)(a)1. No later than 60 days after the effective date of medical malpractice legislation enacted
during the 2003 Special Session D of the Florida Legislature, the office shall calculate a presumed
factor that reflects the impact that the changes contained in such legislation will have on rates for
medical malpractice insurance and shall issue a notice informing all insurers writing medical
malpractice coverage of such presumed factor. In determining the presumed factor, the office shall use
generally accepted actuarial techniques and standards provided in this section in determining the
expected impact on losses, expenses, and investment income of the insurer. To the extent that the
operation of a provision of medical malpractice legislation enacted during the 2003 Special Session D of
the Florida Legislature is stayed pending a constitutional challenge, the impact of that provision shall
not be included in the calculation of a presumed factor under this subparagraph.

2. No later than 60 days after the office issues its notice of the presumed rate change factor under
subparagraph 1., each insurer writing medical malpractice coverage in this state shall submit to the
office a rate filing for medical malpractice insurance, which will take effect no later than January 1,
2004, and apply retroactively to policies issued or renewed on or after the effective date of medical
malpractice legislation enacted during the 2003 Special Session D of the Florida Legislature. Except as
authorized under paragraph (b), the filing shall reflect an overall rate reduction at least as great as the
presumed factor determined under subparagraph 1. With respect to policies issued on or after the
effective date of such legislation and prior to the effective date of the rate filing required by this
subsection, the office shall order the insurer to make a refund of the amount that was charged in
excess of the rate that is approved.

(b) Any insurer or rating organization that contends that the rate provided for in paragraph (a) is
excessive, inadequate, or unfairly discriminatory shall separately state in its filing the rate it contends
is appropriate and shall state with specificity the factors or data that it contends should be considered
in order to produce such appropriate rate. The insurer or rating organization shall be permitted to use
all of the generally accepted actuarial techniques provided in this section in making any filing pursuant

to this subsection. The office shall review each such exception and approve or disapprove it prior to

use. It shall be the insurer's burden to actuarially justify any deviations from the rates required to be

filed under paragraph (a). The insurer making a filing under this paragraph shall include in the filing

the expected impact of medical malpractice legislation enacted during the 2003 Special Session D of
the Florida Legislature on losses, expenses, and rates.

(c) If any provision of medical malpractice legislation enacted during the 2003 Special Session D of the
Florida Legislature is held invalid by a court of competent jurisdiction, the office shall permit an
adjustment of all medical malpractice rates filed under this section to reflect the impact of such

holding on such rates so as to ensure that the rates are not excessive, inadequate, or unfairly
discriminatory.

(d) Rates approved on or before July 1, 2003, for medical malpractice insurance shall remain in effect
until the effective date of a new rate filing approved under this subsection.

(e) The calculation and notice by the office of the presumed factor pursuant to paragraph (a) is not an
order or rule that is subject to chapter 120. If the office enters into a contract with an independent
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consultant to assist the office in calculating the presumed factor, such contract shall not be subject to
the competitive solicitation requirements of s. 287.057.

(9)(a) The chief executive officer or chief financial officer of a property insurer and the chief actuary
of a property insurer must certify under oath and subject to the penalty of perjury, on a form approved
by the commission, the following information, which must accompany a rate filing:

1. The signing officer and actuary have reviewed the rate filing;

2. Based on the signing officer's and actuary's knowledge, the rate filing does not contain any untrue
statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary in order to make the statements
made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading;

3. Based on the signing officer's and actuary's knowledge, the information and other factors described
in paragraph (2)(b}), including, but not limited to, investment income, fairly present in all material

respects the basis of the rate filing for the periods presented in the filing; and

4. Based on the signing officer's and actuary's knowledge, the rate filing reflects all premium savings
that are reasonably expected to result from legislative enactments and are in accordance with
generally accepted and reasonable actuarial techniques.

{b) A signing officer or actuary knowingly making a false certification under this subsection commits a
violation of s. 626.9541(1)(e) and is subject to the penalties under s. 626.9521.

(c) Failure to provide such certification by the officer and actuary shall result in the rate filing being
' disapproved without prejudice to be refiled.

(d) The commission may adopt rules and forms pursuant to ss. 120.536(1) and 120.54 to administer this
subsection.

(10) The burden is on the office to establish that rates are excessive for personal lines residential
coverage with a dwelling replacement cost of $1 million or more or for a single condominium unit with
a combined dwelling and contents replacement cost of $1 million or more. Upon request of the office,
the insurer shall provide to the office such loss and expense information as the office reasonably needs

to meet this burden.

(11) Any interest paid pursuant to s. 627.70131(5) may not be included in the insurer's rate base and
may not be used to justify a rate or rate change.



MEMORANDUM

DATE: July 29, 2010

TO: Kevin M. McCarty, Commissioner, Office of Insurance Regulation
THROUGH: Steven H. Parton, General Counsel

FROM: Dennis Threadgill

Bob Prentiss

SUBJECT: Cabinet Agenda for August 10, 2010
Request for Approval to Publish Amendments to
Rule 690-162.203
Assmt. # 44314

The Office of Insurance Regulation requests that these proposed rule amendments be
presented to the Cabinet aides on or before August 4, 2010, and to the Financial Services
Commission on August 10, 2010, with a request to approve for publication the proposed rules.

Section 625.121(5) provides that the Commission may adopt by rule the NAIC Model
Regulations for valuation of life insurance policies. This rule does that. This rule is being
amended due to changes made to the NAIC Model Regulation. The amendment explains the
conditions for use of the preferred class structure mortality tables, and permits use of the
mortality tables for policies issued prior to the adoption date of the original rule.

Sections 624.308(1), 624.307 (1), 625.121, F.S., provide rulemaking authority and laws
implemented for this rule.

Amanda Hunter is the attorney handling this rule. Attached are: 1) the proposed rule(s), 2) any
incorporated materials, such as forms; and 3) copies of the rulemaking statutory authority and
law implemented.



Approved for signature:

Steven H. Parton, General

Approved for submission to Financial Services
Commission:

Kevin M. McCarty, Commissioner
Office of insurance Regulation




THE FULL TEXT OF THE PROPOSED RULE IS:

690-162.203 Adoption of 2001 Commissioners Standard Ordinary (CSO)
Preferred Mortality Tables for Determining Reserve Liabilities for Ordinary Life
Insurance.

(1) Scope. This rule shall govern mortality tables for use in reserves as set forth in
Section 625.121, F.S.

(2) Purpose. The purpose of this rule is to recognize, permit and prescribe the use of
mortality tables that reflect differences in mortality between Preferred and Standard
lives in determining minimum reserve liabilities in accordance with Section
625.121(5)(a)3., F.S., and subsection 690-164.020(5), F.A.C.

(3) Definitions.

(a) “2001 CSO Mortality Table” means that mortality table, consisting of separate
rates of mortality for male and female lives, developed by the American Academy of
Actuaries CSO Task Force from the Valuation Basic Mortality Table developed by the
Society of Actuaries Individual Life Insurance Valuation Mortality Task Force, and
adopted by the NAIC in December 2002. The 2001 CSO Mortality Table is included in
the Proceedings of the NAIC (2nd Quarter 2002) and supplemented by the 2001 CSO
Preferred Class Structure Mortality Table defined below in Subsection (b). Unless the
context indicates otherwise, the “2001 CSO Mortality Table” includes both the ultimate
form of that table and the select and ultimate form of that table and includes both the
smoker and nonsmoker mortality tables and the composite mortality tables. It also

includes both the age-nearest-birthday and age-last-birthday bases of the mortality

tables. Mortality tables in the 2001 CSO Mortality Table include the following:



1. “2001 CSO Mortality Table (F)” means that mortality table consisting of the rates
of mortality for female lives from the 2001 CSO Mortality Table.

2. “2001 CSO Mortality Table (M)” means that mortality table consisting of the rates
of mortality for male lives from the 2001 CSO Mortality Table.

3. “Composite mortality tables” means mortality tables with rates of mortality that do
not distinguish between smokers and nonsmokers.

4, “Smokér and nonsmoker mortality tables” means mortality tables with separate
rates of mortality for smokers and nonsmokers.

(b) “2001 CSO Preferred Class Structure Mortality Table” means mortality tables
with separate rates of mortality for Super Preferred Nonsmokers, Preferred
Nonsmokers, Residual Standard Nonsmokers, Preferred Smokers, and Residual
Standard Smoker splits of the 2001 CSO Nonsmoker and Smoker tables as adopted by
the NAIC September 10, 2006, which is available in the NAIC Proceedings (3rd Quarter
2006) which is adopted herein and incorporated by reference. Unless the context
indicates otherwise, the “2001 CSO Preferred Class Structure Mortality Table” includes
both the ultimate form of that table and the select and ultimate form of that table. It
includes both the smoker and nonsmoker mortality tables. It includes both the male and
female mortality tables and the gender composite mortality tables. It also includes both
the age-nearest-birthday and age-last-birthday bases of the mortality table.

(c) “Statistical agent” means an entity with proven systems for protecting the
confidentiality of individual insured and insurer information; demonstrated resources for
and history of ongoing electronic communications and data transfer ensuring data

integrity with insurers, which are its members or subscribers; and a history of and



means for aggregation of data and accurate promulgation of the experience
modifications in a timely manner.

(4) 2001 CSO Preferred Class Structure Table.

(a) At the .election of the company, for each calendar year of issue, for any one or
more specified plans of insurance and subject to satisfying the conditions stated in this
rule, the 2001 CSO Preferred Class Structure Mortality Table may be substituted in
place of the 2001 CSO Smoker or Nonsmoker Mortality Table as the minimum valuation
standard for policies issued on or after January 1, 2007.

1. On valuation dates beginning with December 31, 2010, for policies issued on or

after January 1, 2005 for policies not issued in this state, and on or after June 8,

2005, for policies issued in this state, and prior to January 1, 2007 wherever issued,

. these tables may be substituted with the consent of the commissioner and subject to

the conditions of (5).

2. In determining such consent, the commissioner may rely on the consent of the

commissioner of the company’s state of domicile.

(b) No such election shall be made until the company demonstrates at least 20% of
the business to be valued on this table is in one or more of the preferred classes.

(c) A table from the 2001 CSO Preferred Class Structure Mortality Table used in
place of a 2001 CSO Mortality Table, pursuant to the requirements of this rule, will be
treated as part of the 2001 CSO Mortality Table only for purposes of reserve valuation
pursdant to the requirements of Rule 690-162.201, F.A.C., Adoption of 2001
Commissioners Standard Ordinary (CSO) Mortality Tables.

(5) Conditions.



(a) For each plan of insurance with separate rates for Preferred and Standard
Nonsmoker lives, an insurer may use the Super Preferred Nonsmoker, Preferred
Nonsmoker, and Residual Standard Nonsmoker tables to substitute for the Nonsmoker
mortality table found in the 2001 CSO Mortality Table to determine minimum reserves.
At the time of election and annually thereafter, except for business valued under the
Residual Standard Nonsmoker Table, the appointed actuary shall certify that:

1. The present value of death benefits over the next ten years after the valuation
date, -using the anticipated mortality experience without recognition of mortality
improvement beyond the valuation daté for each class, is less than the present value of
death benefits using the valuation basic table corresponding to the valuation table being
used for that class.

2. The present valué of death benefits over the future life of the contracts, using
anticipated mortality experience without recognition of mortality improvement beyond
the valuation date for each class, is less than the present value of death benefits using
the valuation basic table corresponding to the valuation table being used for that class.

(b) For each plan of insurance with separate rates for Preferred and Standard
Smoker lives, an insurer may use the Preferred Smoker and Residual Standard Smoker
tables to substitute for the Smoker mortality table found in tﬁe 2001 CSO Mortality Table
to determine minimum reserves. At the time of election and annually thereafter, for
business valued under the Preferred Smoker Table, the appointed actuary shall certify
that:

1. The present value of death benefits over the next ten years after the valuation

date, using the anticipated mortality experience without recognition of mortality



improvement beyond the valuation date for each class, is less than the present value of
death benefits using the Preferred Smoker valuation basic table corresponding to the
valuation table being used for that class.

2. The present value of death benefits over the future life of the contracts, using
anticipated mortality experience without recognition of mortality improvement beyond
fhe valuation date for each class, is less than the present value of death benefits using
the Preferred Smoker valuation basic table.

(c) The use of the 2001 CSO Preferred Class Structure Table for the valuation of

policies issued prior to January 1, 2007 shall not be permitted in any statutory financial

statement in which a company reports, with respect to any policy or portion of a policy

coinsured, either of the following:

1. In cases where the mode of payment of the reinsurance premium is less frequent

than the mode of payment of the policy premium, a reserve credit that exceeds, by more

than the amount specified in this paragraph as Y, the gross reserve calculated before

reinsurance. Y is the amount of the gross reinsurance premium that (a) provides

coverage for the period from the next policy premium due date to the earlier of the end

of the policy vear and the next reinsurance premium due date, and (b) would be

‘refunded to the ceding entity upon the termination of the policy.

2.a. In cases where the mode of payment of the reinsurance premium is more

frequent than the mode of payment of the policy premium, a reserve credit that is less

than the gross reserve, calculated before reinsurance, by an amount that is less than

the amount specified in this paragraph as Z. Z is the amount of the gross reinsurance

premium that the ceding entity would need to pay the assuming company to provide




reinsurance coverage from the period of the next reinsurance premium due date to the

next policy premium due date minus any liability established for the proportionate

amount not remitted to the reinsurer.

b. For purposes of this condition, the reserve (i) for the mean reserve method shall be

defined as the mean reserve minus the deferred premium asset, and (ii) for the

midterminal reserve method shall include the unearned premium reserve. A company

may estimate and adjust its accounting on an aggregate basis in order to meet the

conditions to use the 2001 CSO Preferred Class Structure Table.

(6) Effective Date. This rule shall be effective for policies issued on or after January

1, 2007, for valuation dates on or after the date this rule becomes effective.

Rulemaking Speeifie Authority 624.308(1), 625.121 FS. Law Implemented 624.307(1),

625.121 FS. History—New 1-16-08.
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624.308 Rules.--

(1) The department and the commission may each adopt rules pursuant to ss. 120.536(1) and 120.54 to
implement provisions of law conferring duties upon the department or the commission, respectively.

625.121 Standard Valuation Law; life insurance.--
(1) SHORT TITLE.--This section shall be known as the "Standard Valuation Law."

(2) ANNUAL VALUATION.--The office shall annually value, or cause to be valued, the reserve liabilities,
hereinafter called "reserves," for all outstanding life insurance policies and annuity and pure
endowment contracts of every life insurer doing business in this state, and may certify the amount of
any such reserves, specifying the mortality table or tables, rate or rates of interest, and methods, net-
level premium method or others, used in the calculation of such reserves. In the case of an alien
insurer, such valuation shall be limited to its insurance transactions in the United States. In calculating
such reserves, the office may-use group methods and approximate averages for fractions of a year or
otherwise. It may accept in its discretion the insurer's calculation of such reserves. In lieu of the
valuation of the reserves herein required of any foreign or alien insurer, it may accept any valuation
made or caused to be made by the insurance supervisory official of any state or other jurisdiction when
such valuation complies with the minimum standard herein provided and if the official of such state or
jurisdiction accepts as sufficient and valid for all legal purposes the certificate of valuation of the
office when such certificate states the valuation to have been made in a specified manner according to
which the aggregate reserves would be at least as large as if they had been computed in the manner
prescribed by the law of that state or jurisdiction. When any such valuation is made by the office, it
may use the actuary of the office or employ an actuary for the purpose; and the reasonable
compensation of the actuary, at a rate approved by the office, and reimbursement of travel expenses
pursuant to s. 624.320 upon demand by the office, supported by an itemized statement of such
compensation and expenses, shall be paid by the insurer. When a domestic insurer furnishes the office
with a valuation of its outstanding policies as computed by its own actuary or by an actuary deemed
satisfactory for the purpose by the office, the valuation shall be verified by the actuary of the office
without cost to the insurer.

(3) ACTUARIAL OPINION OF RESERVES.--

(a)1. Each life insurance company doing business in this state shall annually submit the opinion of a
qualified actuary as to whether the reserves and related actuarial items held in support of the policies
and contracts specified by the commission by rule are computed appropriately, are based on
assumptions which satisfy contractual provisions, are consistent with prior reported amounts, and
comply with applicable laws of this state. The commission by rule shall define the specifics of this
opinion and add any other items determined to be necessary to its scope.

" 2. The opinion shall be submitted with the annual statement reflecting the valuation of such reserve
liabilities for each year ending on or after December 31, 1992,

3. The opinion shall apply to all business in force, including individual and group health insurance
plans, in the form and substance acceptable to the office as specified by rule of the commission.

4. The commission may adopt rules providing the standards of the actuarial opinion consistent with
standards adopted by the Actuarial Standards Board on December 31, 2002, and subsequent revisions
thereto, provided that the standards remain substantially consistent.

5. In the case of an opinion required to be submitted by a foreign or alien company, the office may
accept the opinion filed by that company with the insurance supervisory official of another state if the
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office determines that the opinion reasonably meets the requirements applicable to a company
domiciled in this state.

6. For the purposes of this subsection, "qualified actuary” means a member in good standing of the
American Academy of Actuaries who also meets the requirements specified by rule of the commission.

7. Disciplinary action by the office against the company or the qualified actuary shall be in accordance
with the insurance code and related rules adopted by the commission.

8. A memorandum in the form and substance specified by rule shall be prepared to support each
actuarial opinion.

9. If the insurance company fails to provide a supporting memorandum at the request of the office
within a period specified by rule of the commission, or if the office determines that the supporting
memorandum provided by the insurance company fails to meet the standards prescribed by rule of the
commission, the office may engage a qualified actuary at the expense of the company to review the
opinion and the basis for the opinion and prepare such supporting memorandum as is required by the
office.

10. Except as otherwise provided in this paragraph, any memorandum or other material in support of
the opinion is confidential and exempt from the provisions of s. 119.07(1); however, the memorandum
or other material may be released by the office with the written consent of the company, or to the
American Academy of Actuaries upon request stating that the memorandum or other material is
required for the purpose of professional disciplinary proceedings and setting forth procedures
satisfactory to the office for preserving the confidentiality of the memorandum or other material. If
any portion of the confidential memorandum is cited by the company in its marketing or is cited before
any governmental agency other than a state insurance department or is released by the company to
the news media, no portion of the memorandum is confidential.

(b) In addition to the opinion required by subparagraph (a)1., the office may, pursuant to commission
rule, require an opinion of the same qualified actuary as to whether the reserves and related actuarial
items held in support of the policies and contracts specified by the commission by rule, when
considered in light of the assets held by the company with respect to the reserves and related actuarial
items, including but not limited to the investment earnings on the assets and considerations
anticipated to be received and retained under the policies and contracts, make adequate provision for
the company’s obligations under the policies and contracts, including, but not limited to, the benefits
under, and expenses associated with, the policies and contracts.

(¢) The commission may provide by rule for a transition period for establishing any higher reserves
which the qualified actuary may deem necessary in order to render the opinion required by this
subsection.

(4) MINIMUM STANDARD FOR VALUATION OF POLICIES AND CONTRACTS ISSUED BEFORE OPERATIVE DATE
OF STANDARD NONFORFEITURE LAW.--The minimum standard for the valuation of all such policies and
contracts issued prior to the operative date of s. 627.476 (Standard Nonforfeiture Law) shall be any
basis satisfactory to the office. Any basis satisfactory to the former Department of Insurance on the
effective date of this code shall be deemed to meet such minimum standards.

(5) MINIMUM STANDARD FOR VALUATION OF POLICIES AND CONTRACTS ISSUED ON OR AFTER OPERATIVE
DATE OF STANDARD NONFORFEITURE LAW.--Except as otherwise provided in paragraph (h) and
subsections (6), (11), and (14), the minimum standard for the valuation of all such policies and

contracts issued on or after the operative date of s. 627.476 (Standard Nonforfeiture Law for Life
Insurance) shall be the commissioners’ reserve valuation method defined in subsections (7), (11), and
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(14); 5 percent interest for group annuity and pure endowment contracts and 3.5 percent interest for
all other such policies and contracts, or in the case of life insurance policies and contracts, other than
annuity and pure endowment contracts, issued on or after July 1, 1973, 4 percent interest for such
policies issued prior to October 1, 1979, and 4.5 percent interest for such policies issued on or after
October 1, 1979; and the following tables:

(a) For all ordinary policies of life insurance issued on the standard basis, excluding any disability and
accidental death benefits in such policies:

1. For policies issued prior to the operative date of s. 627.476(9), the commissioners’ 1958 Standard
Ordinary Mortality Table; except that, for any category of such policies issued on female risks,
modified net premiums and present values, referred to in subsection (7), may be calculated according

to an age not more than 6 years younger than the actual age of the insured.

2. For policies issued on or after the operative date of s. 627.476(9), the commissioners' 1980 Standard
Ordinary Mortality Table or, at the election of the insurer for any one or more specified plans of life
insurance, the commissioners' 1980 Standard Ordinary Mortality Table with Ten-Year Select Mortality

Factors.

3. For policies issued on or after July 1, 2004, ordinary mortality tables, adopted after 1980 by the
National Association of Insurance Commissioners, adopted by rule by the commission for use in
determining the minimum standard of valuation for such policies.

(b) For all industrial life insurance policies issued on the standard basis, excluding any disability and
‘ accidental death benefits in such poticies:

1. For policies issued prior to the first date to which the commissioners’ 1961 Standard Industrial
Mortality Table is applicable according to s. 627.476, the 1941 Standard Industrial Mortality Table; and

2. For such policies issued on or after that date, the commissioners’ 1961 Standard Industrial Mortality
Table.

(c) For individual annuity and pure endowment contracts, excluding any disability and accidental
death benefits in such policies, the 1937 Standard Annuity Mortality Table or, at the option of the
insurer, the Annuity Mortality Table for 1949, Ultimate, or any modification of either of these tables

approved by the office.

(d) For group annuity and pure endowment contracts, excluding any disability and accidental death

benefits in such policies, the Group Annuity Mortality Table for 1951; any modification of such table

approved by the office; or, at the option of the insurer, any of the tables or modifications of tables
specified for individual annuity and pure endowment contracts.

(e) For total and permanent disability benefits in or supplementary to ordinary policies or contracts:

1. For policies or contracts issued on or after January 1, 1966, the tables of period 2 disablement rates

and the 1930 to 1950 termination rates of the 1952 disability study of the Society of Actuaries, with
due regard to the type of benefit;

2. For policies or contracts issued on or after January 1, 1961, and prior to January 1, 1966, either
those tables or, at the option of the insurer, the class three disability table (1926);

3. For policies issued prior to January 1, 1961, the class three disability table (1926); and
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4. For policies or contracts issued on or after July 1, 2004, tables of disablement rates and termination
rates adopted after 1980 by the National Association of Insurance Commissioners, adopted by rule by
the commission for use in determining the minimum standard of valuation for those policies or
contracts.

Any such table for active lives shall be combined with a mortality table permitted for calculating the
reserves for life insurance policies.

(f) For accidental death benefits in or supplementary to policies:
1. For policies issued on or after January 1, 1966, the 1959 Accidental Death Benefits Table;

2. For poticies issued on or after January 1, 1961, and prior to January 1, 1966, either that table or, at
the option of the insurer, the Intercompany Double Indemnity Mortality Table;

3. For policies issued prior to January 1, 1961, the Intercompany Double Indemnity Mortality Table;
and

4. For policies issued on or after July 1, 2004, tables of accidental death benefits adopted after 1980
by the National Association of Insurance Commissioners, adopted by rule by the commission for use in
determining the minimum standard of valuation for those policies.

Either table shall be combined with a mortality table permitted for calculating the reserves for life
insurance policies.

(g) For group life insurance, life insurance issued on the substandard basis, and other special benefits,
such tables as may be approved by the office as being sufficient with relation to the benefits provided
by such policies.

(h) Except as provided in subsection (6), the minimum standard for the valuation of all individual
annuity and pure endowment contracts issued on or after the operative date of this paragraph and for
all annuities and pure endowments purchased on or after such operative date under group annuity and
. pure endowment contracts shall be the commissioners' reserve valuation method defined in subsection
(7) and the following tables and interest rates:

1. For individual annuity and pure endowment contracts issued prior to October 1, 1979, excluding any
disability and accidental death benefits in such contracts, the 1971 Individual Annuity Mortality Table,
or any modification of this table approved by the office, and 6 percent interest for single-premium
immediate annuity contracts and 4 percent interest for all other individual annuity and pure
endowment contracts.

2. For individual single-premium immediate annuity contracts issued on or after October 1, 1979, and

prior to October 1, 1986, excluding any disability and accidental death benefits in such contracts, the

1971 Individual Annuity Mortality Table, or any modification of this table approved by the office, and

7.5 percent interest. For such contracts issued on or after October 1, 1986, the 1983 Individual Annual

Mortality Table, or any modification of such table approved by the office, and the applicable calendar
year statutory valuation interest rate as described in subsection (6).

3. For individual annuity and pure endowment contracts issued on or after October 1, 1979, and prior
to October 1, 1986, other than single-premium immediate annuity contracts, excluding any disability
and accidental death benefits in such contracts, the 1971 individual Annuity Mortality Table, or any
modification of this table approved by the office, and 5.5 percent interest for single-premium deferred
annuity and pure endowment contracts and 4.5 percent interest for all other such individual annuity
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and pure endowment contracts. For such contracts issued on or after October 1, 1986, the 1983
Individual Annual Mortality Table, or any modification of such table approved by the office, and the
applicable calendar year statutory valuation interest rate as described in subsection (6).

4. For all annuities and pure endowments purchased prior to October 1, 1979, under group annuity and
pure endowment contracts, excluding any disability and accidental death benefits purchased under
such contracts, the 1971 Group Annuity Mortality Table, or any modification of this table approved by
the office, and 6 percent interest.

5. For all annuities and pure endowments purchased on or after October 1, 1979, and prior to October
1, 1986, under group annuity and pure endowment contracts, excluding any disability and accidental
death benefits purchased under such contracts, the 1971 Group Annuity Mortality Table, or any
modification of this table approved by the office, and 7.5 percent interest. For such contracts
purchased on or after October 1, 1986, the 1983 Group Annuity Mortality Table, or any modification of
such table approved by the office, and the applicable calendar year statutory valuation interest rate as
described in subsection (6).

After July 1, 1973, any insurer may have filed with the former Department of Insurance a written
notice of its election to comply with the provisions of this paragraph after a specified date before
January 1, 1979, which shall be the operative date of this paragraph for such insurer. However, an
insurer may elect a different operative date for individual annuity and pure endowment contracts from
that elected for group annuity and pure endowment contracts. If an insurer makes no such election,
the operative date of this paragraph for such insurer shall be January 1, 1979.

(i) In lieu of the mortality tables specified in this subsection, and subject to rules previously adopted
by the former Department of Insurance, the insurance company may, at its option:

1. Substitute the applicable 1958 CSO or CET Smoker and Nonsmoker Mortality Tables, in lieu of the
1980 CSO or CET mortality table standard, for policies issued on or after the operative date of s.
627.476(9) and before January 1, 1989.

2. Substitute the applicable 1980 CSO or CET Smoker and Nonsmoker Mortality Tables in lieu of the
1980 CSO or CET mortality table standard;

3. Use the Annuity 2000 Mortality Table for determining the minimum standard of valuation for
individual annuity and pure endowment contracts issued on or after January 1, 1998, and before July 1,
1998.

4. Use the 1994 GAR Table for determining the minimum standard of valuation for annuities and pure
endowments purchased on or after January 1, 1998, and before July 1, 1998, under group annuity and
pure endowment contracts.

(i) The commission may adopt by rule the model regulation for valuation of life insurance policies as
approved by the National Association of Insurance Commissioners in March 1999, including tables of
select mortality factors, and may make the regulation effective for policies issued on or after January

1, 2000. ‘

(k) For individual annuity and pure endowment contracts issued on or after July 1, 2004, excluding any

disability and accidental death benefits purchased under those contracts, individual annuity mortality

tables adopted after 1980 by the National Association of Insurance Commissioners, adopted by rule by
the commission for use in determining the minimum standard of valuation for those contracts.



690-162.203
Rulemaking Authority

(1) For all annuities and pure endowments purchased on or after July 1, 2004, under group annuity and
pure endowment contracts, excluding any disability and accidental death benefits purchased under
those contracts, group annuity mortality tables adopted after 1980 by the National Association of
Insurance Commissioners, adopted by rule by the commission for use in determining the minimum
standard of valuation for those contracts.

(6) MINIMUM STANDARD OF VALUATION.--
(a) The interest rates used in determining the minimum standard for the valuation of:

1. Al life insurance policies issued in a particular calendar year on or after the operative date of s.
627.476(9);

2. All individual annuity and pure endowment contracts issued in a particular calendar year on or after
January 1, 1982;

3. All annuities and pure endowments purchased in a particular calendar year on or after January 1,
1982, under group annuity and pure endowment contracts; and

4. The net increase, if any, in a particular calendar year after January 1, 1982, in amounts held under
guaranteed interest contracts,

shall be the calendar year statutory valuation interest rates for the year-of-issue purchase or increase
as defined in this subsection.

- (b) The calendar year statutory valuation interest rates | shall be determined as follows, and the
results rounded to the nearest 0.25 percent:

1. For life insurance:

I = 0.03 + W(R1-0.03) + (W/2)(R2-0.09).

For purposes of this subparagraph, "R1" is the lesser of R and .09; "R2" is the greater of R
and .09; "R" is the reference interest rate defined in this subsection; and "W" is the
weighting factor defined in this subsection.

2. For single-premium immediate annuities and for annuity benefits involving life contingencies arising
from other annuities with cash settlement options and from guaranteed interest contracts with cash
settlement options:

I = 0.03 + W(R-0.03).

For purposes of this subparagraph, "R" is the reference interest rate defined in this
subsection, and "W" is the weighting factor defined in this subsection.

3. For other annuities with cash settlement options and guaranteed interest contracts with cash
settlement options, valued on an issue-year basis, except as stated in subparagraph 2., the formula for
life insurance stated in subparagraph 1. shall apply to annuities and guaranteed interest contracts with
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guarantee durations in excess of 10 years, and the formula for single-premium immediate annuities
stated in subparagraph 2. shall apply to annuities and guaranteed interest contracts with guarantee
durations of 10 years or less.

4. For other annuities with no cash settlement options and for guaranteed interest contracts with no
cash settlement options, the formula for single-premium immediate annuities stated in subparagraph 2.
shall apply.

5. For other annuities with cash settlement options and guaranteed interest contracts with cash
settlement options, valued on a change-in-fund basis, the formula for single-premium immediate
annuities stated in subparagraph 2. shall apply.

However, if the calendar year statutory valuation interest rate for any life insurance policies issued in
any calendar year determined without reference to this sentence differs from the corresponding actual
rate for similar policies issued in the immediately preceding calendar year by less than 0.5 percent, the

calendar year statutory valuation interest rate for such life insurance policies shall be equal to the
corresponding actual rate for the immediately preceding calendar year. For purposes of applying the
immediately preceding sentence, the calendar year statutory valuation interest rate for life insurance
policies issued in a calendar year shall be determined for 1980, the reference interest rate defined for
1979 being used, and shall be determined for each subsequent calendar year regardless of when s.
627.476(9) becomes operative.

(c) The weighting factors referred to in the formulas stated in paragraph (b) are given in the following

tables:

1. Weighting factors for life insurance:

Guarantee Duration

Weighting
(Years)
Factors
10 orless: .covvvrnnnes 0.50
More than 10, but not more than 20: ..... werans 0.45
More than 20: ............ 0.35

For life insurance, the "guarantee duration" is the maximum number of years the life
insurance can remain in force on a basis guaranteed in the policy or under options to
convert to plans of life insurance with premium rates or nonforfeiture values or both which
are guaranteed in the original policy.
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2. Weighting factor for single-premium immediate annuities and for annuity benefits involving life
contingencies arising from other annuities with cash settlement options and guaranteed interest
contracts with cash settlement options: 0.80.

3. Weighting factors for other annuities and for guaranteed interest contracts, except as stated in
subparagraph 2., shall be as specified in sub-subparagraphs a., b., and c., according to the rules and
definitions in sub-subparagraphs d., e., and f. and in paragraph (f):

a. For annuities and guaranteed interest contracts valued on an issue-year basis:

Guarantee Duration

Weighting Factor

(Years)
for Plan Type
5o0rless: ..iciviinnen A--0.80

B--0.60
C--0.50

More than 5, but not more than 10: ............ A--0.75
B--0.60
C--0.50

More than 10, but not more than 20: ............ A--0.65
B--0.50

C--0.45
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More than 20: ............ A--0.45

B--0.35

C--0.35

b. For annuities and guaranteed interest contracts valued on a change-in-fund basis, the factors shown
in sub-subparagraph a. increased by: 0.15 for Plan Type A; 0.25 for Plan Type B; 0.05 for Plan Type C.

c. For annuities and guaranteed interest contracts valued on an issue-year basis, other than those with
no cash settlement options, which do not guarantee interest on considerations received more than 1
year after issue or purchase and for annuities and guaranteed interest contracts valued on a change-in-

* fund basis which do not guarantee interest rates on considerations received more than 12 months
beyond the valuation date, the factors shown in sub-subparagraph a. or derived in sub-subparagraph b.
increased by: 0.05 for Plan Type A; 0.05 for Plan Type B; 0.05 for Plan Type C.

d. For other annuities with cash settlement options and guaranteed interest contracts with cash
settlement options, the "guarantee duration” is the number of years for which the contract guarantees
. interest rates in excess of the calendar year statutory valuation interest rate for life insurance policies
with guarantee duration in excess of 20 years. For other annuities with no cash settlement options and
for guaranteed interest contracts with no cash settlement options, the guarantee duration is the
number of years from the date of issue or date of purchase to the date annuity benefits are scheduled
to commence.

e. "Plan type,” as used in the tables above, is defined as follows:

() Plan Type A: At any time, the policyholder may withdraw funds only with an adjustment to reflect
changes in interest rates or asset values since receipt of the funds by the insurer; the policyholder may
withdraw funds only without such adjustment but in installments over 5 years or more; the
policyholder may withdraw funds only as an immediate life annuity; or no withdrawal is permitted.

(1) Plan Type B: Before expiration of the interest rate guarantee, the policyholder may withdraw
funds only with an adjustment to reflect changes in interest rates or asset values since receipt of the
funds by the insurer; the policyholder may withdraw funds only without such adjustment but in
installments over 5 years or more; or no withdrawal is permitted. At the end of interest rate
guarantee, funds may be withdrawn without such adjustment in a single sum or installments over less
than 5 years.

(1) Plan Type C: The policyholder may withdraw funds before expiration of interest rate guarantee in
a single sum or installments over less than 5 years either without adjustment to reflect changes in
interest rates or asset values since receipt of the funds by the insurer or subject only to a fixed
surrender charge stipulated in the contract as a percentage of the fund.

f. An insurer may elect to value guaranteed interest contracts with cash settlement options and
annuities with cash settlement options on either an issue-year basis or on a change-in-fund basis.
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Guaranteed interest contracts with no cash settlement options and other annuities with no cash
settlement options must be valued on an issue-year basis.

(d) The "reference interest rate" referred to in paragraph (b) is defined as follows:

1. For all life insurance, the lesser of the average over a period of 36 months and the average over a
period of 12 months, ending on June 30 of the calendar year next preceding the year of issue, of the
‘ interest rate index.

2. For single-premium immediate annuities and for annuity benefits involving life contingencies arising
from other annuities with cash settlement options and guaranteed interest contracts with cash
settlement options, the average over a period of 12 months, ending on June 30 of the calendar year of
issue or year of purchase, of the interest rate index.

3. For other annuities with cash settlement options and guaranteed interest contracts with cash
settlement options, valued on a year-of-issue basis, except as stated in subparagraph 2., with
guarantee duration in excess of 10 years, the lesser of the average over a period of 36 months and the
average over a period of 12 months, ending on June 30 of the calendar year of issue or purchase, of the
interest rate index.

4. For other annuities with cash settlement options and guaranteed interest contracts with cash
settlement options, valued on a year-of-issue basis, except as stated in subparagraph 2., with
guarantee duration of 10 years or less, the average over a period of 12 months, ending on June 30 of
the calendar year of issue or purchase, of the interest rate index.

5. For other annuities with no cash settlement options and for guaranteed interest contracts with no
cash settlement options, the average over a period of 12 months, ending on June 30 of the calendar
year of issue or purchase, of the interest rate index.

6. For other annuities with cash settlement options and guaranteed interest contracts with cash
settlement options, valued on a change-in-fund basis, except as stated in subparagraph 2., the average
over a period of 12 months, ending on June 30 of the calendar year of the change in the fund, of the
interest rate index.

(e) The interest rate index shall be the Moody's Corporate Bond Yield Average-Monthly Average
Corporates as published by Moody's Investors Service, Inc., as long as this index is calculated by using
substantially the same methodology as used by it on January 1, 1981. If Moody's corporate bond yield
average ceases to be calculated in this manner, the interest rate index shall be the index approved by

rule promulgated by the commission. The methodology used in determining the index approved by rule
shall be substantially the same as the methodology employed on January 1, 1981, for determining
Moody's Corporate Bond Yield Average-Monthly Average Corporates as published by Moody's investors
Service, Inc.

(f) As used in this subsection, an "issue-year basis" of valuation refers to a valuation basis under which
the interest rate used to determine the minimum valuation standard for the entire duration of the
annuity or guaranteed interest contract is the calendar year valuation interest rate for the year of

purchase of the annuity or guaranteed interest contract; and the "change-in-fund” basis of valuation
refers to a valuation basis under which the interest rate used to determine the minimum valuation
standard applicable to each change in the fund held under the annuity or guaranteed interest contract
is the calendar year valuation interest rate for the year of the change in the fund.

(7) COMMISSIONERS' RESERVE VALUATION METHOD.--
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(a)1. Except as otherwise provided in this subsection and subsections (11) and (14), reserves according
to the commissioners' reserve valuation method, for the life insurance and endowment benefits of
policies providing for a uniform amount of insurance and requiring the payment of uniform premiums,
shall be the excess, if any, of the present value, at the date of valuation, of such future guaranteed
benefits provided for by such policies, over the then-present value of any future modified net
premiums therefor. The modified net premiums for any such policy shall be such uniform percentage of
the respective contract premiums for such benefits that the present value, at the date of issue of the
policy, of all such modified net premiums shall be equal to the sum of the then-present value of such
benefits provided for by the policy and the excess of sub-subparagraph a. over sub-subparagraph b. as
follows:

a. A net-level annual premium equal to the present value, at the date of issue, of such benefits
provided for after the first policy year, divided by the present value, at the date of issue, of an annuity
of one per annum payable on the first and each subsequent anniversary of such policy on which a
premium falls due; provided, however, that such net-level annual premium shall not exceed the net-
level annual premium on the 19-year premium whole life plan for insurance of the same amount at an
age 1 year higher than the age at issue of such policy.

b. A net-1-year-term premium for such benefits provided for in the first policy year.

2. For any life insurance policy which is issued on or after January 1, 1985, for which the contract
premium in the first policy year exceeds that of the second year and for which no comparable
additional benefit is provided in the first year for such excess, and which provides an endowment
benefit, a cash surrender value, or a combination thereof in an amount greater than such excess
premium, the reserve according to the commissioners' reserve valuation method as of any policy
anniversary occurring on or before the assumed ending date, defined herein as the first policy
anniversary on which the sum of any endowment benefit and any cash surrender value then available is
greater than such excess premium, shall, except as otherwise provided in subsection (11), be the
greater of the reserve as of such policy anniversary calculated as described in subparagraph 1. and the
reserve as of such policy anniversary calculated as described in subparagraph 1. but with:

a. The value defined in subparagraph 1. being reduced by 15 percent of the amount of such excess
first year premium;

b. All present values of benefits and premiums being determined without reference to premiums or
benefits provided for by the policy after the assumed ending date;

c. The policy being assumed to mature on such date as an endowment; and

d. The cash surrender value provided on such date being considered as an endowment benefit.

In making the above comparison, the mortality and interest bases stated in subsections (5) and (6) shall
be used.

(b) Reserves according to the commissioners' reserve valuation method for:

1. Life insurance policies providing for a varying amount of insurance or requiring the payment of
varying premiums;

2. Group annuity and pure endowment contracts, purchased under a retirement plan or plan of
deferred compensation, established or maintained by an employer, including a partnership or sole
proprietorship, or by an employee organization, or by both, other than a plan providing individual
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retirement accounts or individual retirement annuities under s. 408 of the Internal Revenue Code, as
now or hereafter amended;

3. Disability and accidental death benefits in all policies and contracts; and

4. All other benefits, except life insurance and endowment benefits in life insurance policies, and
benefits provided by all other annuity and pure endowment contracts,

shall be calculated by a method which is consistent with and yields results consistent with the
principles of paragraph (a).

(¢) This subsection shall apply to all annuity and pure endowment contracts other than group annuity
and pure endowment contracts purchased under a retirement plan or plan of deferred compensation,
established or maintained by an employer, including a partnership or sole proprietorship, or by an
employee organization, or by both, other than a plan providing individual retirement accounts or
individual retirement annuities under s. 408 of the Internal Revenue Code, as now or hereafter
amended. Reserves according to the commissioners' annuity reserve method for benefits under annuity
or pure endowment contracts, excluding any disability and accidental death benefits in such contracts,
shall be the greatest of the respective excesses of the present values, at the date of valuation, of the
future guaranteed benefits, including guaranteed nonforfeiture benefits, provided for by such contracts
at the end of each respective contract year, over the present value, at the date of valuation, of any
future valuation considerations derived from future gross considerations, required by the terms of such
contract, that become payable prior to the end of such respective contract year. The future
guaranteed benefits shall be determined by using the mortality table, if any, and the interest rate or
rates specified in such contracts for determining guaranteed benefits. The valuation considerations are
the portions of the respective gross considerations applied under the terms of such contracts to
determine nonforfeiture values.

(8) MINIMUM AGGREGATE RESERVES.--

(a) In no event shall an insurer's aggregate reserves for all life insurance policies, excluding disability
and accidental death benefits, issued on or after the operative date of s. 627.476, be less than the
aggregate reserves calculated in accordance with the methods set forth in subsections (7), (11), and
(12) and the mortality table or tables and rate or rates of interest used in calculating nonforfeiture
benefits for such policies.

(b) In no event may the aggregate reserves for all policies, contracts, and benefits be less than the
aggregate reserves determined by the qualified actuary to be necessary to render the opinion required
by subsection (3).

(9) OPTIONAL RESERVE BASIS. --

(a) Reserves for all policies and contracts issued prior to the operative date of s. 627.476 may be
calculated, at the option of the insurer, according to any standards which produce greater aggregate
reserves for all such policies and contracts than the minimum reserves required by the laws in effect

immediately prior to such date.

(b) For any category of policies, contracts, or benefits specified in subsections (5) and (6), issued on or
after the operative date of s. 627.476 (the Standard Nonforfeiture Law for Life Insurance), reserves
may be calculated, at the option of the insurer, according to any standard or standards which produce
greater aggregate reserves for such category than those calculated according to the minimum standard
herein provided; but the rate or rates of interest used for policies and contracts, other than annuity
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and pure endowment contracts, shall not be higher than the corresponding rate or rates of interest
used in calculating any nonforfeiture benefits provided for therein.

(10) LOWER VALUATIONS.--An insurer which at any time had adopted any standard of valuation
producing greater aggregate reserves than those calculated according to the minimum standard herein
provided may, with the approval of the office, adopt any lower standard of valuation, but not lower
than the minimum herein provided; however, for the purposes of this subsection, the holding of
additional reserves previously determined by a qualified actuary to be necessary to render the opinion
required by subsection (3) shall not be deemed to be the adoption of a higher standard of valuation.

(11) DEFICIENCY RESERVE.--If in any contract year the gross premium charged by any life insurer on
any policy or contract is less than the valuation net premium for the policy or contract calculated by
the method used in calculating the reserve thereon but using the minimum valuation standards of
mortality and rate of interest, there shall be maintained on such policy or contract a deficiency reserve
in addition to the reserve defined by subsections (7) and (12). For each such policy or contract, the
deficiency reserve shall be the present value, according to the minimum valuation standards of
mortality and rate of interest, of the differences between all such valuation net premiums and the
corresponding premiums charged for such policy or contract during the remainder of the premium-
paying period. For any category of policies, contracts, or benefits specified in subsections (5) and (6),
issued on or after the operative date of s. 627.476 (the Standard Nonforfeiture Law for Life Insurance),
the aggregate deficiency reserves may be reduced by the amount, if any, by which the aggregate
reserves actually calculated in accordance with subsection (9) exceed the minimum aggregate reserves
prescribed by subsection (8). The minimum valuation standards of mortality and rate of interest
referred to in this subsection are those standards stated in subsections (5) and (6). However, for any
life insurance policy which is issued on or after January 1, 1985, for which the gross premium in the
first policy year exceeds that of the second year and for which no comparable additional benefit is
provided in the first year for such excess, and which provides an endowment benefit, a cash surrender
value, or a combination thereof in an amount greater than such excess premium, the foregoing
provisions of this subsection shall be applied as if the method actually used in calculating the reserve
for such policy were the method described in subsection (7), the provisions of subparagraph (7)(a)2.
being ignored. The amount of the deficiency reserve, if any, at each policy anniversary of such a policy
shall be the excess, if any, of the amount determined by the foregoing provisions of this subsection
plus the reserve calculated by the method described in subsection (7), the provisions of subparagraph
(7)(a)2. being ignored, over the reserve actually calculated by the method described in subsection (7),
the provisions of subparagraph (7)(a)2. being taken into account.

(12) ALTERNATE METHOD FOR DETERMINING RESERVES IN CERTAIN CASES.--In the case of any plan of
life insurance which provides for future premium determination, the amounts of which are to be
determined by the insurer based on then estimates of future experience, or in the case of any plan of
life insurance or annuity which is of such a nature that the minimum reserves cannot be determined by
the methods described in subsection (7), the reserves which are held under any such plan shall:

(a) Be appropriate in relation to the benefits and the pattern of premiums for that plan; and

(b) Be computed by a method which is consistent with the principles of this section, as determined by
rules promulgated by the commission.

(13) CREDIT LIFE AND DISABILITY POLICIES. --
(a) For policies issued prior to January 1, 2004:

1. The minimum reserve for single-premium credit disability insurance, monthly premium credit life
insurance, and monthly premium credit disability insurance shall be the unearned gross premium.
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2. As to single-premium credit life insurance policies, the insurer shall establish and maintain reserves
that are not less than the value, at the valuation date, of the risk for the unexpired portion of the
period for which the premium has been paid as computed on the basis of the commissioners' 1980

Standard Ordinary Mortality Table and 3.5 percent interest. At the discretion of the office, the insurer

may make a reasonable assumption as to the ages at which net premiums are to be determined. In lieu

of the foregoing basis, reserves based upon unearned gross premiums may be used at the option of the
insurer.

(b) For policies issued on or after January 1, 2004:
1. The minimum reserve for single-premium credit disability insurance shall be either:
a. The unearned gross premium, or

b. Based upon a morbidity table that is adopted by the National Association of Insurance
Commissioners and is specified in a rule the commission adopts pursuant to subsection (14).

2. The minimum reserve for monthly premium credit disability insurance shall be the unearned gross
premium,

3. The minimum reserve for monthly premium credit life insurance shall be the unearned gross
premium.

4, As to single-premium credit life insurance policies, the insurer shall establish and maintain reserves
that are not less than the value, at the valuation date, of the risk for the unexpired portion of the
period for which the premium has been paid as computed on the basis of the commissioners’ 1980

Standard Ordinary Mortality Table or any ordinary mortality table, adopted after 1980 by the National
Association of Insurance Commissioners, that is approved by rule adopted by the commission for use in
determining the minimum standard of valuation for such policies; and an interest rate determined in
accordance with subsection (6). At the discretion of the office, the insurer may make a reasonable
assumption as to the ages at which net premiums are to be determined. In lieu of the foregoing basis,
reserves based upon unearned gross premiums may be used at the option of the insurer.

(14) MINIMUM STANDARDS FOR HEALTH PLANS.--The commission shall adopt a rule containing the
minimum standards applicable to the valuation of health plans in accordance with sound actuarial
principles.

624.307 General powers; duties.--

(1) The department and office shall enforce the provisions of this code and shall execute the duties
imposed upon them by this code, within the respective jurisdiction of each, as provided by law.
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The Office of Insurance Regulation requests that these proposed rule amendments be
presented to the Cabinet aides on or before August 4, 2010, and to the Financial Services
Commission on August 10, 2010, with a request to approve for publication the proposed rules.

Sections 625.121(5), F.S., provides the Commission may adopt by rule the NAIC Model
Regulations related to valuation of life insurance policies. This rule does that.

This rule is being amended to adopt changes made to the NAIC Model Regulations. The
amendment reduces the minimum premium deficiency reserve requirement, subject to certain
conditions to ensure adequacy of reserves.

Sections 624.308(1), 624.307(1), 625.121(5), F.S., provide rulemaking authority and laws
implemented for this rule.

Amanda Hunter is the attorney handling this rule. Attached are: 1) the proposed rule(s), 2) any
incorporated materials, such as forms; and 3) copies of the rulemaking statutory authority and
law implemented.
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Steven H. Parton, General Counsel

Approved for submission to Financial Services
Commission:

Kevin M. McCarty, Commissioner
Office of Insurance Regulation




THE FULL TEXT OF THE PROPOSED RULE IS:

690-164.020 Valuation of Life Insurance Policies.

(1) Purpose.

(a) The purpose of this rule is to provide:

1. Tables of select mortality factors, identified as Appendix to Rule 690-164.020,
F.A.C., which is hereby adopted and incorporated by reference, and rules for their use;

2. Rules concerning a minimum standard for the valuation of plans with nonlevel
premiums or benefits; and

3. Rules concerning a minimum standard for th/e valuation of plans with secondéry
guarantees.

(b) The method for calculating basic reserves defined in this rule will constitute the
Commissioners’ Reserve Valuation Method for policies to which this rule is applicable.

(2)(a) This rule is consistent with Appendix A-830 of the NAIC Accounting Practices
and Procedures Manual as adopted in Rule 690-137.001, F.A.C.

(b) This rule applies to policies issued during calendar year 2000 in ad_dition to those
issued on or after January 1, 2001.

(3) Applicability. This rule shall apply to all life insurance policies, with or without
nonforfeiture values, issued on or after January 1, 2000, subject to the following
exceptions and conditions:

(a) Exceptions.

1. This rule shall not apply to any individual life insurance policy issued on or after

the effective date of this rule if the policy is issued in accordance with and as a resuit of



the exercise of a reentry provision contained in the original life insurance policy of the
same or greater face amount, issued before January 1, 2000, that guarantees the
premium rates of the new policy. This rule also shall not apply to subsequent policies
issued as a result of the exercise of such a provision, or a derivation of the provision, in
the new policy.

2. This rule shall not apply to any universal life policy that meets all the following
requirements:

a. Secondary gtjarantee period, if any, is 5 years or less;

b. Specified premium for the secondary guarantee period is not less than the net
level reserve premium for the secondary guarantee period based on the CSO valuation
fables as defined in paragraph (4)(f), or the ultimate mortality tables specified in
subsection 690-162.201(6), F.A.C., and the applicable valuation interest rate; and

c. The initial surrender charge is not less than 100 percent of the first year
annualized specified premium for the secondary guarantee period.

3. This rule shall not apply to any variable life insurance policy that provides for life
insurance the amount or duration of which varies according to the investment
experience of any separate account or accounts.

4. This rule shall not apply to any variable universal life insurance policy that
provideé for life insurance the amount or duration of which varies according to the
investment experience of any separate account or accounts.

5. This rule shall not apply to a group life insurance certificate unless the certificate
provides for a stated or implied schedule of maximum gross premiums required in order

to continue coverage in force for a period in excess of one year.



(b) Conditions.

1. Calculation of the minimum valuation standard for policies with guarénteed
nonlevel gross premiums or guaranteed nonlevel benefits (other than universal life
policies), or both, shall be in accordance with the provisions of subsection (6).

2. Calculation of the minimum valuation standafd for flexible premium and fixed
premium universal life insurance policies that contain provisions resulting in the ability of
a policyholder to keep a policy in force over a secondary guarantee period shall be in
accordance with the provisions of subsection (7).

(4) Definitions. For purposes of this rule:

(a) “Basic reserves” means reserves calculated in accordance with Section
625.121(7), Florida Statutes.

(b)1. “Contract segmentation method” means the method of dividing the period from
issue to mandatory expiration of a policy into successive segments, with the length of
each segment being defined as the period from the end of the prior segment (from
policy inception for the first segment) to the end of the latest policy year as determined
kbelow. All calculations are made using the 1980 CSO valuation tables, as defined in
paragraph (f), or the mortality table.é specified in subsection 690-162.201(6), F.A.C.,
and, if elected, the optional minimum mortality standard for deficiency reserves
stipulated in paragraph (5)(b) of this rule.

2. The length of a particular contract se4gment shall be set equal to the minimum of
the value t for which G; is greater than Rt (if G; never exceeds R;the segment length is
deemed to be the number of years from the beginning of the segment to the mandatory

expiration date of the policy), where G, and R; are defined as follows:
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where:

X = original issue age;

.k = the number of years from the date of iésue to the beginning of the segment;

t=1,2, .. tis reset to 1 at the beginning of each segment;

GPy+k+t-1 = Guaranteed gross premium per thousand of face amount for year t of the
segment, ignoring policy fees only if level for the premium paying period of the policy.

Ox+k+t

R¢= ; however, Rymay be increased or decreased by one

Ox+k+t-1 percent in any policy year, at the company’s option, but R; shall not be less
than one;

where:

X, k and t are as defined above, and

Ox+k+t.1 = Valuation mortality rate for deficiency reserves in policy year k+t but using
the mortality of Section 5B(2) if Section 5B(3) is elected for deficiency reserves.

However, if GPy:k.t is greater than 0 and GPy.k+t.1 is equal to 0, Gt shall be deemed
to be 1000. If GPy.s+t and GPy.4t.1 are both equal to 0, G; shall be deemed to be 0.

(c) “Deficiency reserves” means the excess, if greater than zero, of

1. Minimum reserves calculated in accordance with Section 625.121(11), Florida
Statutes, over

2. Basic reserves.

(d) “Guaranteed gross premiums”Ameans the premiums .under a policy of life

insurance that are guaranteed and determined at issue.



(e) “Maximum valuation interest rates” means the interest rates defined in Section
625.121(6), Florida Statutes, (Computation of Minimum Standard by Calendar Year of
Issue) that are to be used in determining the minimum standard for the valuation of life
insurance policies.

(f) “1980 CSO valuation tables” means the Commissioners’ 1980 Standard Ordinary
Mortality Table (1980 CSO Table) without 10-year selection factors, incorporated into
the 1980 émendments to the NAIC Standard Valuation Law, and variations of the 1980
CSO Table approved by the NAIC, such as the smoker and nonsmoker versions
approved in December 1983.

(9) “Scheduled gross premium” means the smallest illustrated gross premium at
issue for other than universal life insurance policies. For universal life insurance
policies, scheduled gross premium means the smallest specified premium desbribéd in
subparagraph (7)(a)3., if any, or else the minimum premium described in subparagraph
(7)(a)4.

(h)1. “Segmented reserves” means reserves; calculated using segments produced
by the contract segmentation method, equal to the present value of all future
guaranteed benefits less the present value of all future net premiums to the mandatory
expiration of a policy, where the net premiums within each segment are a uniform
percentage of the respective guaranteed gross premiums within the segment. T'he‘
uniform percentage for each segment is such that, at the beginning of the segment, the
present value of the net premiums within the segment equals:

a. The}present value of the d'eath benefits within the segment, plus

b. The present value of any unusual guaranteed cash value (see paragraph (6)(d))



occurring at the end of the segment, less

¢. Any unusual guaranteed cash value occurring at the start of the segment, plus

d. For the first segment only, the excess of the Item (l) over Item (ll), as follows:

() A net level annual premium equal to the present value at the date of issue of the
benefits provided for in the first segment after the first policy year; divided by the
present value atvthe date of issue of an annuity of 1 per year payable on the first and
each subsequent anniversary' within the first segment on which a premium falls due.
Howevér, the net level annual premium shall not exceed thé net level annual premium
on the 19 year premium whole life plan of insurance of the same renewal year
equivalent level amount at an age one year higher than the age at issue of the policy.

(1) A net 1 year term premium for the benefits provided for in the first policy year.

2. The length of each segment is determined by the “contract segmentation method,”
as defined in this rule.

3.The interest rates used in the present value calculations for any policy shall not
exceed the maximum valuation interest rate, determined with a guarantee duration
equal to the sum of the lengths of all segments of the policy.

4. For both basic reserves and deficiency reservés computed by the segmented
method, present values shall include future benefits and net premiums in the current
segment and in all subsequent segments.

a. The segmentation requirement shall not be limited to plans with no cash surrender
values; otherwise companies could avoid segmentation entirely by designing policies
with minimal (positive) cash values.

b. Segmentation for plans with cash surrender values shall be based solely upon



gross premium levels.

c. Basing segmentation upon the level of cash surrender' values introduces
complications because of the inter-relationship between minimum cash surrender
values and gross premium patterns.

d. The requirements of this rule relating to reserves for plans with unusual cash
values and to reserves if cash values exceed calculated reserves serve to link required
reserves and cash surrender values.

e. The calculation of segmented reserves shall not be linked to the occurrence of a
positive unitary términal reserve at the end of a segment.

f. The requirement of this rule to hold the greater of the segmented reserve or the
unitary reserve eliminates the need for any linkage.

(i) “Tabular cost of insurance” means the net single premium at the beginning of a
policy year for 1 year term insurance in the amount of the guaranteed death benefit in
that policy year.

(j) “Ten-year select factors” means the select factors adopted with the 1980
amendments to the NAIC Standard Valuation Law.

(k)1. “Unitary reserves” means the present value of all future guaranteed benefits
less the present value of all future modified net premiums, whereg

a. Guaranteed benefits and modified net premiums are considered to the mandatory
expiration of the policy; and

b. Modified net premiums are a uniform percentage of the respective guaranteed
gross premiums, where the uniform percentage is such that at issue the present value

of the net premiums equals the present value of all death benefits and pure



endowments, plus the excess of ltem (I) over ltem (Il), as follows:

() A net level annual premium equal to t_hé present value at the date of issue of the
benefits provided for after the first policy year, divided by the present value, at the date
of issue, of an annuity of one per year payable on the first and each subsequent
anniversary of the policy on which a premium falls due. However, the net level annual
premium shall not exceed the net level annual premium on the 19 year premium whole
life plan of insurance of the same renewal year equivalent level amount at an age 1 year
higher than the age at issue of the policy.

(II) A net 1 year term premium for the benefits provided for in the first policy year.

2. The interest rates used in the present value calculations for any policy shall not
exceed the maximum valuation interest rate, determined with a guarantee duration
equal to the length from issue to the mandatory expiration of the policy.

(I) “Universal life insurance policy” means any individual life insurance policy under
the provisions of which separately identified interest credits (other than in connection
with dividend accumulations, premium deposit funds, or other supplementary accounts)
and mortality or expense charges are made to the policy. |

(5) General Calculation Requirements for Basic Reserves and Premium Deficiency
Reserves.

(a) At the election of the insurer for any one or more specified plans of life insurance,
the minimum mortality standard for basic reserves may be calculated using the 1980
CSO0 valuation tables with select mortality factors or the mortality tables specified in
subsection 690-162.201(6), F.A.C. If select mortality factors are elected for use with the

1980 CSO valuation tables, they may be:



1. The 10 year select mortality factors incorporated into the 1980 amendments to the
NAIC Standard Valuation Law; or

2. The select mortality factors in the Appendix.

(b) Deficiency reserves, if any, aré calculated for each policy as the excess, if
greater than zero, of the quantity A over the‘basic reserve.

1. The quantity A is obtained by recalcﬁlating the basic. reserve for the policy using
guaranteed gross premiums instead of net premiums when the guaranteed gross
premiums are less than the corresponding net premiums.

2. At the election of the insurer for any one or more specified plans of insurance, the
quantity A and the corresponding net premiums used in the determination of quantity A
may be based upon the 1980 CSO valuation tables with select mortality factors or the
mortality tables specified in subsection 690-162.201(6), F.A.C. If select mortality factors
are elected for use with the 1980 CSO valuation tables, they may be:

a. The 10 year select mortality factors incorporated into the 1980 amendments to the
NAIC Standard Valuation Law;

b. The select mortality factors in the Appendix of this rule;

c. For durations in the first segment, X percent of the select mortality factors in the
Appendix, subject to the following:

() X may vary by policy year, policy form, underwriting classification, issue age, or
any other policy factor expected to affect mortality experience;

i X-shallrotbe less than-20-percent:

1) X shall I . : " ;

() A X'is such that, when using the valuation interest rate used for basic reserves,



item (A) is greater than or equal to Item (B);

(A) The actuarial present value of future death benefits, calculated usiﬁg the
mortality rates resulting from the application of X;

(B) The actuarial present value of future death benefits calculated using anticipated
mortality experience without recognition of mortality improvement beyond the valuation
date;

) &4 X is such that the mortality rates resulting from thé application of X are at
least as great as the anticipated mortality experience, without recognition of mortality
improvement beyond the valuation date, in each of the first 5 years after the valuation
date;

m &) The appointed actuary shall increase X at any valuation date where it is
-necessary to continue to meet all the requirements of subparagraph (b)3.; |

(V) &) The appointed actuary may decrease X at any valuation date as long as X
does-not-decrease-in-any-successive-policy-years-and-aslong-as-it continues to meet all
the requirements of Spraragraph (b)3.; and /

vh (A#HJ) The appointed actuary shall specifically take into account the adverse
effect on expected mortality and lapsation of any anticipated or actual increase in gross
premiums.

(M) 4% If X is less than 100 percent at any duration for any policy, the following
requirements shall be met:

(A) The appointed actuary shall annually prepare an actuarial opinion and
memorandum for the company in conformance with the requirements of Rule Chapter

690-138, F.A.C.; and
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(B) The appointed actuary shall annually opine for all policies subject to this rule as
to whether the mortality rates resulting from the application of X meet the requirements
of subparagraph (b)2.c.

I. The opinion shall be supported by an actuarial report, subject to appropriate
Actuarial Standards of Practice promulgated by the Actuarial Standards Board of the
American Academy of Actuaries.

Il. The X factors shall reflect anticipated future mortality without recognition of
mortality improvement beyond the valuation date, taking into account relevant emerging
experience.

(C) The appointed actuary shall disclose, in the Regulatory Asset Adequacy lssues

Summary, the impact of the insufficiency of assets to support the payment of

benefits and expenses and the establishment of statutory reserves during one or

more interim periods:

(c) This subsection applies to both basic reserves and deficiency}reserves. Any set
of select mortality factors may be used only for the first segment. However, if the first
segment is less than 10 years, the appropriate 10 year select mortality factors
incorporated into the 1980 amendments to the NAIC Standard Valuation Law may be
used thereafter through the tenth policy year from thé date of issue.

(d) In determining basic reserves or deficiency reserves, guaranteed gross
premihms without policy fees may be used where the calculation involves the
guaranteed gross premium, but only if the policy fee is a level dollar amount after the
first policy year. In determining deficiency reserves, policy fees may be included in

guaranteed gross premiums even if not included in the actual calculation of basic
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reserves.

.(e) Reserves for policies that have changes to guaranteed gross premiums,
guaranteed benefits, guaranteed charges, or guaranteed credits that are unilaterally
made by the insurer after issue and that are effective for more than 1 year after the date
of the change shall be the greatest of the following:

1. Reserves calculated ignoring the guarantee;

2. Reserves assuming the guarantee was made at issue; and

3. Reserves assuming that the policy was issued on the date of the guarantee.

(f) The company shall document the extent of the adequacy of reserves for material
blocks, including policies issued prior to the effective date of this rule. The
documentation shall include:

1. A demonsfration of the extent to which aggregation with immaterial blocks of
business is relied upon in the formation of the appointed ractuary opinion pursuant to
and consistent with the requirements of Chapter 690-138, F.A.C.; and

2. A definition of material.

(6) Calculation of Minimum Valuation Standard for Policies with Guaranteed
Nonlevel Gross Premiums or Guaranteed Nonlevel Benefits (Other than Universal Life
Policies). |

(a) Basic Reserves. Basic reserves shall be calculated as the greater of the
segmented reserves and the unitary reserves. Both the segmented reserves and the
unitary reserves for any policy shall use the same valuation rhortality table and selection:
factors. At the option of the insurer in calculating segmented reserves and net premiums

either of the adjustments described in subparagraph 1. or 2. below may be made:
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1. Treat the unitary reserve, if greater than zero, applicable at the end of each
segment as a pure endowment and subtract the unitary reserve, if greater than zero,
applicable at the beginning of each segment from the present value of guaranteed life
insurance and endowment benefits for each segment.

2. Treat the guaranteed cash surrender value, if greater than zero, applicable at the
end of each segment as a pure endowment; and subtract the guaranteed cash
surrender value, if greater than zero, applicable at the beginning of each segment from
the present value of guaranteed life insurance and endowment benefits for each
segment.

(b) Deficiency Reserves.

1. The deficiency reserve at any duration shall be calculated:

a. On a unitary basis if the corresponding basic reserve determined by paragraph (a)
is unitary;

b. On a segmented basis if the corresponding basic reserve determined by
paragraph (a) is segmented; or

c. On the segmented basis if the corresponding basic reserve determined by
paragraph (a) is equal tb both the segmented reserve and the unitary reserve.

2. This subsection shall apply to any policy for which the guaranteed gross premium
at any duration is less than the corresponding modified net premium calculated by the
method used in determining the basic reserves, but using the minimum valuation
standards in paragraph (5)(b) and rate of interest.

3. Deficiency reserves, if any, shall be calculated for each policy as the excess if

greater than zero, for the current and all remaning periods, of the quantity A over the
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basic reserve, where A is obtained as indicated in paragraph (5)(b).

4. For deficiency reserves determined on a segmented basis, the quantity A is
determined using segment Ie}ngths equal to those determined for segmented basic
reserves.

(c) Minimum Value.

1. Basic reserves shall not be less than the tabular cost of insurance for the balance
of the policy year if mean reserves are used.

2. Basic reserves shall not be less than the tabular cost of insurance for the balance
of the current modal period or to the paid-to-date, if later, but not beyond the next policy
anniversary, if mid-terminal reserves are used.

3. The tabular cost of insurance shall use the same valuation mortality table and
interest rates as that used for the calculation of the segmented reserves.

4. Mortality tables specified in subsection 690-162.201(6), F.A.C., may be used.

5. However, if select mortality factors are used with the 1980 CSO valuation tables,
they shall be the 10 year select factors incorporated into the 1980 amendments of the
NAIC Standard Valvuation Law.

6. In no case may total reserves (including basic reserves, deficiency reserves and
any reserves held for supplemental benefits that would expire upon contract
termination) be less than the amount that the policyowner would receive (including the
cash surrender value of the supplemental benefits, if any, referred to above), exclusive
of any deduction for policy loans, upén termination of the policy.

(d) Unusual Pattern of Guaranteed Cash Surrender Values.

1. For any policy with an unusual pattern of guaranteed cash surrender values, the
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reserves actually held prior to the first unusual guaranteed cash surrender value shall
not be less than the reserves calculated by treating the first unusual guaranteed cash
surrender value as a pure endowment and treating the policy as an n year policy
providing térm insurance plus a pure endowment equal to the unusual cash surrender
vaILle, where n is the number of years from the date of issue to the date the unusual
cash surrender value is scheduled.

2. The reserves actually held subsequent to any unusual guaranteed cash surrender
value shall not be less than the reserves calculated by treating the policy as an n year
policy providing term insurance plus a pljre endowment equal to the next unusual
guaranteed cash surrender value, and treating any un.usual guaranteed cash surrender
value at the end of the prior segment as a net single premium, where

a. n is the number of years from the date of the last unusual guaranteed cash
surrender value prior to the valuation date to the earlier of:

(I) The date of the next unusual guaranteed cash surrender value, if any, that is
scheduled after the valuation date; or

(1) The mandatory expiration date of the policy; and

b. The net premium for a given year during the n year period is equal to the product
of the net to gross ratio and the respective gross premium; and

c. The net to gross ratio is equal to ltem | divided by ltem |l as follows:

(D(A) The present value at the beginning of the n year period of death benefits
payable during the n year period, plus

(B) The present value at the beginning of the n year period of the next unusual

guaranteed cash surrender value, if any, minus
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(C) The amount of the last unusual guaranteed cash surrender value, if any,
scheduled at the beginning of the n year period.

() The present value at the beginning of the n year period of the scheduled gross
premiums payable during the n year period.

3. For purposes of this subsection, a policy is considered to have an unusual pattern
of guaranteed cash surrender values if any future guaranteed cash surrender value
exceeds the prior year's guaranteed cash surrender value by more than the sum of:

a. 110 percent of the scheduled gross premium for that year,;

b. 110 percent of one year's accrued interest on the sum of the prior year’s
guaranteed cash surrender value and the scheduled gross premium using the
nonforfeiture interest rate used for calculating policy guaranteed cash surrender values:
and

c. 5 percent of the first policy year surrender charge, if any.

(e) Optional Exemption for Yearly Renewable Term Reinsurance. At the option of
the company, the following approach for reserves on YRT reinsurance may be used:

1. Calculate the valuation net premium for each future policy year as the tabular cost
of insurance for that future. year.

2, Basic'reserves shall never be less than the tabular cost of insurance for the
appropriate period, as defined in paragraph (c).

3. Deficiency reserves.

a. For each policy year, calculate the excess, if greater than zero, of the valuation
net premium over the respective maximum guaranteed gross premium.

b. Deficiency reserves shall never be less than the sum of the present values, at the
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date of valuation, of the excesses determined in accordance with paragraph (a) above.

4. For purposes of this subsection, the calculations use the maximum valuation
interest rate and the 1980 CSO mortality tables with or without 10 year select mortality
factors or the mortality tables specified in subsection 690-162.201(6), F.A.C.

5. A reinsurance agreement shall be considered YRT reinsurance for purposes of
this subsection if only the mortality risk is reinsured.

6. If the assuming company chooses this optional exémption, the ceding company’s
reinsurance reserve credit shall be limited to the amount of reserve held by the
assuming company for the affected policies.

(f) Optional Exefnption for Attained-Age-Based Yearly Renewable Term Life
~ Insurance Policies. At the option of the company, the following approach for reserves for
attained-age-based YRT life insurance policies may be used:

1. Calculate the valuation net premium for each future policy year as the tabular cost
of’insurance for that future year.

2. Basic reserves shall never be less than the tabular cost of insurance for the
appropriate period, as defined in paragraph (6)(c).

3. Deficiency reserves.

a. For each policy year, calculate the excess, if greater than zero, of the valuation
" net premium over the respective maximum guaranteed gross premium.

b. Deficiency reserves shall never be less than the sum of the present values at the
date of valuation of the excesses determined in accordance with sub-subparagraph a.
above.

4. For purposes of this subsection, the calculations use the maximum valuation
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interest rate and the 1980 CSO valuation tables with or without 10 year select mortality
factors or the mortality tables specified in subsection 690-162.201(6), F.A.C.

5. A policy shall be considered an attained-age-based YRT life insurance policy for
purposes of this subsection if:

a. The premium rates on both the initial current premium scale and the guaranteed
maximum premium scale are based upon the attained age of the insured such that the
rate for any given policy at a given attained age of the insured is independent of the
year the policy was issued; and

b. The premium rates on both the initial current premium scale and the guaranteed
maximum premium scale are the same as the premium rates for policies covering all
insureds of the same sex, risk class, plan of insurance, and attained age.

6. For policies that become attained-age-based YRT policies after an initial period of
coverage, the approach of this subsection may be used after the initial period if:

a. The initial period is constant for all insureds of the same sex, risk class, and plan
of insurance; or

b. The initial period runs to a common attained age for all insureds of the same sex,
risk class, and plan of insurance; and

c. After the initial period of coverage, the policy meets the conditions of
subparagraph 5. above.

7. If this election is made, this approach shall be applied in determining reserves for
all attained-age-based YRT life insurance policies issued on or after the effective date of
this rule.

(g) Exemption from Unitary Reserves for Certain n-Year Renewable Term Life
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Insuran.ce Polices. Unitary basic reserves and unitary deficiency reserves need not be
calculated for a policy if the following conditions are met:

1. The policy consists of a series of n-year periods including the first period and all
renewal periods where n is the same for each period, except that for the final renewal
period, n may be truncated or extended to reach theexpiry age, provided that:

a. This final renewal period is less than 10 years and less than twice the size of the
earlier n-year periods, and |

b. For each' period, the premium rates on both the initial current premium scale and
the guaranteed maximum premium scale are level;

2. The guaranteed gross premiums in all n-year periods are not less than the
corresponding net premiums based upon the 1980 CSO Table with or without the 10
year select mortality factors or the mortality tables specified in subsection 690-
162.201(6), F.A.C.; and |

3. There are no cash surrender values in any policy year.

(h) Exemption from Unitary Reserves for Certain Juvenile Policies. Unitary basic
reserves and unitary deficiency reserves need not be calculated for a policy if‘ the
following conditions are met, based upon the initial current premium scale at issue:

1. Atissue, the insured is age 24 or younger;

2. Until the insured reaches the end of the juvenile period, which shall occur at or
before age 25, the gross premiums and death benefits are Ievél, and there are no cash
surrender values; and

3. After the end of the juvenile period, gross premiums are level for the remainder of

the premium paying period, and death benefits are level for the remainder of the life of
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the policy.

(7) Calculation of Minimum Valuation Standard for Flexible Premium and Fixed
Premium Universal Life Insurance Policies that Contain Provisions Resulting in the
Ability of a Policyowner to Keep a Policy in Force Over a Secondary Guarantee Period.

(a) General.

1. Policies with a secondary guarantee include:

a. A policy with a guarantee that the policy will remain in force at the original
schedule of benefits, subject only to the payment of specified premiums;

b. A policy in which the minimum premium at any duration is less than the
corresponding 1 year valuation premium, calculated using the maximum valuation
interest rate and the 1980 CSO valuation tables with or without 10 year select mortality
factors or the mortality tables specified in subsection 690-162.201(6), F.AC. or

c. A policy with any combination of subparagraph a. and b.

2.A secondary guarantee period is the period for which the policy is guaranteed to
remain in force subject only to a secondary guarantee.

a. When a policy contains more than one secohdary guarantee, the minimum
reserve shall be the greatest of the respective minimum reserves at that valuation date
of each unexpired secondary guarantee, ighoring all other secondary guarantees.

b. Secondary guarantees that are unilaterally changed by the insurer after issue
shall be considered to have been made at issue.

c. Reserves described in paragraphs (b) and (c) below shall be recalculated from
issue to reflect these changes.

3. Specified premiums mean the premiums specified in the policy, the payment of
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which guarantees that the policy will remain in force at the original schedule of benefits
but which otherwise would be insufficient to keep the policy in force in the a.bsence of
the guarantee if maximum mortality and expense charges and minimum intérest credits
were made and any applicable surrender charges were assessed.

4.a. For purposes of this section, the minimum premium for any policy year is the
premium that, when paid into a policy with a zero account value at the beginning of the
policy year, produces a zero account value at the end of the policy year.

b. The minimum premium calculation shall use the policy.cost factors (including
mortality charges, loads, and expense charges) and the interest crediting rate which are
all guaranteed at issue.

5.a. The 1 year valuation premium means the net 1 year premium based upon the

'o'riginal schedule of benefits for a given policy year.

b. The 1 year valuation premiums for all policy years are calculated at issue.

c. The select mortality factors defined in subparagraphs (5)(b)2., 3., and 4. shall not
be used to calculate the 1 year valuation premiums.

6. The 1 year valuation premium shall reflect the frequency of fund processing, as
well as the distribution of deaths assumption employed in the calculation of the monthly
mortality charges to the fund.

(b) Basic Reserves for the Secondary Guarantees.

1. Basic reserves for the secondary guarantées shall be the segmented reserves for
the secondary guarantee period.

2. In calculating the segments and the segmented reserves, the gross premiums

Shall be set equal to the specified premiums, if any, or otherwise to the minimum
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premiums that keep the policy in force.

3. The segments will be determined according to the contract segmentation method
as defined in paragraph (4)(b).

(c) Deficiency Reserves for the Secondary Guarantees. Deficiency reserves, if any,
for the secondary guarantees shall be calculated for the secondary guarantee period in
the same manner as described in paragraph (6)(b) with gross premiums set equal to the
specified premiums, if any, or otherwise to the minimum premiums that keep the policy
in force.

(d) Minimum Reserves. The minimum reserves during the secondary guarantee
period are the greater of:

1. The basic reserves for the secondary guarantee plus the deficiency reserve, if
any, for the secondary guarantees; or

2. The minimum reserves required by Rule 690-164.010, F.A.C., governing
universal life plans.

(9) Effective Date.

(a) This rule shall be effective for policies issued on or after January 1, 2000 for
valuation dates on or after the date this rule is adopted.

(b) For valuation dates prior to the effective date of this rule, at the option of the
company, the company may report reserves for policies issued in calendar year 2000

based upon this rule.

Rulemaking Speeific Authority 624.308(1), 625.121 (5) FS. Law Implemented
624.307(1), 625.121(5) FS. History—-New 12-24-03, Formerly 4-164.020, Amended 6-8-

05.

22



690-164.020
Rulemaking Authority

624.308 Rules.--

(1) The department and the commission may each adopt rules pursuant to ss. 120.536(1) and 120.54 to
implement provisions of law conferring duties upon the department or the commission, respectively.

625.121 Standard Valuation Law; life insurance.--

(5) MINIMUM STANDARD FOR VALUATION OF POLICIES AND CONTRACTS ISSUED ON OR AFTER OPERATIVE
DATE OF STANDARD NONFORFEITURE LAW.--Except as otherwise provided in paragraph (h) and
subsections (6), (11), and (14), the minimum standard for the valuation of all such policies and

contracts issued on or after the operative date of s. 627.476 (Standard Nonforfeiture Law for Life
Insurance) shall be the commissioners’ reserve valuation method defined in subsections (7), (11), and
(14); 5 percent interest for group annuity and pure endowment contracts and 3.5 percent interest for
all other such policies and contracts, or in the case of life insurance policies and contracts, other than
annuity and pure endowment contracts, issued on or after July 1, 1973, 4 percent interest for such
policies issued prior to October 1, 1979, and 4.5 percent interest for such policies issued on or after
October 1, 1979; and the following tables:

(a) For all ordinary policies of life insurance issued on the standard basis, excluding any disability and
accidental death benefits in such policies:

1. For policies issued prior to the operative date of s. 627.476(9), the commissioners’ 1958 Standard
Ordinary Mortality Table; except that, for any category of such policies issued on female risks,
modified net premiums and present values, referred to in subsection (7), may be calculated according
to an age not more than 6 years younger than the actual age of the insured.

2. For policies issued on or after the operative date of s. 627.476(9), the commissioners' 1980 Standard
Ordinary Mortality Table or, at the election of the insurer for any one or more specified plans of life
insurance, the commissioners’ 1980 Standard Ordinary Mortality Table with Ten-Year Select Mortality

Factors.

3. For policies issued on or after July 1, 2004, ordinary mortality tables, adopted after 1980 by the
National Association of Insurance Commissioners, adopted by rule by the commission for use in
determining the minimum standard of valuation for such policies.

(b) For all industrial life insurance policies issued on the standard basis, excluding any disability and
accidental death benefits in such policies:

1. For policies issued prior to the first date to which the commissioners’ 1961 Standard Industrial
Mortality Table is applicable according to s. 627.476, the 1941 Standard Industrial Mortality Table; and

2. For such policies issued on or after that date, the commissioners' 1961 Standard Industrial Mortality
Table.

(c) For individual annuity and pure endowment contracts, excluding any disability and accidental
death benefits in such policies, the 1937 Standard Annuity Mortality Table or, at the option of the
insurer, the Annuity Mortality Table for 1949, Ultimate, or any modification of either of these tables
approved by the office.

(d) For group annuity and pure endowment contracts, excluding any disability and accidental death
benefits in such policies, the Group Annuity Mortality Table for 1951; any modification of such table
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approved by the office; or, at the option of the insurer, any of the tables or modifications of tables
specified for individual annuity and pure endowment contracts.

(e) For total and permanent disability benefits in or supplementary to ordinary policies or contracts:

1. For policies or contracts issued on or after January 1, 1966, the tables of period 2 disablement rates
and the 1930 to 1950 termination rates of the 1952 disability study of the Society of Actuaries, with
due regard to the type of benefit;

2. For policies or contracts issued on or after January 1, 1961, and prior to January 1, 1966, either
those tables or, at the option of the insurer, the class three disability table (1926);

3. For policies issued prior to January 1, 1961, the class three disability table (1926); and

4. For policies or contracts issued on or after July 1, 2004, tables of disablement rates and termination
rates adopted after 1980 by the National Association of Insurance Commissioners, adopted by rule by
the commission for use in determining the minimum standard of valuation for those policies or
contracts.

Any such table for active lives shall be combined with a mortality table permitted for calculating the
reserves for life insurance policies.

(f) For accidental death benefits in or supplementary to policies:
1. For policies issued on or after January 1, 1966, the 1959 Accidental Death Benefits Table;

2. For policies issued on or after January 1, 1961, and prior to January 1, 1966, either that table or, at
the option of the insurer, the Intercompany Double Indemnity Mortality Table;

3. For policies issued prior to January 1, 1961, the Intercompany Double indemnity Mortality Table;
and

4. For policies issued on or after July 1, 2004, tables of accidental death benefits adopted after 1980
by the National Association of Insurance Commissioners, adopted by rute by the commission for use in
determining the minimum standard of valuation for those policies.

Either table shall be combined with a mortality table permitted for calculating the reserves for life
insurance policies.

(2) For group life insurance, life insurance issued on the substandard basis, and other special benefits,
such tables as may be approved by the office as being sufficient with relation to the benefits provided
by such policies.

(h) Except as provided in subsection (6), the minimum standard for the valuation of all individual
annuity and pure endowment contracts issued on or after the operative date of this paragraph and for
all annuities and pure endowments purchased on or after such operative date under group annuity and
pure endowment contracts shall be the commissioners’ reserve valuation method defined in subsection

(7) and the following tables and interest rates:

1. For individual annuity and pure endowment contracts issued prior to October 1, 1979, excluding any
disability and accidental death benefits in such contracts, the 1971 Individual Annuity Mortality Table,
or any modification of this table approved by the office, and 6 percent interest for single-premium
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immediate annuity contracts and 4 percent interest for all other individual annuity and pure
endowment contracts.

2. For individual single-premium immediate annuity contracts issued on or after October 1, 1979, and

prior to October 1, 1986, excluding any disability and accidental death benefits in such contracts, the

1971 Individual Annuity Mortality Table, or any modification of this table approved by the office, and

7.5 percent interest. For such contracts issued on or after October 1, 1986, the 1983 Individual Annual

Mortality Table, or any modification of such table approved by the office, and the applicable calendar
year statutory valuation interest rate as described in subsection (6).

3. For individual annuity and pure endowment contracts issued on or after October 1, 1979, and prior
to October 1, 1986, other than single-premium immediate annuity contracts, excluding any disability
and accidental death benefits in such contracts, the 1971 individual Annuity Mortality Table, or any
modification of this table approved by the office, and 5.5 percent interest for single-premium deferred
annuity and pure endowment contracts and 4.5 percent interest for all other such individual annuity
and pure endowment contracts. For such contracts issued on or after October 1, 1986, the 1983
Individual Annual Mortality Table, or any modification of such table approved by the office, and the
applicable calendar year statutory valuation interest rate as described in subsection (6).

4, For all annuities and pure endowments purchased prior to October 1, 1979, under group annuity and
pure endowment contracts, excluding any disability and accidental death benefits purchased under
such contracts, the 1971 Group Annuity Mortality Table, or any modification of this table approved by
the office, and 6 percent interest.

5. For all annuities and pure endowments purchased on or after October 1, 1979, and prior to October
-1, 1986, under group annuity and pure endowment contracts, excluding any disability and accidental
death benefits purchased under such contracts, the 1971 Group Annuity Mortality Table, or any
madification of this table approved by the office, and 7.5 percent interest. For such contracts
purchased on or after October 1, 1986, the 1983 Group Annuity Mortality Table, or any modification of
such table approved by the office, and the applicable calendar year statutory valuation interest rate as
described in subsection (6).

After July 1, 1973, any insurer may have filed with the former Department of Insurance a written
notice of its election to comply with the provisions of this paragraph after a specified date before
January 1, 1979, which shall be the operative date of this paragraph for such insurer. However, an
insurer may elect a different operative date for individual annuity and pure endowment contracts from
that elected for group annuity and pure endowment contracts. If an insurer makes no such election,
the operative date of this paragraph for such insurer shall be January 1, 1979.

(i) In lieu of the mortality tables specified in this subsection, and subject to rules previously adopted
by the former Department of Insurance, the insurance company may, at its option:

1. Substitute the applicable 1958 CSO or CET Smoker and Nonsmoker Mortality Tables, in lieu of the
1980 CSO or CET mortality table standard, for policies issued on or after the operative date of s.
627.476(9) and before January 1, 1989.

2. Substitute the applicable 1980 CSO or CET Smoker and Nonsmoker Mortality Tables in lieu of the
1980 CSO or CET mortality table standard;

3. Use the Annuity 2000 Mortality Table for determining the minimum standard of valuation for
individual annuity and pure endowment contracts issued on or after January 1, 1998, and before July 1,
1998.
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4, Use the 1994 GAR Table for determining the minimum standard of valuation for annuities and pure
endowments purchased on or after January 1, 1998, and before July 1, 1998, under group annuity and
pure endowment contracts.

(j) The commission may adopt by rule the model regulation for valuation of life insurance policies as
approved by the National Association of Insurance Commissioners in March 1999, including tables of
select mortality factors, and may make the regulation effective for policies issued on or after January
1, 2000.

(k) For individual annuity and pure endowment contracts issued on or after July 1, 2004, excluding any

~ disability and accidental death benefits purchased under those contracts, individual annuity mortality

tables adopted after 1980 by the National Association of Insurance Commissioners, adopted by rule by
the commission for use in determining the minimum standard of valuation for those contracts.

(1) For all annuities and pure endowments purchased on or after July 1, 2004, under group annuity and
pure endowment contracts, excluding any disability and accidental death benefits purchased under
those contracts, group annuity mortality tables adopted after 1980 by the National Association of
Insurance Commlsswners adopted by rule by the commission for use in determining the minimum

standard of valuation for those contracts.

624.307 General powers; duties.--

(1) The department and office shall enforce the provisions of this code and shall execute the duties
imposed upon them by this code, within the respective jurisdiction of each, as provided by law.



MEMORANDUM

DATE: July 29, 2010

TO: Kevin M. McCarty, Commissioner, Office of Insurance Regulation
THROUGH: Steven H. Parton, General Counsel

FROM: Dennis Threadgill

Bob Prentiss

SUBJECT: Cabinet Agenda for August 10, 2010
Request for Approval to Publish Amendments to
Rule 690-138.047 Description of Actuarial Memorandum including an Asset
Adequacy Analysis and Regulatory Asset Adequacy Issues Summary
Assmt. # 44313

The Office of Insurance Regulation requests that these proposed rule amendments be
presented to the Cabinet aides on or before August 4, 2010, and to the Financial Services
Commission on August 10, 2010, with a request to approve for publication the proposed rules.

Sections 625.121(3) provides that the Commission shall by rule establish procedures and
specifications for the Actuarial Memorandum. This rule does that, by adopting the related NAIC
Model Regulations.

This rule is being amended due to changes made to the NAIC Model Regulations. The
amendment adds an additional requirement to the Regulatory Asset Adequacy Issues Summary
as a result of changes to Rules 690-162.203 and 690-164.020, F.A.C.

Sections 625.121(3)(a) and 625.121(3), F.S., provide rulemaking authority and laws
implemented for this rule.

Amanda Hunter is the attorney handling this rule. Attached are: 1) the proposed rule(s), 2) any
incorporated materials, such as forms; and 3) copies of the rulemaking statutory authority and
law implemented.



Approved for signature:

Steven H. Parton, Genéral

Approved for submission to Financial Services
Commission:

Kevin M. McCarty, Commissioner
Office of Insurance Regulation




690-138.047 Description of Actuarial Memorandum Including an Asset
Adequacy Analysis and Regulatory Asset Adequacy' Issues Summary.

(1) General.

(a)1. In accordance with subsection (3) of the Standard Valuation Law, the
appointed actuary shall prepare a _memorandum to the company describing the analysis
done in support of his or her opinion regarding the reserves.

2. The memorandum shall be made available for examination by the Office upon its
request. Any memorandum in support of the opinion, and any other material provided by
the company to the Office in cbnnection therewith, is confidential and exempt from the
provisions of Section 119.07(1), F.S., as provided in Section 625.121(3)(a)10., Florida
Statutes.

(b) In preparing the memorandum, the appointed actuary may include as a part of
his or her own memorandum, memoranda prepared and signed by other actuari.es who
are qualified within the meaning of subsection 690-138.043(2), F.A.C., with respect to
the areas covered in the memoranda, and shall so state in their memoranda.

(c) If the Office requests a memorandum and no such memorandum exists, or if the
Office finds that the analysis described in the memorandum fails to meet the standards
of the Actuarial Standards Board or the standards and requirements of this part, the
Office may designate a qualified actuary to review the opinion and prepare for review
the required supporting memorandum. The reasonable and necessary expense of the
independent review shall be paid by the company but shall be directed and controlled

by the Office.



(d)1. The reviewing actuary shall have the same status as an examiner for purposes
of obtaining data from the company.

2. The work papers and documentation of the reviewing actuary shall be retained by
the Office.

3. Any information provided by the company to the reviewing actuary and included in
the work papers shall be considered as material provided by the company to the Office
and kept confidential to the same extent prescribed by law with respect to other material
provided by the company to the Office pursuant to the statute governing this part.

4. The reviewing actuary shall not be an employee of a consulting firm involved with
the preparation of any prior memorandum or opinion for the insurer pursuant to this part
for the current year or any one of the preceding 3 years.

(e) In accordance with Section 625.121(3), Florida Statutes, the appointed actuary
shall prepare a regulatory asset adequacy issues summary, the contents of which are
specified in subsection 690-138.047(3), F.A.C.

1. The regulatory asset adequacy issues summary shall be submitted no later than
March 15 of the year following the year for which a statement of actuarial opinion based
on asset adequacy is required. |

2. The regulatory asset adequacy issues summary shall be kept confidential to the
same extent and under the same conditions as the actuarial memorandum.

(2) Details of the Memorandum Section Documenting Asset Adequacy Analysis.
When an actuarial opinion is provided, the memorandum shall demonstrate that the
analysis has been done in accordance with the standards for asset adequacy referred

to in subsection 690-138.043(3), F.A.C., and any additional standards under this part. It



shall specify:

(a) For reserves:

1. Product descriptions, including market description, underwriting, and other
aspects of a risk profile, and the specific risks the appointed actuary deems significant;

2. Source of liability in force;

3. Reserve method and basis;

4. Investment reserves;

5. Reinsurance arrangements.

6. Identification of any explicit or implied guarantees made by the general account in
support of benefits provided through a separate account or under a separate account
policy or contract and the methods used by the appointed actuary to provide for the
Quarantees in the asset adequacy analysis.

7.a. Documentation of assumptions to test reserves for the following:

(I) Lapse rates (both base and excess);

(IT) Interest crediting rate strategy;

(111 Mortality;

(IV) Policyholder dividend strategy;

(V) Competitor or market interest rate;

(V1) Annuitization rates;

(VIl) Commissions and expenses; and

(V) Morbidity.

b. The documentation of the assumptions shall be such that an actuary reviewing

the actuarial memorandum can form a conclusion as to the reasonableness of the



assumptions.

(b) For assets:

1. Portfolio descriptions, including a risk profile disclosing the quality, distribution,
and types of assets;

2. Investment and disinvestment assumptions;

3. Source of asset data;

4. Asset valuation bases; and

5.a. Documentation of assumptions made for:

(1) Default costs;

(1) Bond call function;

(1) Mortgage prepayment function;

(V) Détermining market value for assets sold due to disinvestment strategy; and

(V) Determining yield on assets acquired through the investment strategy.

b. The documentation of the assumptions shall be such that an actuary reviewing
the actuarial memorandum can form a conclusion as to the reasonableness of the
assumptiohs.

(c) For the analysis basis:

1. Methodology;

2. Rationale for inclusion/exclusion of different blocks of business, and how pertinent
risks were analyzed;

3. Rationale for degree of rigor in analyzing different blocks of business (include in
the rationale the level of “matefiality” that was used in determining how rigorously to

analyze different blocks of business);



4. Criteria for determining asset adequacy (include in the criteria the precise basis
for determining if assets are adequate to cover reserves under “moderately adverse
conditions” or other conditions as specified in relevant actuarial standards of practice);
and

5. Whether the impact of federal income taxes was considered and the method of
treating reinsurance in the asset adequacy analysis.

(d) Summary of material changes in methods, procedures, or assumptions from prior
year’s asset adequacy analysis;

(e) Summary of Results; and

(f) Conclusion(s).

(3) Details of the Regulatory Asset Adequacy Issues Summary.

(a) The regulatory asset adequacy issues summary shall include:

1. Descriptions of the scenarios tested (including whether those scenarios are
stochastic or deterministic) and the sensitivity testing done relative to those scenarios.

a. If negative ending surplus results under certain tests in the aggregate, the actuary
should describe those tests and the amount of additional reserve as of the valuation
date which, if held, would eliminate the negative aggregate surplus values.

b. Ending surplus values shall be determined by either extending the projection
period until the in force and associated assets and liabilities at the end of the projection
period are immaterial or by adjusting the surplus amount at the end of the projection
period by an amount that appropriately estimates the value that can reasonably be
expected to arise from the assets and liabilities remaining in force.

2. The extent to which the appointed actuary uses assumptions in the asset



adequacy analysis that are materially different than the assumptions used in the
previous asset adequacy analysis;

3. The amount of reserves and the identity of the product lines that had been
subjected to asset adequacy analysis in the prior opinion but were not subject to
analysis for the current opinion;

4. Comments on any interim results that may be of significant concern to the

appointed actuary; For example, the impact of the insufficiency of assets to support the

payment of benefits and expenses and the establishment of statutory reserves during

one or more interim periods;

5. The methods used by the actuary to recognize the impact of reinsurance on the
company'’s cash flows, including both assets and liabilities, under each of the scenarios
fested; and

6. Whether the actuary has been satisfied that all options whether explicit or
embedded, in any asset or liability (including but not limited to those affecting cash flows
embedded in fixed income securities) and equity-like features in any investments have
been appropriately considered in the asset adequacy analysis.

(b) The regulatory asset adequacy issues summary shall contain the name of the
company for which the regulatory asset adequacy issues summary is being supplied
and shall be signed and dated by the appointed actuary rendering the actuarial opinion.

(4) Conformity to Standards of Practice. The memorandum shall include a
statement:

“‘Actuarial methods, considerations, and analyses used in the preparation of this

memorandum conform to the appropriate Standards of Practice as promuigated by the



Actuarial Standards Béard which form the basis for this memorandum.”

(5) Use of Assets Supporting the Interest Maintenance Reserve and the Asset
Valuation Reserve.

(a) An appropriate allocation of assets in the amount of the Interest Maintenance
Reserve (IMR), whether positive or negative, shall be used in any asset adequacy
analysis.

1. Analysis of risks regarding asset default may include an appropriate allocation of
assets supporting the Asset Valuation Reserve (AVR); these AVR assets may not be
applied for any other risks with respect to reserve adequacy.

2. Analysis of these and other risks may include assets supporting other mandatory
or voluntary reserves available to the extent not used for risk analysis and reserve
support.

(b)1. The amount of the assets used for the AVR shall be disclosed in the Table of
Reserves and Liabilities of the opinion and in the memorandum.

2. The method used for selecting particular assets or allocated portions of assets
shall be disclosed in the memorandum.

(6) Documentation. The appointed actuary shall retain on file for at least seven (7)
years sufficient documentation so that it will be possible to determine the procedures

followed, the analyses performed, the bases for assumptions and the results obtained.

Rulemaking Spesific Authority 625.121(3)(a) FS. Law Implemented 625.121(3) FS.
History—New 5-18-93, Amended 1-23-03, Formerly 4-138.047.



690-138.047
Rulemaking Authority

625.121 Standard Valuation Law; life insurance.--
(3) ACTUARIAL OPINION OF RESERVES.--

(a)1. Each life insurance company doing business in this state shall annually submit the opinion of a
qualified actuary as to whether the reserves and related actuarial items held in support of the policies
and contracts specified by the commission by rule are computed appropriately, are based on
assumptions which satisfy contractual provisions, are consistent with prior reported amounts, and
comply with applicable laws of this state. The commission by rule shall define the specifics of this
opinion and add any other items determined to be necessary to its scope.

2. The opinion shall be submitted with the annual statement reflecting the valuation of such reserve
liabilities for each year ending on or after December 31, 1992.

3. The opinion shall apply to all business in force, including individual and group health insurance
plans, in the form and substance acceptable to the office as specified by rule of the commission.

4. The commission may adopt rules providing the standards of the actuarial opinion consistent with
standards adopted by the Actuarial Standards Board on December 31, 2002, and subsequent revisions
thereto, provided that the standards remain substantially consistent.

5. In the case of an opinion required to be submitted by a foreign or alien company, the office may
accept the opinion filed by that company with the insurance supervisory official of another state if the
office determines that the opinion reasonably meets the requirements applicable to a company
domiciled in this state.

6. For the purposes of this subsection, "qualified actuary” means a member in good standing of the
American Academy of Actuaries who also meets the requirements specified by rule of the commission.

7. Disciplinary action by the office against the company or the qualified actuary shall be in accordance
with the insurance code and related rules adopted by the commission.

8. A memorandum in the form and substance specified by rule shall be prepared to support each
actuarial opinion,

9. If the insurance company fails to provide a supporting memorandum at the request of the office
_ within a period specified by rule of the commission, or if the office determines that the supporting
memorandum provided by the insurance company fails to meet the standards prescribed by rule of the
commission, the office may engage a qualified actuary at the expense of the company to review the
opinion and the basis for the opinion and prepare such supporting memorandum as is required by the
office.

10. Except as otherwise provided in this paragraph, any memorandum or other material in support of
the opinion is confidential and exempt from the provisions of s. 119.07(1); however, the memorandum
or other material may be released by the office with the written consent of the company, or to the
American Academy of Actuaries upon request stating that the memorandum or other material is
required for the purpose of professional disciplinary proceedings and setting forth procedures
satisfactory to the.office for preserving the confidentiality of the memorandum or other material. If
any portion of the confidential memorandum is cited by the company in its marketing or is cited before
any governmental agency other than a state insurance department or is released by the company to
the news media, no portion of the memorandum is confidential.
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opinion and the basis for the opinion and prepare such supporting memorandum as is required by the
office.

10. Except as otherwise provided in this paragraph, any memorandum or other material in support of
the opinion is confidential and exempt from the provisions of s. 119.07(1); however, the memorandum
or other material may be released by the office with the written consent of the company, or to the
American Academy of Actuaries upon request stating that the memorandum or other material is
required for the purpose of professional disciplinary proceedings and setting forth procedures
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any portion of the confidential memorandum is cited by the company in its marketing or is cited before
any governmental agency other than a state insurance department or is released by the company to
the news media, no portion of the memorandum is confidential.
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(b) In addition to the opinion required by subparagraph (a)1., the office may, pursuant to commission
rule, require an opinion of the same qualified actuary as to whether the reserves and related actuarial
items held in support of the policies and contracts specified by the commission by rule, when
considered in light of the assets held by the company with respect to the reserves and related actuarial
items, including but not limited to the investment earnings on the assets and considerations
anticipated to be received and retained under the policies and contracts, make adequate provision for
the company's obligations under the policies and contracts, including, but not limited to, the benefits
under, and expenses associated with, the policies and contracts.

(c) The commission may provide by rule for a transition period for establishing any higher reserves
which the qualified actuary may deem necessary in order to render the opinion required by this
subsection,
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